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THE PRC CITY GAS DISTRIBUTION FLAGSHIP OF
CHINA RESOURCES GROUP

During 2008, the Group acquired from China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited (“CRH”), the Company’s substantial and controlling
shareholder, the entire issued share capital of China Resources Gas
Limited (“CR Gas”) for a consideration of approximately HK$3.8 billion
funded by a four for one right issue. CR Gas, through its subsidiaries in
the PRC, operates 7 city gas distribution businesses including natural
gas pipelines and CNG filling stations. The Company was subsequently
renamed as “China Resources Gas Group Limited” to reflect the focus
on its sole city gas distribution business and its role as the city gas
distribution flagship of CRH.

The Company continues to expand via organic and acquisition growths.
Additional 20, 21 and 25 city gas projects were added during 2009,
2010 and 2011 respectively. As at 31st December, 2011, the Company
operates 73 city gas projects (including 6 provincial capitals and 1 direct
administrative municipality) in 16 provinces in China with annualised
gross gas sales volume of 7.2 billion m® and 10.5 million residential
customers.
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Acquired 100% interest in Flemming Limited for a consideration
of RMB353 million, Flemming Limited operates 7 city gas projects
in Shandong Province and Zhejiang Province. The acquisition
allows the Group to expand its business operation in these areas
and creates synergy with the Group’s existing gas operation
there.

Ten Regional Centres were established in Shenzhen, Fuzhou,
Shanghai, Nanjing, Jinan, Chengdu, Kunming, Zhengzhou,
Wuhan and Shenyang. Day to day operational management
responsibility was decentralised to these regional centres, each
of which is responsible for its respective region or province.
Operational efficiency is expected to greatly improve going
forward.

3 Regional Pipeline Design & Construction Centres were set up in
Nanjing, Chengdu and Zhengzhou to be responsible for pipeline
design & construction work in the Eastern, South Western and
Central regions of China. This eliminates the duplication of such
activities in each city gas project and will result in greater cost
efficiency and uniformity in construction of pipeline infrastructure.

Acquired additional 5% interest in Zibo China Resources Gas
Co., Ltd, a city gas joint venture project in Shandong Province.
The acquisition will enable the Group to obtain controlling
interests, thereby contributing more revenue and earnings.

Acquired the fourth batch of 7 city gas projects from CRH for a
consideration of HK$1,710 million, which was satisfied by the
issue of 161,174,785 shares.
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Announced the proposal for privatisation and a voluntary
conditional offer made for all the issued shares of Zhengzhou
China Resources Gas Company Limited (“Zhengzhou CR Gas”).
The proposal was approved by independent shareholders of
Zhengzhou CR Gas and Zhengzhou CR Gas was delisted in
February 2012 with the Group obtained 96.08% interest therein.

Included as a constituent stock of Morgan Stanley China Index,
MSCI. The inclusion will enhance the visibility of the Company
among the global investment community.

Increased the Company’s interest in the joint venture, Nanjing
Jiangning China Resources Gas Co., Ltd., from 49% to 70%,
which will contribute more revenue and earnings to the Company
in future.

Entered into a joint venture agreement with Tianjin Gas Group
Company Limited to operate city gas distribution business in
Tianjin Municipality. The proposed registered capital is RMB5
billion (equivalent to approximately HK$6.16 billion), of which
49% will be contributed in cash by the Group.

Entered into a joint venture agreement with Ningbo Urban
Construction Planning and Investment Holding Company Limited
and Ningbo Xingguang Gas Group Company to operate city gas
business in Ningbo City. The proposed joint venture will be 49%
owned by the Group.

International Credit agencies Moody’s and Fitch assigned
investment grade ratings of Baal and BBB+ respectively to the
Company.
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The continued economic growth and urbanisation in China has spiked
the demand for energy in China. In order to diversify energy resources
and reduce reliance on polluting energy sources such as coal and crude
oil, the PRC government has, in recent years, taken various measures
to promote the development and utilisation of less polluting energy
sources. Natural gas is considered a cleaner and superior substitute
for conventional energy sources such as coal and crude oil. The PRC
government has therefore been very supportive of the development of
the natural gas industry.

The percentage of natural gas in total energy consumption in the PRC
is very low compared to international levels. According to BP Statistical
Review of World Energy 2011, for 2010, natural gas only accounted
for less than 4% of China’s total primary energy consumption, which is
far lower than the international average of 24%. The PRC government
intends to double natural gas utilisation rate to 8.3% by 2015 which is
the last year of the “Twelfth Five Year Plan”.
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To increase natural gas supply, the “West to East Gas Transmission”
pipelines were constructed with the support of the PRC government to
bring natural gas from the Xinjiang Autonomous Region to the coastal
regions of the PRC. Construction of the second and third phases of
the “West to East Gas Transmission” pipelines from Central Asia, the
“Sichuan to East” pipelines from the gas-rich Sichuan Province to
coastal regions and the “Myanmar to Yunnan” gas pipeline as well as
construction of Liquefied Natural Gas terminals in coastal cities of the
PRC are actively in progress. Natural gas price reform to close the price
gap between imported and local gas prices are also gradually being
implemented in phases. Once realised, these measures is expected
to more than double the supply of natural gas in China in the next
few years. Moreover, CR Gas is assured of adequate gas supply by
leveraging on the strategic gas supply arrangements with China National
Petroleum Corporation, China Petroleum & Chemical Corporation and
CNOOC Gas & Power Group.

The above factors augur well for the natural gas industry in China and
offer significant opportunity for future growth of the Group.
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During 2008, the Company acquired a portfolio of city gas distribution
projects from CRH. The acquisition allows the Company to enter into the
fast growing city gas distribution business in China.

The acquisition provided the Group with a sound foundation to tap into
the burgeoning city gas distribution business in the PRC by capturing
the rapid increase in demand for natural gas in China and leveraging
China Resources Group’s strong presence and brand name in China.

The 2008 CR Gas acquisition provides the Group with a solid platform to
further expand and establish itself as one of the leaders in the city gas
distribution business in the PRC. The 7 projects acquired by the Group
in 2008, the 20 projects acquired in 2009 and the 21 projects in 2010
are mainly located in regions where there are rich natural gas reserves
and the economically more developed Eastern Board as well as densely
populated provincial capitals and emerging cities of China. The Group
also focuses on developing gas distribution projects in areas where
there are existing or potential piped natural gas supply.

The city gas projects acquired from 2008 to 2010 continue to grow
rapidly in line with the growth in natural gas supply in China. These
projects continue to provide the Group with revenue and cash flows.

During 2011, the Company continues to grow rapidly with acquisition of
additional 7 city gas projects from CRH and 18 other city gas projects
directly from the market. The Company also announced proposals to
set up joint venture city gas projects in Tianjin and Ningbo cities. As
at 31st December, 2011, excluding the on-going acquisition of Tianjin
and Ningbo city gas projects, the Company operates a total of 73 city
gas projects (including 6 provincial capitals and 1 direct administrative
municipality) in 16 provinces in China and has become one of the largest
city gas distributors in the PRC with gross annual gas sales volume of
7.2 billion cubic meters and 10.5 million residential users.
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The PRC city gas distribution business continues to provide the Group
with handsome profit and cash flow contributions. The Group recorded
profit attributable to the Company’s equity holders of HK$1,200 million
for the year ended 31st December, 2011, an increase of 64% over
corresponding year. The operating profit from city gas distribution
business surged by 57% to HK$2,107 million and its net operating cash
inflow increased 40% to HK$2,110 million.

The Company is committed to enhancing its standard corporate
governance by bench marking with good corporate governance
practices and has adopted a Corporate Governance Handbook based
on the Code on Corporate Governance Practices issued by the Stock
Exchange. The Corporate Governance Report is set out on pages 51 to
58 of this annual report.

The Group is supporting the ongoing green environmental policies of
the PRC government by actively expanding our cleaner natural gas
business. Based on the annualised gross amount of 7.2 billion m® of
natural gas distributed by the Group, it is estimated that annually the
Group helps to replace approximately 19 million tons of coal usage and
reduce approximately 340,000 tons of carbon dioxide emissions and
190,000 tons of pollutants.

The Group has formulated a number of policies and procedures as well
as hiring suitably qualified engineers and technical staff to manage and
prevent any potential risk to our natural gas related facilities which may
cause damage to the environment.

In addition to our internally commissioned control, hazard prevention
and emergency recovery procedures, we have fully complied with the
relevant local and national environmental protection regulations and
licensing requirement.
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The Group places great emphasis on safety system and has
established a safety department to oversee safety issues and adopted
a comprehensive safety administration system. The Group carries
out, through the project companies, routine inspection of the branch
pipelines, customer pipelines, gas meters and gas appliances at the
customers’ premises.

The Group believes in educating staff and users about safety procedures.
Accordingly, regular trainings and seminars are held for relevant staff.
For end users, we give thorough explanations of safety procedures
and arrange regular seminars or distribute brochures and booklets on
safety.
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On 26th November, 2001, the Company has terminated the share option
scheme of the Company adopted on 15th October, 1994 and adopted
a new share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) as a result
of changes in Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing
Rules”) on the Stock Exchange in relation to share option scheme. On
5th March, 2008, the Company terminated the Share Option Scheme of
the Company adopted on 26th November, 2001.

A summary showing the Share Option Scheme and its movements
during the year are detailed in the Directors’ Report and in Note 34 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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The Company adopted an incentive award scheme (the “Incentive
Award Scheme”) on 1st December, 2008 and amended on 16th March,
2010, for the purpose of recognizing and motivating the contribution of
employees and providing incentives to existing employees. Details of the
Incentive Award Scheme are set out in the Directors’ Report.

As at 31st December, 2011, the Group have approximately 19,000
employees in Hong Kong and the PRC. The Group values human
resources and recognizes the importance of attracting training and
retaining quality staff for its continual success. The Group remunerates
its employees based on their performance, work experience and the
prevailing market wage level. Further, bonuses are granted to employees
and incentive awards are made to employees based on individual
performance. The Group believes this will assist the Group to attract
and retain quality staff and at the same time encourage the employees

to give their best performance.
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OUTLOOK

The continued economic growth and the rapid industrialisation and
urbanisation of China has spiked the demand for energy in the PRC.
The PRC government has been very supportive of the development
of the natural gas industry and has promulgated various policies and
guidelines to encourage and rationalize the usage of natural gas.
Construction of upstream gas pipelines and LNG receiving terminals are
actively in progress. The PRC government places significant emphasis
on the rapid development of natural gas industry under the 12th Five
Year Plan to reduce carbon emission and diversify its energy sources.
All these will greatly boost the availability of natural gas in China and
will continue to offer significant opportunity for future growth in the
downstream gas industry in China. The Company will ride on these
favourable industry fundamentals and its experienced management
team with strong execution record to scale new heights via organic and
acquisition growths.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express
our most sincere appreciation to our business partners, customers
and shareholders for their unfailing support as well as all the Group’s
employees for their hard work and dedication in carrying out their duties
and in achieving the Group’s business goal.

MA GUOAN
Chairman

Hong Kong, 13th March, 2012
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During the year, a strategic collaboration agreement was entered
between the Company and CNOOC Gas & Power Group to enhance
gas supply arrangement and collaboration in city gas projects, LNG
station networks, district cooling/heating projects, etc. This is in addition
to similar collaboration agreements entered into previously by the
Company'’s controlling shareholders, China Resources (Holding) Limited
(*CRH”") with China National Petroleum Corporation and China Petroleum
& Chemical Corporation (“Sinopec”). These collaborations further
solidifies the foundation for the continuous growth and expansion of the
Company’s city gas distribution business in China.
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To diversify its gas supply base, the Group also set up a central LNG
purchasing centre in Nanjing. This central LNG purchasing centre
enables lowering of procurement costs in addition to addressing
seasonal demand issues. During 2011, the centre procured 21,200 tons
of LNG for 8 regional centres within the Group’s portfolio.

CONTINUING ACQUISITION ACTIVITIES

The Company continues to grow rapidly with new acquisitions from the
market and projects injected from CRH. As at 31st December, 2011, CR
Gas portfolio includes 73 city gas projects and its footprint covers 16
Chinese provinces (Sichuan, Jiangsu, Hubei, Hunan, Shandong, Shanxi,
Hebei, Jiangxi, Yunnan, Anhui, Zhejiang, Henan, Fujian, Liaoning,
Guangdong and Inner Mongolia) and includes 6 provincial capitals
(Chengdu, Wuhan, Kunming, Jinan, Nanjing and Zhengzhou) and one
direct administrative municipality (Chongqing).




EERIEREBRLIT —T— —FFH

ERARERE
Report from the Managing Director

265 B R 1T ) R WS 5 B SE R U JA
TEEEE @ HETAKSEREHINESR
REGEHIEE ) major projects during the year:

The Group’s ability in exerting its external expansion strategy is
evidenced by the acquisitions proposed or completed for the following
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Entered in to a joint venture agreement with Tianjin Gas Group
Company Limited* (KEMARERE B A F]) with proposal to set
up a joint venture with a registered capital of RMB5 billion for the
supply and provision of piped gas in Tianjin city. CR Gas will hold
49% equity interests in the joint venture. Tianjin is one of the four
direct administrative municipalities in China with a tremendous
amount of untapped downstream gas demand. The proposed joint
venture offers the Company access to the vast and fast growing
city gas business in Tianjin and the greater Tianjin-Bohai Region.
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Entered into a cooperation agreement with Zjf k2% EIER
BRAF (translated as Ningbo Urban Construction Planning
and Investment Holding Company Limited) (“Ningbo Urban
Construction”) and 2§ Y A REB B R A A (translated as Ningbo
Xingguang Gas Group Company) (“Ningbo Xingguang Gas”). The
proposed business scope of the joint venture company includes the
construction and operation of the city piped gas facilities as well
as the supply and sale of gas in Ningbo City, the PRC.

The joint venture company would be owned by CR Gas Investment
and Ningbo Urban Construction as to 49% and 51% respectively.

The proposed Joint Venture will allow the Group to expand its city
gas operation to the second largest city in Zhejiang Province in
terms of GDP and as a platform to extend our reach to tap into the
future potential of this prosperous east coast province of China.
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Completed the acquisition of 4th batch of 7 city gas projects from
CRH for a consideration of HK$1.71 billion, settled via the issue of
161,174,785 shares of the Company. The annual gas sales volume
of these 7 city gas projects is about 519 million cubic meters, 80%
of which are supplied to more lucrative commercial and industrial
users. The Company has acquired profitable 30 city gas projects
from CRH since 2008. There are still 16 projects under incubation
by CRH which will be acquired by the Company over the next few
years.

The Company entered into a sale and purchase agreement to
acquire the entire issued share capital of Flemming Limited for a
consideration of RMB352.95 million, which will be paid in stages
upon fulfillment of certain conditions.

Flemming Limited and its group members are principally engaged
in the operation of 7 city gas distribution businesses in Shandong
Province and Zhejiang Province in the PRC. A number of liquefied
natural gas receiving terminals are being developed in the Eastern
and North-eastern coastal regions of the PRC which will boost gas
supplies of these areas. Shandong Province and Zhejiang Province
thus have huge development potential and are key locations where
the Group aims to achieve accelerated business growth in the
coming years. Through the acquisition, the Group, with secured
natural gas resources, will become a major gas operator in the
area. As such, the acquisition provides an excellent opportunity
for the Company to expand its business operations in Shandong
Province and Zhejiang Province, create synergy value with the
Group’s existing gas operation in these provinces.

miﬁiﬁﬁﬂ

China Ressources Gas
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To increase the bottom line and cash flow contributions from its joint
ventures, the Group has been actively negotiating with our joint venture
partners and taking appropriate measures to increase our shareholdings
therein. Continuing from the success of such measures for Zhenjiang
China Resources Gas Co., Ltd and Hengsui China Resources Gas Co.,
Ltd in 2010, the Group increased or announced the proposal to increase
its shareholdings in the following joint ventures in 2011:

Announced the proposal to privatise and withdrawal of listing of H
shares and a voluntary conditional offer for all the issued shares
of Zhengzhou Gas Company Limited (“Zhengzhou Gas”), a joint
stock controlled company incorporated in the PRC whose shares
are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. The privatisation and
delisting proposals were approved by independent shareholders of
Zhengzhou Gas in January 2012. Total acceptances representing
39.21% of Zhengzhou Gas share capital were received upon the
subsequent closure of the offer in February 2012 enabling the
accumulative shareholding of the Company in Zhengzhou Gas
to become 96.08%. As a result, the Company expects the profit
and cash flow contributions from Zhengzhou Gas to increase
significantly in 2012. Zhengzhou Gas is one of the most profitable
single city gas operations in China with annual gas sales volume of
some 630 million m®. Zhengzhou is the capital of Henan Province
which is located in the Central Region of China and ranks 5th in
China in term of provincial GDP. It is an excellent platform for the
Group to tap into the vast potential of the Central Region and offers
a lot of room for further growth in the near future.

Zibo China Resources Gas (Hong Kong) Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a corporate reorganisation
agreement with Zibo Xinneng Trade Union Committee, Zibo Xinneng
Group Company and Zibo China Resources Gas Co., Ltd (“Zibo
CR Gas”), to acquire an additional equity interest of up to 5% of
the registered capital of Zibo CR Gas.
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The acquisition, upon completion, will increase the stake of the
Company in Zibo CR Gas to more than 50%, which will contribute
more revenue and earnings to the Group.

3. Acquisition of controlling interest in a joint venture in Jiangning
District, Nanjing

The Group increased its interest in the registered capital of
the joint venture company, Nanjing Jiangning China Resources
Gas Co., Ltd, from 49% to 70% upon completion of a corporate
reorganisation on 31st December, 2011. The registered capital
of the joint venture company was reduced from RMB951 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$1,171.63 million) to RMB665.7
million (equivalent to approximately HK$820.14 million) and the
Joint Venture Company returned an equivalent amount to §2= m)T
=R/EE (5£M@) A7 (translated as Nanjing City Jiangning District
Gas (Group) Company Limited), our joint venture partner.

CAPITAL MARKET AND FUND RAISING
ACTIVITIES

In November 2011 CR Gas was included in the MSCI China Index, which
helps to increase the visibility of CR Gas among the global investment
community.

In December 2011, CR Gas obtained investment grade credit ratings
from internationally renown rating agencies Moody’s and Fitch, the
ratings of which are of the highest level among comparable industry
peers.

During the year a total of 36 research analyst reports on the Company
were issued by 9 major capital market financial institutions. As at the end
of 2011, the valuation of the Company share in term of 2010 Historical
Price To Earning and Price To Book ratios were 36 times and 15 times
respectively, higher than average comparable city gas “peers” of 26
times and 7 times as well as Hang Seng Index Constituent Stocks’
average of 17 times and 3.5 times.

161.17 million new shares was issued to CRH in September 2011
at HK$11.98 per share, as consideration for the 4th batch of assets
acquisition by CR Gas from CRH. The market capitalisation value of the
Company increased by 33% during 2011.
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Additional 2 bilateral bank facility agreements were entered into during
2011 raising HK$1.6 billion facility to fund the acquisition of new city gas
projects. The loans were of 5 years tenure with very cost effective all-in
interest rates. During 2011 a total of HK$3.53 billion funds and facilities
was raised from the equity capital market and banking sources.

DECENTRALISATION OF OPERATIONAL
MANAGEMENT TO IMPROVE EFFICIENCY

The Group set up 10 Regional Centres to decentralise the management
of the day to day operation of the Group’s 73 city gas projects across
China. Each Regional Centre is responsible for the day to day operation
of several cities within their respective regions. This enhances the
operation efficiencies and provides better services that respond faster
to changing local demand and conditions. The 10 Regional Centres
are located in Shenzhen, Fuzhou, Shanghai, Nanjing, Jinan, Chengdu,
Kunming, Zhengzhou, Wuhan and Shenyang.

The general manager of each of these 10 cities concurrently serves
as regional general manager. The arrangement does not require to
significantly increase headcounts or resources, thereby achieving the
goal of attaining maximum results with minimum resources.

f% Shenyang

¥ Shanghai
% Nanjing

2 M Fuzhou
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Gas pipeline design and construction centres in core regional cities in
the Eastern, South-western and Central China were set up in Nanjing,
Chengdu and Zhengzhou. Each regional centre provides the design and
construction of gas pipelines in their respective areas. This improves
economy of scale, reduces the number of suppliers, and thereby create
synergy and improve cost efficiencies in the design and construction of
gas pipelines and related activities of the entire Group.
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The Group continues its systematic review of the business and
management processes of its various city gas projects. This ongoing
process is expected to continuously enhance the overall operational
efficiency of city gas projects.

On the operational level, concrete measures have been taken in supply
chain, customer service, safety management and other processes:

o Supply chain management was streamlined with rigorous tender
system covering construction projects and purchases under the 3
new design and construction centres. The number of suppliers has

been significantly reduced resulting in reduction of procurement
costs.
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On the continuous enhancement of customer service, professional
third party customer services survey by Gallup Consulting continues
to show improvement with overall satisfactory rate of 83%, the
highest among utility suppliers in those cities surveyed.
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To improve safety standard, the Group has performed safety audits
on 52 city gas projects and carried our safety related trainings in 10
regional centres. Safety management processes, training and rules
were formalised and standardised for use through the Group.
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On the financial and tax management areas, to improve treasury
operation and reduce costs of working capital, the Group has
further enhanced its centralisation of cash management with
the inclusion of more member companies in the system. Various
taxation rationalisation and reduction measures were taken to
reduce tax exposure and speed of tax setoffs and refunds.
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o As part of the ongoing risk management process, financial and
operational audits were carried out systematically covering all city
gas projects by phases. Significant improvement and corrective
actions were made by business units on such audit findings.

o With the objective of efficiency enhancement in view of the
significant increase in operation size of the Group in recent
years, information technology systems covering centralised cash
management, financial reporting, centralised procurement and
customer service are continuously being rolled out across various
levels of the Group’s operation.

ASPIRES TO BECOME CHINA’S LEADING CITY
GAS DISTRIBUTION COMPANY

The ongoing organic expansion of existing city gas distribution business,
the external acquisition of new city gas businesses will continue to
deliver stable cash flow as well as excellent growth opportunity for the
enhancement of the Company’s shareholders’ value in the foreseeable
future.

The Group intends to continue to expand through organic and external
growths, diligently enhance its operational efficiency in pursue of
excellence, and aspires to become the most respectable leader in the
PRC downstream city gas distribution company sector with a goal of
achieving 20 billion cubic meters of gross gas sales volume and 20
million residential users by 2015.

APPRECIATION

| would like to express my deepest gratitude to our management
team and staff members for their unfailing hard work and dedication.
We would continue to work hand in hand to improve service to our
customers, increase efficiency and scale of the business to enhance
the values of the shareholders and employees.

WANG CHUANDONG
Managing Director

Hong Kong, 13th March, 2012
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(RERZR 0,/ —Z-%F #m,/
—B-—F  RREHE) (Rid) (&5) (&)
2010
(As Previously
Reported
& Before Increase/ 2010 Increase/
BZ+T=-BA=1t—HILEE For the year ended 31st December 2011  Restatement) (Decrease)  (Restated)™ (Decrease)
TR TEL TET
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EE Turnover 13,506,632 8,326,747 62% 9,331,482 45%
EH Gross profit 3,972,460 2,474,866 61% 2,737,743 45%
Ryl Profit from operations 2,107,057 1,339,588 57% 1,433,044 47%
F R Profit for the year 1,596,408 970,399 65% 1,038,184 54%
ANBRAEE AEMREET Profit attributable to the Company’s
equity holders 1,200,473 733,685 64% 786,676 53%
MUEBMEBELFE  Net cash from operating activities 2,109,911 1,501,761 40% 1,679,687 26%
FREAEF (L)  Basic EPS? (HK cents) 66 51 29% 54 22%
EIRERT KL Interim dividend paid per share
(40 (HK cents) 2 2 0% 2 0%
BRERAHRS Final dividend proposed per share
(40 (HK cents) 10 8 25% 8 25%
BEE Total assets 25,405,628 19,158,882 33% 20,779,123 299,
FAEBRAS Bank balance and cash 6,889,999 6,521,335 6% 6,707,419 39%
RITEERE Total bank borrowings 6,499,596 5,625,838 16% 5,690,473 14%
FITIRE /(L) %8®  Net bank borrowings/(cash) (390,403) (895,497) 56% (1,016,946) 62%
AATRAREAE AR Equity attributable to the Company's
equity holders 8,102,453 5,684,595 43% 5,831,537 39%
DEBR RS Minority interests 2,516,094 1,894,764 33% 2,152,375 17%
RABE Total equity 10,618,547 7,579,359 40% 7,983,912 33%
—E-FF
(RER2%®
—E——F RREF|AT)
2010
(As Previously
Reported
& Before
BMER Financial Indicators 2011 Restatement)
kS Gross profit margin 29.4% 29.7%
S FI = Net profit margin 8.9% 8.8%
BN & Current ratio 1.2x 1.5x
BEREELERO Debt to equity ratio® BHE SEIR 4
Net Cash Net Cash
BEAGBLERO Debt to assets ratio® 25.6% 29.4%
DNHE 35 PR A 3] ) Return on weighted average equity 14.9% 13.0%
KB Payout ratio 18.2% 19.6%
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Operational Performance

Number of projects
Gross gas sale volume
(million m3)
Residential
Commercial & Industrial
CNG station
Bottled gas

Connected customers and
CNG stations
Residential
Commercial & Industrial
CNG station

New connections and CNG
stations in past 12 months
Residential
Commercial & Industrial
CNG station

Average tariff
(RMB per m?)
Residential
Commercial & Industrial
CNG station

Average residential connection
fee (RMB)

Installed designed capacity for
C&l customers (m? per day)

Notes:

equity.

assets.

Annual Report 2011

—B——%

2011
73

7,215
2,097
4,208
856
54

10,497,600
117,846
116

1,732,800
9,630
34

2.46
1.79
2.56
3.19

2,874

21,569,000

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED

M NREFRE
Financial & Operational Highlights

—ZT-TF
(RFERI 2
RAAEBEDET)
2010

(As Previously
Reported

& Before
Restatement)

48

5,577
1,673
3,407
427
70

8,764,800
108,216
82

5,432,700
81,537
44

2.24
1.69
2.22
3.30

2,640

14,433,700

./ ()

Increase/
(Decrease)

25%

29%
25%
24%

100%

(23%)

20%
9%
41%

(68%)
(88%)
(23%)

10%
6%

15%

(3%)

9%

50%

The comparatives for the year ended 31st December, 2010 were restated
to reflect the adoption of the “Merger Accounting under Common Control
Combination” accounting policy where the relevant amounts are restated as
if the entities or businesses had been combined at the previous reporting
period or when they first came under common control, whichever is shorter,
and up to the date of disposal where appropriate.

Basic earnings per share is calculated based on weighted average number
of issued share.

Debt/equity gearing ratio is the ratio of net bank borrowings to shareholders’

Debt/asset gearing ratio is the ratio of total bank borrowings to total
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PROJECT COMPANIES
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Total
Connected
Household

Type of Gas Sold in 2011

3
%
2£ER
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Installed
Designed
Capacity
for C&l
Customers
in 2011
(m*/day)

]
Total Gas Sales Volume in 2011

it
it ER FER KRR
(FLHR) (%) (%) (%)

Non-
Total Residential residential  CNG
(000 m’) (%) (%) (%)

BER  MRY
(%) %8

Bottled
Gas # of Gas
(%) Stations

“EEN\FREREERBENCEE

B

7 Projects Acquired from CRH in 2008

&  Chengdu M)  Sichuan 2005 360 EEAME  MAH 1844000 1602000 1053851 59.1 03 16 - 3
Piped NG, gas stations

5 Wui &  Jingsu 2005 500 EERME/EBEEEES WAL 738000 1786000 504757 176 95 12 12
Piped NG and/or other gas, bottled gas,
gas stations

BM  Suhou IH  Jiengsu 2003 00 EERAR/L0RE NF 199000 880000 160,876 114 81 25 = 1

RHE Piped NG andjor other gas, gas stations

AR Nanjng JTE  Jiangsu 1999 804 M - - 99,667 - - 1000 - 13

NE%H  CNG Gas stations

EF  Fuang I Zhejang 2005 500 EEXRME/EHRE BER 55,000 60,000 28,007 120 473 - 41 =
Piped NG andjor other gas, hottled gas

Mt Huabei  ZE Ahi 2006 571 EERHA - MEH 183000 213,000 41,012 3.0 01 %9 = 5
Piped NG, gas stations

B4 Lnhai T Zhejang 1995 1000 EBEXME/Lh5E 36,000 14,000 6,200 209 79.1 = = =
Piped NG and/or other gas
HEBANT 2990000 4555000 1,894,370 395 09 97 09 34
Sub-total 7 projects

CEENFOEBEEVBHLEEREE 7 Projects Acquired from CRH in 2009

BT Zhenjang TE  Jingsu 2006 510 EERME NEK 190000 1610000 194,042 13.8 816 46 = 3
Piped NG, gas stations

B Zibo E  Shandong 2002 460 FERMR/EHTE - NEH 29000 600,000 249,805 112 87.1 17 = 3
Piped NG and/or other gas, gas station

B8 Xanglan HHt Hubel 2002 4 EERRE M 125000 300000 12553 14 505 381 = 5
Piped NG, gas stations

AR Daiong & Shandi 2004 50 EERRE MEH 285000 300,000 106,205 287 56 117 = 3
Piped NG, gas stations

B%  Yangouan W&  Shanxi 2007 50 EERRE MEH 2800 200,000 102,479 04 219 - 6
Piped NG, gas stations

B Yicheng Mt Hubei 2002 1000 EEAME - MAM 16,000 74,000 14,361 123 675 22 = 1
Piped NG, gas stations

BL Qanjang Bt Hubel 2003 1000 EEXRME - MEM 64,000 61,000 25,635 388 566 46 - 1
Piped NG, gas stations
HEER NG 911,800  3,145000 818,063 136 42 122 = 2

Sub-total 7 projects
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9 Projects Acquired from CRH in 2010

EFf  Xamen  BE  Fujan 2007 90 EERME/EBEE EES MAS 313000 1268000 282175 92 693 63
Piped NG and/or other gas, bottled gas,
gas stations

EZ  Jinng WX Shandong 2007 510 EBRME BER NEH 195000 183000 117,339 148 716 136
Piped NG, bottled gas, gas stations

#2  Sunng Wl Sichuan 1993 500 EERME NEK 158,000 62,000 76,366 482 %82 26
Piped NG, gas stations

B Tengzhou WX Shandong 2008 00 EEXAA - MAK 105000 400000 117932 90 B4 56
Piped NG, gas stations

fti  Shifang I Sichuan 2008 510 ERRME MEk 44000 120,000 62,012 16.5 607 138
Piped NG, gas stations

Bl Kunshan JI&  Jiangsu 2001 499 EERHS 90,000 484,000 48,013 3.2 658 =
Piped NG

& Qdong IE  Jiengsu 2007 1000 EEAME/EHFE 2R 53,000 92,000 12,169 378 610 =
Piped NG and/or other gas, bottled gas

A Gucheng #t Hubel 2004 1000 EEXMA 3,000 21,000 5,386 26 97.4 =
Piped NG

M HaghowensfT  Zhejang 2009 1000 EERRE 1000 84000 10,071 - 1000 -
Piped NG
JEER 962000 2714000 681463 17.2 882 94

Sub-total 9 projects

—E—FRERRERENLEER

7 Projects Acquired from CRH in 2011

FBE  Jngdeznen TE  Jiangxi 2007 650 EERMA/EHFE 69000 453000 234382 41 %9 =
Piped NG and/or other gas

2% Awang  E Henan 2008 650 EERME  MEH 238000 292000 121,086 345 628 27
Piped NG, gas stations

E%  Yueyang A Hunan 2008 857  EERMR/KHRE NAN 129,000 65,000 81,676 203 00 397
Piped NG and/or other gas, gas stations

#ill - Zhongshan EX  Guangdong 2010 400 EEXRR 2500 200,000 75,003 04 99.6 =
Piped NG

ABE Dayawan EX  Guangdong 2008 1000 EERME/LHRE HER 27,000 15,000 3582 54 808 =
Piped NG and/or other gas, bottled gas

A%  Dandong FE  Liaonng 2009 1000 EBEXNE/LhEE 15,000 30,000 3644 20 980 =
Piped NG and/or other gas

FEO  HuayuankouBE  Liaoning 2009 1000 EEXRME/EtbFE 2,300 1,000 17 = 100.0 =
Piped NG andlor other gas
HEER g 482800 1056000 519,390 132 798 69

Sub-total 7 projects
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Total Gas Sales Volume in 2011

=
1%
iz BRER B%
g1/ FY  HiRE &it ER FER KRR BER NEH
& BEEH BR%  BERREH Z8--% (TFK/B) (FIAK) (%) %) ) (%) EE
Installed
Designed
Capacity
Total for C&l
Year of Connected  Customers Non- Bottled
Founding/ Household in 2011 Total Residential residential ~ CNG  Gas #of Gas
Province Acquisition % Owned  Type of Gas Sold in 2011 (m*/day) (000 m?) (%) (%) (%) (%) Stations

EPRIN_—EENFEERBHN+=EEE 13 Projects Directly Acquired by CR Gas in 2009

RE  Wehan  #HE Hubel 2002 510 EEARE - MA 83,000 1,000,000 118,337 46 %2 22 = 1
Piped NG, gas stations

EH  Kuming E@  Yuman 2008 60 EERMA/EtRE 40000 111,000 14,872 83 917 = = =
Piped NG and/or other gas

BN Tongzhou TE  Jiangsu 2008 00 ERRRR/EHFE AER 14,000 45,000 5,904 173 825 - 02 -
Piped NG and/or other gas, bottled gas

#F  Hongdong WWE  Shand 2009 510 EERMT MR% 17000 100,000 14320 15.1 636 213 = 2
Piped NG, gas station

@ Jnan W Shandong 2009 1000 EERBR 400 164000 18,430 02 98 - - -
Piped NG

BB Zaoyang Bt Hubel 2008 1000 EEXME M 6,000 15,000 3452 15 %0 525 - 1
Piped NG, gas station

BE  Yinglen IE  Jlngd 2009 1000 EERRE/EHFE 5300 5,000 624 180 820 = - =
Piped NG and/or other gas

Sichuan 2003 400 EBRHR mAK 195,000 160,000 125,144 496 3368 146 - 3
Piped NG, gas stations

BN Luzhou W)

ik Hengshui 1% Hebei 2009 1000 EERER 18,000 78,000 20,930 34 9.6 - - -
Piped NG

4 Yuai W®  Shandong 2009 1000 EERHEE - MEH 1400 5,000 973 22 56 422 - 1
Piped NG, gas station

BN Huozhou WE  Shani 2009 700 EERHR 3900 144,000 1,384 450 5.0 - - -
Piped NG

B VYangou IUE  Shamd 2009 650 EERHR 800 10,000 735 52 948 - - -
Piped NG

M Yanzhou 1E  Shandong 2009 00 EERRR/EtFE 51,000 50,000 13,001 %7 733 = = =
Piped NG and/or other gas
=S 435800 1887000 338,106 29 693 78 = 8

Sub-total 13 projects
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Total Gas Sales Volume in 2011

g--F
I8%
Btz  CHER B
g1/ FY  HiRE &it ER ¥ER RAR  BER DAY
& BEER BR%  BERRED “E--F (IFK/R)  (FIAR) (%) %) %) () 8B
Installed
Designed
Capacity
Total for C&l
Year of Connected ~ Customers Non- Bottled
Founding/ Household in 2011 Total Residential residential ~ CNG  Gas #of Gas
Province Acquisition % Owned  Type of Gas Sold in 2011 (m*/day) (000 m?) (%) (%) (%) (%) Stations
EHREN—_Z—SFEERBEN+_@EEE 12 Projects Directly Acquired by CR Gas in 2010
EF  Chongging &/ Municipality 1995 %0 EERRR/BURE MR 2862000 3280000 1,996,980 27 503 170 - 5
Piped NG and/or other gas, gas stations
BN Zhengzhou TE  Heman 2009 568 ERRME/EBRE EEZ ML 1232000 1781000 631,088 336 58 125 01 14
Piped NG and/or other gas, bottled gas,
gas stations
TZ  Jangning TE&  Jiangsu 2010 700 EERER 167000 276,000 52,204 377 623 - - -
Piped NG
BE Vb Ml Sichuan 2010 500 EBRME mER 120000 116,000 80,021 39.2 89 319 - 4
Piped NG, gas stations
ML Nefiang Il Sichuan 2010 500 EBRME mEK 124000 262,000 50,013 482 200 28 - 2
Piped NG, gas stations
BE  Longchang M) Sichuan 2010 700 EERHA 38,000 24,000 18,567 723 27 - - -
Piped NG
B%H  Kimng EEH  Yuman 2010 850 MEH = = 419 = - 1000 = 1
NEE  CNG (Gas station
B Fengcheng HE  Liaoning 2010 1000 bt k|
Greenfield
AE  Bewi  HE  Liaonng 2010 100.0 HEEE
Greenfield
#€&  Xinhui  EE  Guangdong 2010 1000 EERME/ Lh5E = 10,000 4p - 100.0 - = -
Piped NG and/or other gas
i Chfeng AEE  Inner 2010 1000 EERHE/EHRE 2,200 = 10 1000 - - - -
&%E  Mongolia Piped NG and/or other gas
Autonomous
% Zzhong M) Schuan 2010 00 EERHR mAk 35,000 40,000 19,563 575 %1 174 = 1
Piped NG, gas stations
TZEER N 4580200 5789000 2,849,331 339 500 161 = a

Sub-total 12 projects
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% Fangzi
M Qingzhou
ZE  Angu
Bl Lushan
B Weilng
BB HiTech
Zone
BE  Luozhuang
EZ  Ci
% Xuyan
=f  Sanmen
B Fuyang

Rl Dongchuan

B Gaosheng

ZRNA Yunnan
CNG
% Hongan

3

I3

I3

I3

WE

I3

i

it

I

Shandong

Shandong

Shandong

Shandong

Shandong

Shandong

Zhejiang

Liaoning

Zhejiang

Anhui

Yunnan

Liaoning

Yunnan

Hubei

2001

2001

2001

2010

2003

2002

2002

2011

2011

2011

2011

2011

2011

2011

58.3

58.3

1000

5.0

100.0

100.0

840

100.0

100.0

1000

800

100.0

360

700

BERIE/BHRE
Piped NG and/or other gas

BERIE/BHAE
Piped NG and/or other gas

BERIE/EhFE
Piped NG and/or other gas

BERIE/EHRE
Piped NG and/or other gas

BERMR/ ElRE
Piped NG andlor other gas

BEART/ ElbRE
Piped NG and/or other gas

18,000

46,000

22,000

14,000

16,000

19,000

400,000 22533

420,000 21326

400,000 8,806

R
Greenfield

20,000 1,602

1,083,000 44184

100,000 16,268

R
Greenfield

Fif k|
Greenfield

HiERe

Greenfield

Hi#aA

Greenfield

bt k|
Greenfield

AR
Greenfield

#igzg

Greenfield
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14.0

9.7
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5.0
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18 Projects Directly Acquired by CR Gas in 2011
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OVERALL FINANCIAL RESULTS

In 2011, the Group acquired 7 city gas projects from its controlling
shareholder in addition to its acquisition of other 18 new PRC city
gas distribution projects. The results of these 7 city gas projects are
accounted for in the Group’s consolidated financial statements in
accordance with Accounting Guideline 5 “Merger Accounting under
Common Control Combination” adopted by the Group. Accordingly,
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows of the Group for the two years ended 31st December, 2010 and
2011 include the results of operations, changes in equity and cash
flows of the companies now comprising the Group as if the current
group structure had been in existence throughout the two years ended
31st December, 2010 and 2011, or since their respective dates of
incorporation or establishment where this is a shorter period except for
the subsidiaries acquired from independent third parties and the jointly
controlled entities acquired, which are included in the consolidated
financial statements since their respective dates of acquisitions. To
enable the management and discussion analysis be more meaningful
in presenting the changes from 2010 to 2011, only the financial and
operational numbers before restatement for 2010 are discussed in the
analysis below.

The Group’s results for 2011 were driven by both organic and acquisition
growths. The Group’s turnover for the year amounted to HK$13,507
million (2010: HK$8,327 million).

The city gas distribution business contributed an after tax but before
non-controlling interest profit of HK$1,596 million (2010: HK$970 million)
and profit attributable to shareholders of HK$1,200 million (2010:
HK$734 million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The net cash inflow from operations during the year amounted to
HK$2,110 million (2010: HK$ 1,502 million).

The Group spent HK$454 million in capital expenditure during the year
(2010: HK$4.3 billion) to fund its acquisition expansion (excluding the
HK$1.93 billion acquisition by share consideration) and HK$1.51 billion
in upgrading of its continuing city gas distribution business (2010:
HK$1.38 billion). The above required funding was financed by the
operating cash flow, bank borrowings and cash on hand of the Group.
As at year end, the Group’s free cash on hand was HK$6.9 billion (2010:
HK$6.5 billion). Among the cash balance 16% was denominated in Hong
Kong dollar and the remaining in Renminbi and US dollar.

It is the Group’s policy to use the cash flow generated from operations
and appropriate level of borrowings as the principal source of fund to
finance major expansion and acquisition. As at the end of the year, the
Group has total borrowings of HK$6.5 billion. 24% of the borrowings
are considered as current liabilities and repayable within one year,
the remaining are repayable in five years. Renminbi and HK dollar
denominated borrowings accounted for 10% and 90% of the total
borrowings respectively. Over 90% of the borrowings are interest bearing
bank loans on floating rate terms.

The cash balance of the Group was HK$6.9 billion as at the year end.
The gearing ratio of the Group at the end of the year, calculated as
total borrowings over total assets, was 26% (2010: 29%). The EBITDA to
interest cover ratio was at the healthy level of 35.3 times. The financial
position and liquidity of the Group is very healthy and stable.

The Group has been granted a total of HK$6.7 billion term loan facilities
with maturities from 2012 to 2016. The facilities are unsecured and with
floating interest rates. As at the end of the year, 88% of the facilities
has been drawn down. The facilities together with healthy operating
cash flow will provide sufficient funding for foreseeable expansion and
working capital requirement.

Other than the above mentioned committed facilities, the Group has no
other committed borrowing facilities. For day-to-day liquidity management
and maintaining flexibility in funding, the Group has managed to obtain
sufficient uncommitted short-term facilities from banks.
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Charge of Assets

As at 31st December, 2011, a bank deposit of HK$18 million was
pledged as securities for trade payable to a supplier of natural gas
and certain property, plant and equipment and trade receivables
with carrying values of HK$213 million were pledged to secure bank
borrowings.

Property, Plant and Equipment

During the year ended 31st December, 2011, the Group’s city gas
distribution business spent HK$124 million on machinery and equipment
and HK$1,199 million on construction in progress.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31st December, 2011, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities.

Financial Management and Treasury Policy

The financial risk management of the Group is the responsibility of
the Group’s treasury function at the head office in Hong Kong. One of
the major objectives of the Group’s treasury policies is to manage its
exposure to fluctuation in interest rates and foreign currency exchange
rates. It is the Group’s policy not to engage in speculative activities.

Most of the Group’s assets and liabilities are denominated in Hong Kong
dollar and Renminbi with some denominated in US dollar and Euro.
The Group does not expect significant exposure to foreign exchange
fluctuations in this regard.

OPERATING RESULTS

Key Revenue Drivers

The revenue of city gas distribution operation are derived from
recurring gas sales and one-time gas connection fee which respectively
accounts for 80% and 20% of the 2011 revenue (2010: 76% and 24%
respectively).

The turnover of the city gas distribution operation for the year ended
31st December, 2011 amounted to HK$13,507 million, an increase of
62% over that of 2010. The significant increase was mainly due to the
increase in gas sales volume by 29% from 5,577 million m® to 7,215
million m® and the increase in connection fee income by 40% from
HK$1,959 million to HK$2,741 million. The increase in gas sales and
connection fee income were in turn driven by the following factors:
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Number of Households and C&l Capacity
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Daily Installed Capacity for C&l Customers
BIHRE

Gross Gas Sales Volume

(BBILFK)

(Million m?)
8,000
6,000
4,000
2,214
2,000 .
0
—ZZAEF —Z2-ZF —2——F
2009 2010 2011

50% increase in the daily installed capacity for commercial &

industrial (“C&l”) customers from 14.4 million m® to 21.6 million
me.

20% increase in the number of connected households from 8.77
million to 10.50 million.

HEWRAMED
Revenue Breakdown
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Stable Gross Margin

AR SHE WA FERE

Gross Margin of Gas Sales
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Sustainable Gross Margin

The city gas distribution operation registered an overall gross profit
margin of 29.4% for 2011, which was comparable to 29.7% for 2010. The
gross margin of gas sales grew from 20.2% to 21.4% and gross margin
of connection fee from 60.5% to 60.9%. Although both the gross margins
increased, the overall gross margin remained at about the same level.
This is due to the positive change in the revenue mix of gas sales vs
connection fee from 76%: 24% in 2010 to 80%: 20% in 2011.

The gross profit margin for connection fee income increased from 60.5%
for 2010 to 60.9% for 2011 mainly because of connection fee income
from cities with relative higher connection fees such as Zhengzhou,
Wuxi and Chengdu. The higher overall gas sales margin was mainly
contributed from increase in sales from CNG gas stations and sales
to industrial customers such as those in the industrial cities of Wukxi,
Suzhou, Zhengzhou, Zhenjiang and Jingdezhen. However, this was
offset to a certain extent by the lower gas sales margins of sales to
residential customers.

ERBWAERNE
Gross Margin of Connection Fee
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Stable costs and expenses

The increase in absolute amounts of selling and distribution and general
and administration expenses in 2011 were the result of the 25 projects
acquired in 2011. As a percentage of revenue, selling and distribution
expenses were 8% for 2011 compared to 6.5% for 2010. The increase
was mainly due to the newly acquired projects during the year which will
need time to attain higher operating efficiency. Conversely the general
and administration expenses reduced from 9.6% in 2010 to 9.1% in
2011 due to the relative fixed nature of these expenses enjoying the
economy of scale of operation. The reduction of gross margin of 0.3%,
the increase in other revenue of 0.8%, the increase of 0.9% on total
selling and distribution and general and administration expenses as
well as the increase in contribution from an associate of 0.7% mainly
accounts for increase in Earning Before Interest and Tax (EBIT) of 0.2%
from 16.3% in 2010 to 16.5% in 2011. Net income after tax of 8.9%
was in line with the 8.8% in 2010, despite that there was an increase
in taxation (due to increase in effective tax rate as a result of most city
gas projects graduating from tax incentive period to non-tax incentive
period and the standard tax rate of 25% starts to apply).
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Selling & Distribution Expenses
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Increase in selling and distribution expenses
is mainly due to the inclusion of the projects
newly acquired in 2011 which will take some
time to achieve scale and efficiency.
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Strong operating and free cash flow generation

The city gas distribution operation continued to generate healthy cash
flow with an operating cash flow of HK$2,110 million and free cash flow
of HK$1,039 million in 2011. The Group recorded a cash balance of
HK$6,890 million at the end of 2011, an increase of HK$369 million over
the amount at the end of 2010. The Group has continued to leverage on
its strong balance sheet to raise low cost finance during 2011 and has
a total bank loan of HK$6,500 million outstanding as at 31st December,
2011, with a gross debt to total asset ratio of 26%. The Group maintains
a very healthy balance sheet with low gross debt ratio, high EBITDA to
interest cover ratio of 35.3 times and net cash balance of HK$390 million
at 31st December, 2011.
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Strong Operating & Free Cash Flow Generation
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EEMNERE
Reasonable Rates of Return

S AR 2] 3 2
Return on Equity

Reasonable rates of return

In view of the fact that the Group is still in expansion phase, the city

gas distribution operation registered reasonable return on equity and
return on assets of 14.9% and 7.2% respectively in 2011 (2010: 13.0%
and 7.0% respectively). The Group acquired 25 new projects in 2011

including 14 green field projects. The rates of returns are expected to

improve once all these newly acquired projects start to attain higher

operating efficiency and generate more returns in 2012 and thereafter.

Return on Assets

(%) (%)
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Note (1): The higher return on weighted average equity in 2009 was mainly due to the lower shareholders’ equity as a result of the
deduction therefrom merger reserves incurred in each of the asset injection from the parent. The impact was less significant
after the Company did a share placement in September 2010.
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Contribution by City

MRBERE
Gross Gas Sales Volume

Major contributors

Previously, the earlier Chengdu, Wuxi and Suzhou projects used to
account for more than 80% of the gas sales volume, connection fee and
net profit contribution. As the Group has acquired more new projects in
2009, 2010 and 2011, their contribution percentages have decreased
and taken up by others such as Chongging, Zhengzhou, Xiamen, Wuhan,
Kunming, Zhenjiang, Zibo, Datong and Jingdezhen. As there will be more
acquisitions over the next few years, the percentage contribution from
all projects are expected to gradually become more evenly distributed
in the future. The broadening of the Group’s earning base will insure the
Group from relying heavily on any single city gas project.
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Attributable Gas Revenue
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Net profit before Corporate Expenses
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Ms. YU Jian

2. BEIRRE
Mr. MA Guoan

3. IEREE
Mr. WANG Chuandong
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Mr. LUK Chi Cheong
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Mr. WEI Bin
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Mr. DU Wenmin
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Mr. ONG Thiam Kin
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Mr. WONG Tak Shing
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Mr. Ma Guoan, aged 60, was appointed as Chairman
and Executive Director of the Company on 3rd November,
2008. He is also the Chairman of the Company’s
Nomination Committee. Mr. Ma joined CRH, the
substantial and controlling shareholder of the Company
in March 2008 and is currently a Director and Deputy
General Manager of CRH and concurrently Chairman
of China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited, a wholly
owned subsidiary of CRH. Before joining CRH, he was
in charge of General Office of China State Economic
and Trade Commission and once served as the Vice
Secretary General of the State-owned Assets Supervision
and Administration Commission of the State Council
(SASAC). Mr. Ma holds a Post-graduate Degree majoring
in Economic Management.
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Mr. Wang Chuandong, aged 48, was appointed as
Executive Director and General Manager of the Company
on 3rd November, 2008. He is also the Chairman of the
Company’s Investment Committee and a member of the
Corporate Governance Committee and director of various
subsidiaries of the Group. He is currently a Deputy
General Manager of CRH. He was appointed as a Director
and the General Manager of China Resources Gas
(Holdings) Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of CRH
with effect from February 2007. Mr. Wang joined China
Resources Petrochems (Group) Company Limited in 1985
and was previously its Deputy Managing Director. He has
over 25 years of corporate management experience in
the area of petroleum and related products trading and
distribution and holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Science
majoring in Petroleum Refining from the University of
Petroleum.
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Mr. Ong Thiam Kin, aged 54, was appointed as an
Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer of the
Company on 28th May, 2001 with overall responsibilities
for the financial and legal operations. He is also the
Company Secretary of the Company. He is a member of
the Company’s Remuneration Committee and Corporate
Governance Committee and also director of various
subsidiaries of the Group. He is a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
in the United Kingdom, the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and members of the
national accounting bodies of Singapore and Malaysia.
He obtained a Master of Business Administration Degree
from the University of Southern Queensland, Australia. He
has more than 20 years of diverse range of experience
in professional accounting practice as well as financial
positions in various industries straddling countries in
Southeast Asia, the PRC and Hong Kong.
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Mr. Du Wenmin, aged 48, was appointed as a Non-
executive Director of the Company on 21st March, 2008
and is currently a Deputy General Manager and the Chief
Human Resources Officer of CRH. He is also a member
of the Audit Committee of the Company. Mr. Du joined
CRH in 1985 and is also a Non-executive Director of
China Resources Enterprise, Limited, China Resources
Land Limited, China Resources Power Holdings Company
Limited and China Resource Cement Holdings Limited.
Shares of the above four immediately mentioned
companies are listed on the Main Board of the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange. Mr. Du is also a non-executive
director of China Resources Microelectronics Limited,
the withdrawal of listing of its shares on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange became effective on 2nd November,
2011. He is also a director of China Resources Sanjiu
Medical & Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. which is listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange. Mr. Du received a Master of
Business Administration Degree from the University of
San Francisco, USA.
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Mr. Wei Bin, aged 42, was appointed as a Non-executive
Director of the Company on 3rd November, 2008 and
is also a member of the Investment Committee of the
Company. He is the Chief Financial Officer of CRH
with effect from 1st April, 2011 and is also the General
Manager of its Finance Department. Mr. Wei is a Non-
Executive Director of China Resources Enterprise,
Limited, China Resources Land Limited, China Resources
Power Holdings Company Limited and China Resources
Cement Holdings Limited, which are main board listed
companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Wei is also a non-executive
director of China Resources Microelectronics Limited,
the withdrawal of listing of its shares on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange became effective on 2nd November,
2011. He is also a director of China Resources Sanjiu
Medical & Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. and Shan Dong
Dong-E E-Jiao Co., Ltd, which are listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange. Mr. Wei holds a bachelor’s degree in
auditing from Zhongnan University of Economics in PRC
and a master’s degree in finance from Jinan University
in PRC, and is a Senior Accountant and a Senior Auditor
in the PRC. He is also a non-practising member of the
Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Wei
joined CRH in 2001.
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Mr. Wong Tak Shing, aged 61, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in
1998. He is the Chairman of the Company’s Remuneration
Committee and members of the Audit Committee,
Nomination Committee, Investment Committee and
Corporate Governance Committee. He was admitted as
a solicitor of the Supreme Court of Hong Kong in 1984
and has been in private practice in Hong Kong for over
20 years. From 1984 to 1987, he worked as an assistant
solicitor with two local law firms in Hong Kong before
setting up his own practice in 1987. He was appointed
as a China-Appointed Attesting Officer with effect from
18th January, 2003. Mr. Wong holds a Master’'s Degree
in Laws from the Peking University.
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Mr. Luk Chi Cheong, aged 55, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company on
31st January, 2002. He is the Chairman of the Company’s
Audit Committee and members of the Remuneration
Committee, Nomination Committee and Corporate
Governance Committee. He is a practicing Certified
Public Accountant in Hong Kong and a fellow member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants,
United Kingdom. He has been in accounting practice
since 1995 and prior to that he has over 10 years of
diversified experience in audit, construction and airline
industry.
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Ms. Yu Jian, aged 58, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company on 17th March,
2010. She is the Chairman of the Company’s Corporate
Governance Committee. She is currently the Chairman of
Shenzhen Water (Group) Co., Ltd and actively involves
in various bodies and associations, including Standing
Committee of the 5th Shenzhen CPPCC; Vice-President
of the China Association of Women Entrepreneurs; Vice-
President of the Association of Women Entrepreneurs of
Guangdong Province; Honorary President of the Shenzhen
Association of Women Entrepreneurs; Vice-President of
the China Urban Water Association; President of the
Shenzhen Urban Water Association, Vice-President of
the Child Welfare Institute of Shenzhen, and Executive
Vice-President of the Shenzhen General Chamber of
Commerce. Prior to joining Shenzhen Water (Group) Co.,
Ltd., Ms. Yu was the General Manager of Shenzhen Gas
Corporation Limited. Ms. Yu graduated from the Harbin
University of Civil Engineering and Architecture and is a
Senior Engineer with professorship.
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Mr. Zheng Xifeng, aged 54, was appointed as a Deputy General
Manager of China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in September 2007,
responsible for internal corporate affairs. Mr. Zheng holds a Bachelor’s
Degree in Law from the School of Law of Xiamen University, a Master of
Business Administration Degree from the University of San Francisco in
the United States, and the qualification as Senior International Business
Engineer. He joined China Resources Holdings Group in August 1985
and has been with China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited since
September 2007. He was appointed as a director of China Resources
Gas Limited in September 2008.

Mr. Wang Yan, aged 40, was appointed as a Deputy General Manager of
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in September 2007, responsible
for the internal auditing operations. Mr. Wang holds a Bachelor’s
Degree in Economics from the Finance and Accounting Department,
Capital University of Economics and Business, a Master of Business
Administration Degree from the University of South Australia and is a
qualified PRC Certified Accountant. He joined China Resources Holdings
Group in July 1994 and has been with China Resources Gas (Holdings)
Limited since September 2007. He was appointed as a director of China
Resources Gas Limited in November 2005.

Mr. Huang Weizhong, aged 46, was appointed as a Deputy General
Manager of China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in September
2007, responsible for investment and PRC legal affairs as well as Beijing
Representative Office. Mr. Huang holds a Master’s Degree majoring in
International Finance from the Fudan University and licenses to practice
as a lawyer and an engineer. He joined China Resources Holdings
Group in March 2000 and has been working for China Resources Gas
(Holdings) Limited since March 2007. He was appointed as a director
of China Resources Gas Limited in November 2005.

Mr. Ge Bin, aged 48, was appointed as a Deputy General Manager of
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in January 2010, responsible
for customer relations and Greater Shanghai Area, and concurrently
holds the positions as a director and General Manager of Wuxi China
Resources Gas Co., Ltd. Mr. Ge holds a Master’s Degree in Engineering
from Nanjing University of Technology, and holds a senior economist
qualification. He joined China Resources Holdings Group in September
1996 and has been with China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited since
September 2007. He was appointed as a director of China Resources
Gas Limited in September 2008.
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Mr. Yan Guogqi, aged 57, was appointed as a Deputy General Manager of
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in November 2010, responsible
for Greater Zhengzhou Area and concurrently holds the position as the
Chairman of Zhengzhou China Resources Gas Limited. Mr. Yan is a
representative of the 11th Session of the National People’s Congress of
Henan Province, Head of the Urban Gas Association of Henan Province
and a Senior Engineer. He was Deputy Head of Water Plant, Head of
Water Supply Management and Deputy General Manager of Zhengzhou
Municipal Water Company from 1987 to 1997, Deputy General Manager
of Zhengzhou Municipal Natural Gas Corporation from 1997 to 1998,
Deputy Chairman and Deputy General Manager of Zhengzhou Municipal
Gas Company Limited from 1998 to 2000, and Deputy Chairman and
General Manager of Zhengzhou Gas Group since 2000. Mr. Yan was
appointed as the Chairman of Zhengzhou Gas Company Limited
in 2001. In October 2007, he was appointed as the Chairman and
General Manager of Zhengzhou Gas Group. In December 2009, he was
appointed as the Chairman and General Manager of Zhengzhou China
Resources Gas Limited.

Mr. Shi Baofeng, aged 40, was appointed as an Assistant General
Manager of China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in January 2010,
responsible for human resources management and Greater Guangdong
Area. Mr. Shi holds a Master of Business Administration Degree from the
Southwest Jiaotong University and a Senior Engineer qualification. He
joined China Resources Holdings Group in 2006 and China Resources
Gas (Holdings) Limited in March 2007. He was appointed as a director
of China Resources Gas Limited in September 2008.

Mr. Zhu Likun, aged 45, was appointed as an Assistant General
Manager of China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in January 2010,
responsible for operation, safety and information management. Mr. Zhu
holds a Bachelor’'s Degree majoring in Automation in Petro-chemical
Industry from the Nanjing University of Chemical Technology (currently
known as Nanjing University of Technology), a Master's Degree majoring
in International Economics from the Soochow University, and a Senior
Engineer qualification. He joined China Resources Holdings Group in
August 20083.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Group is dedicated to maintaining a good credible framework
of corporate governance with a view to being transparent, open and
accountable to its shareholders.

The Company has adopted the mandatory provisions of the Code on
Corporate Governance Practices (the “Code”) set out in Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules for the time being in force. In line with the mandatory
provisions of the Code, the Company has adopted a Corporate
Governance Handbook (the “Handbook”) on 23rd December, 2005
and subsequently updated in 2008, 2009 and 2010 respectively. The
contents of the Handbook include, among others, directors’ duties, model
code for directors’ transaction in securities, model code for securities
transaction by relevant employees, the functions and terms of reference
of the Audit, Remuneration, Nomination and Investment Committees,
disclosure of information and communication with shareholders. All the
mandatory provisions under the Code have been adopted and reflected
in the Handbook. The Company has throughout the year complied with
the mandatory provisions of the Code except for the provision E1.2 of
the Code which provides that the Chairman of the Board should attend
the annual general meeting (the “AGM”) of the Company which was held
on 30th May, 2011. The chairman of the Board did not attend the AGM
as he had conflicting business schedule. The chairman or members
of the Audit, Remuneration and Nomination Committees and the Chief
Financial Officer attended the AGM. The Company considered that their
presence was sufficient for (i) answering questions from and (ii) effective
communication with shareholders present at the AGM.

As Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules has been amended and most of
such amendments will be effective on 1st April, 2012, the Board has
approved the adoption of the Corporate Governance Code as set out
in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules as the corporate governance code
of the Company on 13th March, 2012. The Handbook was also updated
on 13th March, 2012.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board consists of three Executive
Directors, two Non-executive Directors and three Independent Non-
executive Directors, one of whom namely Mr. Luk Chi Cheong has
the appropriate professional accounting experience and expertise as
required under the Listing Rules. The names and biographical details of
each Director are disclosed on pages 45-48 of this annual report.

Each Independent Non-executive Director has, pursuant to the
guidelines set out in rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, confirmed that he
is independent of the Company and the Company also considers that
they are independent. The term of office of each Non-executive Director,
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including Independent Non-executive Director, is for a period of three
years subject to the requirement that one-third of all the Directors shall
retire from office by rotation at each annual general meeting pursuant
to the Bye-laws of the Company. The relationship (including financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationship), if any, among
members of the Board are disclosed in this annual report. There is no
such relationship between the Chairman and the General Manager.

FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible both for how the Company is managed and the
Company’s direction. Approval of the Board is required for the strategy of
the Group, yearly budget, major acquisition and disposal, major capital
investment, dividend policy, appointment and retirement of Directors and
senior management, remuneration policy and other major operational,
financial and risk management matters. Day-to-day operations of the
Group are the responsibility of the Company’s management.

The Board has held periodic meetings during 2011. Details of individual
attendance of Directors are set out in the table below:

§--f -§--f -§-f -§-f -%-f -%-f -%-f -3--§ -F-f C-F-f
A At BAZTR MAZtAR ARtR mATtA tA=t=R  NA-tER tAtR  tAttA  1-AtA
16th March, ~ 20th April,  28th April, Tthdune,  17thJune,  22nd July, 23rd August, 10th October, 17th October, 7th November,
Date 2011 201 2011 2011 2011 201 2011 2011 2011 201
ERIK BEZEE  IEREE  IBRAY  BEREE  BERAE  RERRE  IBREE  BERRt  FEREE  BERR:
Mr. Ma Mr. Wang lr. Ong Mr. Ma Mr. Ma Mr. Ma Mr. Wang Mr. Ma Mr. Ma Mr. Ma
Megting Chairman Guoan ~ Chuandong  Thiam Kin Guoan Guoan Guoan  Chuandong Guoan Guoan Guoan
by £ Executive Directors
EERRE M. Ma Guoan | - - | | | - | | |
TEREE M. Wang Chuandong | | - - | - | | | |
TRfRE . Ong Thiam Kin | | | | | | { | | |
#4783 Non-executive Directors
HXREE r. Du Wenmin | - | | | | = | = |
i . Wei Bin | - | | | l | | - {
BUFUfES Independent Non-executive
Directors
ERBLL . Wong Tek Shing | | | | | | | | il |
ERE%4 M. Luk Chi Cheong | | | | il | | | | |
Fhixt s Yu Jian | - - | | | | = | |
B (MERAR TXER) - Remarks (also applicable to the tables set out below):
Vo= HE y = attended
- = mE - = didn't attend
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As at the date of this annual report, the Chairman of the Board is Mr.
Ma Guoan while Mr. Wang Chuandong is the General Manager. The
Chairman provides leadership to the Board and formulate, together
with the Board, the business strategies and long-term objectives of the
Company whilst the General Manager carries out the decisions made by
the Board and is in charge of the Company’s day-to-day management.

To strengthen the functions of the Board and to enhance its expertise, as
at the date of this annual report, there are five Committees namely, the
Audit, Remuneration, Nomination, Investment and Corporate Governance
Committees under the Board, with each performing different functions.

As at the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee comprises
of two Independent Non-executive Directors namely Mr. Luk Chi
Cheong (Chairman) and Mr. Wong Tak Shing and one Non-executive
Director namely Mr. Du Wenmin. The Committee’s role is to provide an
independent and objective review of the effectiveness of the financial
reporting process, internal control, risk management as well as internal
audit function of the Group. Its functions broadly fall into the following
three main areas:

. responsible for making recommendation to the Board on the
appointment, reappointment and removal of external auditor, and
to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of external
auditor and any matters related to the resignation or dismissal of
external auditor;

o review the financial statements of the Company’s annual and half-
year reports and accounts; and

° review the Company'’s financial controls, internal controls and risk
management systems.

During the year 2011 and up to the date of this annual report, the
Audit Committee has reviewed the financial statements and results
announcement for 2010, and those for the half-yearly results and yearly
results for 2011. These include the review of the Group’s financial and
accounting policies and practices; the review of the ongoing connected
transactions of the Company conducted in 2010 and 2011; and the
review of the internal audit reports prepared by the Company'’s Internal
Audit Division.
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The Audit Committee has held two meetings during 2011. Details of
individual attendance of its members are set out in the table below:

ES ME
Chairman Members
BEEERE EEBEE HYREE
Mr. Luk Mr. Wong Mr. Du
Chi Cheong Tak Shing Wenmin
v v Vv
Vv v =

Pursuant to the amendments to Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, the
terms of reference of the Audit Committee were updated on 13th March,
2012 and are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

The role and main function of the Remuneration Committee is to
determine and review the compensation and benefit policy of Executive
Directors and senior management, including but not limited to bonus
plan, Incentive Award Scheme and other long term incentive plan,
as well as bonus allocation and salary adjustment of each Executive
Director and senior management. As at the date of this annual report, the
Remuneration Committee comprises of two Independent Non-executive
Directors namely Mr. Wong Tak Shing (Chairman) and Mr. Luk Chi
Cheong and one Executive Director namely Mr. Ong Thiam Kin.

During 2011, the Remuneration Committee has reviewed the existing
terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee and the Incentive
Award Scheme adopted by the Company on 1st December, 2008 and
amended on 16th March, 2010. It has also reviewed and approved cash
awards under the Company'’s Incentive Award Scheme.

The Remuneration Committee has held two meetings during 2011.
Details of individual attendance of its members are set out in the table

below:
Ed: RE
Chairman Members

EEBRE EEERE ERREE

Mr. Wong Mr. Luk Mr. Ong

Tak Shing Chi Cheong Thiam Kin

v Vv Vv

v v Vv
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Pursuant to the amendments to Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, the
terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee were updated on
13th March, 2012 and are available on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

The role and main function of the Nomination Committee is to review the
structure and composition of the Board, and to make recommendation to
the Board on the selection of individual nominated for directorships. As
at the date of this annual report, the Nomination Committee comprises
of one Executive Director and two Independent Non-executive Directors
namely Mr. Ma Guoan (Chairman), Mr. Wong Tak Shing and Mr. Luk
Chi Cheong.

The selection criteria for Directors are the candidate(s) must have
substantial experience in business relevant to the Company or in
corporate management, or in relevant profession and must be able to
contribute effectively to the objectives of the Company. Any committee
member may propose suitable candidates for directorship for discussion
and approval by the Nomination Committee, after which the Board
will consider and, if proper, approve such nomination. Directors thus
selected is subject to re-election by shareholders of the Company in the
next general meeting or next annual general meeting, as appropriate,
according to the Bye-laws of the Company.

During 2011, the Nomination Committee has reviewed the existing terms
of reference of the Nomination Committee as well as the composition of
the Board and its committees.

Pursuant to the amendments to Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, the
terms of reference of the Nomination Committee were updated on 13th
March, 2012 and are available on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

The role and main function of the Investment Committee is to assist
the Board in making investment decisions (including acquisition or
divestment opportunity) within the investment threshold of US$3 million
to US$8 million or other thresholds as authorised by the Board from
time to time.

As at the date of this annual report, the Investment Committee comprises
of one Executive Director namely Mr. Wang Chuandong, one Non-
executive Director namely Mr. Wei Bin and one Independent Non-
executive Director namely Mr. Wong Tak Shing of which Mr. Ong Thiam
Kin and Mr. Luk Chi Cheong are the alternates to Mr. Wang Chuandong
and Mr. Wong Tak Shing respectively. Mr. Wang Chuandong is the
Chairman of the Investment Committee.
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The Investment Committee also passed 2 written resolutions by all
members of the Investment Committee on 8th September, 2011 and
20th December, 2011 respectively to review and approve 2 investment
proposals.

Note:

1. These directors were appointed on 17th June, 2011. Mr Wang Chuandong
was appointed as chairman in place of Mr. Ma Guoan.

Corporate Governance Committee

Pursuant to the amendments to Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, the
Board has resolved to establish a Corporate Governance Committee on
13th March, 2012. The Corporate Governance Committee comprises of
three Independent Non-executive Directors and two Executive Directors
namely Ms. Yu Jian (Chairman), Mr. Wong Tak Shing, Mr. Luk Chi
Cheong, Mr. Wang Chuandong and Mr. Ong Thiam Kin. The terms of
reference of the Corporate Governance Committee contain the revised
Code Provision D.3.1 set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has the overall responsibility of maintaining an effective
internal control system.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, conducts annual review of
the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal control covering
all material controls, including financial control, operational control,
compliance control and risk management system.

The Audit Committee also considers the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of the Company’s accounting, financial
reporting and internal audit functions, and their training programmes
and budget.

The Internal Audit Division assists the Audit Committee to review the
effectiveness of such internal control system in operation. The Division
regularly carries out internal audit and other related audit reviews and
reports its findings and suggestions for improvement on better internal
controls to the Audit Committee for their consideration. During the
year, the Internal Audit Division has also conducted reviews of key risk
management system of the Company. Its findings were reported to the
Audit Committee for consideration and would form the basis for further
improvement in the future.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct in relation to Directors’
securities transactions. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, the
Company confirmed that all Directors have complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR PREPARING
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibilities in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. The statement by the Auditor about
their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements
is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 81.

57




o BB B 3 A
AATRFNEFETEY « BERT &3
BT I R BAT © AR AEBATNFAE
FR GRS B3 1 0B & 24 -

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Company re-appointed Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as independent
auditor during the year. The remuneration for services provided during
the year to the Company’s Auditor includes:

FEBATIRTS - P HARAER
C BRENEBRRBOBRAF

N
2011
FHT
Services rendered HK$’000
Audit services 4,100
Non-audit services for: Interim results review 450
: Shareholders’ circular re
Zhengzhou China Resources
Gas Co., Ltd. 750
. Tax compliance 40

Total 5,340
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities are set out in Note
45 and Note 47 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31st December, 2011 are
set out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on
pages 83 to 84.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

A total of 161,174,785 new shares were issued during the year as a
source of fund for acquisition of more downstream city gas distribution
business and as consideration for the purchase of 7 city gas projects
from CRH. Details of the movements in share capital and share options
of the Company during the year are set out in Note 32 and Note 33 to
the consolidated financial statements respectively.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are set out in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 87 to 89 to
the consolidated financial statements.

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to shareholders at 31st
December, 2011, amounted to HK$7,814,622,000.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Directors have resolved to recommend the payment of a final
dividend of 10 HK cents per share. Together with the interim dividend
of 2 HK cents per share paid in October 2011, total distribution for 2011
would thus be 12 HK cents per share (2010: 10 HK cents per share).

Subject to the approval of shareholders at the forthcoming annual
general meeting, the final dividend will be payable on 15th June, 2012
to shareholders on the register of members of the Company on 6th
June, 2012.
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The register of members of the Company will be closed from 25th May,
2012 to 31st May, 2012, both days inclusive. In order to determine the
identity of members who are entitled to attend and vote at the annual
general meeting to be held on 31st May, 2012, completed transfer
forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company’s branch registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong,
Tricor Secretaries Limited, at 26th Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s
Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 24th May,
2012.

Subject to the approval of shareholders at the annual general meeting,
the proposed final dividend will be payable to shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company after the
close of business at 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 6th June, 2012 and the
register of members of the Company will be closed on Wednesday, 6th
June, 2012, during which no transfer of shares of the Company will be
registered. In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, completed
transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office
in Hong Kong, Tricor Secretaries Limited at 26th Floor, Tesbury Centre,
28 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m.
on Tuesday, 5th June, 2012.

As at the end of the year, the authorized share capital of the Company
was HK$1,000,000,000 dividend into 10,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.10
each, of which 1,992,269,718 shares had been issued and fully paid,
and the shareholders’ equity of the Group was HK$8,102,453,000.

On 16th March, 2011, Thousand Victory Investments Limited, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with Wing Mou Oil Company Limited and Winfield
Petrochemical Limited, to acquire the entire issued share capital of
Flemming Limited (which was owned as to 50% by Wing Mou Oil
Company Limited and 50% by Winfield Petrochemical Limited) for a
consideration of RMB352.95 million, which will be paid in stages upon
fulfilment of certain conditions.

Flemming Limited and its group members are principally engaged in the
operation of 7 city gas distribution businesses in Shandong Province and
Zhejiang Province in the PRC.
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Acquisition of up to additional 5% registered capital in Zibo China
Resources Gas Co., Ltd.

On 5th July, 2011, Zibo China Resources Gas (Hong Kong) Limited,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a corporate
reorganisation agreement with Zibo Xinneng Trade Union Committee,
Zibo Xinneng Group Company and Zibo China Resources Gas Co.,
Ltd (Zibo CR Gas), to acquire up to additional 5% registered capital in
Zibo CR Gas.

The acquisition, upon completion, will increase the stake of the Company
in Zibo CR Gas to more than 50%, which will increase the revenue and
earnings contribution to the Group. The approval from the relevant
authorities in the PRC in respect of the corporate reorganisation are
being obtained as at the date of this annual report.

Acquisition of Fourth Batch of City Gas Projects from CRH

On 22nd July, 2011, for a consideration of HK$1,710 million, the
Company announced the acquisition of a batch of 7 city gas distribution
projects from Powerfaith Enterprises Limited (“Powerfaith”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of its controlling shareholder, CRH. This was the
fourth batch of city gas projects acquired from CRH since the last
three batches in 2008, 2009 and 2010. This batch included projects in
Yueyang, Zhongshan, Jingdezhen, Anyang, Huizhou Dayawan, Dandong
and Dalian Huayuankou.

Some 80% of the gas sales volume of these projects are made to
industrial and commercial customers of higher margins. These projects
offer a lot of room to grow once additional gas supply are increasing
available from West-East Phase 2 pipelines and LNG terminals in these
regions.

After obtaining independent shareholders’ approval and the fulfillment
of all necessary conditions on 31st August, 2011, the consideration was
satisfied by the issue of 161,174,785 shares at HK$10.6096 per share
which represents an approximate 5% discount on the average closing
price of the shares for the 15 trading days of HK$11.1680 up to and
including 21st July, 2011.
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Privatisation and withdrawal of listing of the H shares of Zhengzhou
China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. (“Zhengzhou Gas”) and a voluntary
conditional offer made for all the issued shares of Zhengzhou Gas

On 10th October, 2011, the board of directors of the Company notified
Zhengzhou Gas that it was considering to place before the shareholders
of Zhengzhou Gas a proposal which, if implemented, would result in the
delisting of H shares of Zhengzhou Gas from the Stock Exchange and a
voluntary conditional offer made for all the issued shares of Zhengzhou
Gas, other than those owned by the Company and members of its

group.

The Company subsequently made the offer on 23rd November, 2011
in compliance with the Hong Kong Code on Takeovers and Mergers
(“Takeovers Code”) on the following basis:

For the H share offer — 1.5 new shares of the Company for each H share
held as share consideration rounded down to the nearest whole share
or cash of HK$14.73 for every H share held; and

For the Domestic share offer — cash of RMB12.02 for every Domestic
share held, being RMB equivalent of HK$14.73 based on the exchange
rate.

On 9th January, 2012, the Company and Zhengzhou Gas jointly
announced that the special resolutions to approve the withdrawal
of listing of the H shares were duly passed by way of poll at the H
shares class meeting and the EGM. The valid acceptances have been
received in respect of 22,647,000 H shares and 25,380,333 Domestic
shares, representing 94.41% and 95.00% of the total number of the
votes respectively. In addition, Zhengzhou Gas also announced that the
special resolution to approve amendments to the articles of association
was duly passed by way of poll at the EGM. The valid acceptances have
been received in respect of 96,159,333 Domestic shares, representing
98.63% of the total number of the votes.
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On 6th February, 2012, the Company and Zhengzhou Gas jointly
announced that valid acceptances under the offers had been received
in respect of 100,000 Domestic shares (representing approximately
0.14% of the total issued Domestic shares) and 47,969,222 H shares
(representing approximately 87.11% of the total issued H shares),
among which, cash consideration is applicable to 100,000 Domestic
shares and 1,083,786 H shares and share consideration is applicable
to 46,885,436 H shares initially. The closing date of the offers was
originally set on 6th February, 2012, in order to provide more time for
independent Zhengzhou Gas shareholders who have not accepted the
offers to tender valid acceptance forms, the Company decided to extend
the closing date of the offers to 20th February, 2012.

On 13th February, 2012, the boards of the Company and Zhengzhou Gas
jointly announced that listing of the H shares would be withdrawn from
the Stock Exchange with effect from 9:00 a.m. on 14th February, 2012.

On 20th February, 2012, the Company and Zhengzhou Gas jointly
announced that the offers had closed. The valid acceptances under
the offers had been received in respect of 100,000 Domestic shares
(representing 0.14% of the total issued Domestic shares) and 48,978,667
H shares (representing approximately 88.95% of the total issued H
shares). Cash consideration is applicable to 100,000 Domestic shares
and 1,151,231 H shares and share consideration is applicable to
47,827,436 H shares.

The approvals from the relevant authorities in the PRC in respect of
transferring the above stated 100,000 Domestic shares are still pending
as at the date of this annual report.

On 2nd November, 2011, the Company, through China Resources Gas
(Hong Kong) Investment Limited (“China Resources Gas”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the Joint Venture
Contract, the Supplemental Agreement and the Articles of Association
with XEMREEBE AR A7 (translated as Tianjin Gas group company
Limited) in relation to the proposed establishment of the joint venture
company. The joint venture company will principally engage in, among
other things, the investment, construction and operation of city gas
pipelines, the sale and distribution of gas, the provision of gas related
equipment, apparatus and ancillary services, as well as gas facilities
repair and maintenance in Tianjin Municipality of the PRC.
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The proposed total investment was RMB6 billion (equivalent to
approximately HK$7.39 billion) and the proposed registered capital was
RMBS5 billion (equivalent to approximately HK$6.16 billion), of which 49%
(being RMB2.45 billion, equivalent to approximately HK$3.02 billion)
would be contributed in cash by China Resources Gas. Regulatory
approval from relevant PRC authorities are being sought as at the date
of this report.

The Company, on 9th April, 2010, through China Resources Gas Limited,
its wholly-owned subsidiary, entered into a sino-foreign equity joint
venture arrangement with F R IR @EER (£B) AF (translated as
Nanjing City Jiangning District Gas (Group) Company Limited) pursuant
to the joint venture contract and the articles of association in relation to
the establishment of the joint venture company namely Nanjing Jiangning
China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. (BRI EE B R AR A R]) (“Jiangning
CR Gas”), which became a jointly controlled entity of the Company upon
establishment. Jiangning CR Gas is principally engaged in, among other
things, the investment, construction and operation of the city piped gas
facilities as well as the supply and sale of gas in Jiangning District,
Nanjing City of the PRC. The aggregate cash contribution of RMB600
million was contributed by China Resources Gas Limited to Jiangning
CR Gas for a 49% stake in Jiangning CR Gas.

On 9th November, 2011, the board announced that China Resources
Gas Limited would increase its interest in the registered capital of the
joint venture company from 49% to 70% upon completion of a corporate
reorganisation. The registered capital of the joint venture company
would be reduced from RMB951 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,171.63 million) to RMB665.7 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$820.14 million) and the joint venture company would return an
equivalent amount to EMRTIEEMER (£E) QF (translated as
Nanjing City Jiangning District Gas (Group) Company Limited).

On 31st December, 2011, the corporate reorganisation was completed
and China Resources Gas Limited holds 70% stake in Jiangning CR
Gas.
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On 26th December, 2011, the Company, through China Resources
Gas (China) Investment Limited (“CR Gas Investment”), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the Co-operation
Agreement with Z R 218 B R AR A7) (translated as Ningbo Urban
Construction Planning and Investment Holding Company Limited)
(“Ningbo Urban Construction”) and 2 B¢ A RSB B PR A 7] (translated
as Ningbo Xingguang Gas Group Company) (“Ningbo Xingguang Gas”),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of Ningbo Urban Construction. The proposed
business scope of the joint venture company includes the construction
and operation of the city piped gas facilities as well as the supply and
sale of gas in Ningbo City, the PRC.

The proposed total investment of the joint venture company was up
to RMB4 billion. The joint venture company would be owned by CR
Gas Investment and Ningbo Urban Construction as to 49% and 51%
respectively.

Establishment of the joint venture company is subject to, among
others, an independent asset appraisal of Ningbo Xingguang Gas
and confirmation of such appraisal by the relevant PRC governmental
authorities, finalization of the joint venture contract and other transaction
documentation to be agreed and executed by CR Gas Investment
and Ningbo Urban Construction, including the purchase price for
the acquisition of 49% interest in Ningbo Xingguang Gas by CR Gas
Investment.

CR Gas Investment and Ningbo Urban Construction intend to complete
all the necessary procedures for the establishment of the joint venture,
including (without limitation) asset appraisal and approvals from the
relevant PRC governmental or regulatory authorities, in or around June
2012.

Other acquisitions are stated in Note 35 and Note 36 of the consolidated
financial statements.

On the basis of current financial projections and facilities available, the
Group has adequate financial resources to continue its operation for the
foreseeable future. For this reason, the going concern basis continues to
be adopted in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
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BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

The particulars of bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31st
December, 2011 are set out in Note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A financial summary of the Group for the last five financial periods is set
out on page 220 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT/
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment and
investment properties of the Group during the year are set out in Note
15 and Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Details of the movements in the goodwill and operating rights of the
Group during the year are set out in Note 20 and 21 to the consolidated
financial statements respectively.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31st December, 2011, the aggregate turnover
attributable to the five largest customers accounted for were less than
30% of the Group’s total turnover.

For the year ended 31st December, 2011, the aggregate purchases
attributable to the five largest suppliers accounted for were approximately
84% of the Group’s total purchases, out of which 68% was attributable
to the largest supplier.

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholders (which to the
knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share
capital) has any interest in any of the Group’s five largest customers
or suppliers.

DIRECTORS AND SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
annual report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Ma Guoan
Mr. Wang Chuandong
Mr. Ong Thiam Kin
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Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Du Wenmin
Mr. Wei Bin

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Wong Tak Shing
Mr. Luk Chi Cheong
Ms. Yu Jian

The Company has received an annual confirmation from each Independent
Non-executive Director with each confirming his independence pursuant
to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company still considers such
Directors are independent of the Company.

Pursuant to bye-law 110(A) of the Company’s Bye-laws, Mr. Du Wenmin,
Mr. Wei Bin and Mr. Wong Tak Shing shall retire from office by rotation
at the forthcoming annual general meeting and shall be eligible for re-
election.

None of Directors, including Directors proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting, has a service contract with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

The term of office of each Non-executive Director, including Independent
Non-executive Director, is for a period of three years subject to
requirement that one-third of all the Directors shall retire from office by
rotation at each annual general meeting pursuant to the Bye-laws of
the Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

There was no contract of significance (to which the Company or its
subsidiary or its holding company or its fellow subsidiary was a party)
subsisting during or at the end of the financial year in which a Director
of the Company is or was materially interested, either directly or
indirectly.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The emolument payable to each Director is based on his relevant
qualifications, experience and expertise, his duties and responsibilities
and performance of the Company. The current market situation will also
be taken into account. Bonus and incentive awards may be granted to
individual Directors in recognition of their contribution to the Group. All
the aforesaid form the emolument policy and long term incentive for
Directors of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN SECURITIES

Save as disclosed below, as at 31st December, 2011, none of the
Directors, chief executive of the Company and their associates had
any interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFQ”)) which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they are deemed or taken to have
under such provisions of the SFO) or which were required, pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein,
or which were required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies, to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

(a) RAEQFERTEZERNER (a) Interests in issued ordinary shares of the Company

Fr iz

BEAI

HESRAXR BAEE Aggregate

EERE 51 Long or short Number of percentage

Name of Directors Capacity position shares of interest’

EEREE EREAA A 100,000 0.0050%
Mr. Wang Chuandong Beneficial owner Long position

EARREE EmEAA e 100,000 0.0050%
Mr. Ong Thiam Kin Beneficial owner Long position

HXREE BEHEAA R 54,000 0.0027%
Mr. Du Wenmin Beneficial owner Long position

=S BHEEAA HE 80,000 0.0040%

Mr. Wong Tak Shing Beneficial owner Long position

BiE Note:

-y

hAR-T——F+=-_A=+—H0F~ 1.
RAAREBRIFEBREERRATE
HEBTRANEDLL ©

This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary
shares to the total issued share capital of the Company as at 31st
December, 2011.
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(b) REQAFEB EIEEHAAEERAT (b) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of
(T#A) ERTEBERRERRGOH China Resources Enterprise, Limited (“CRE”), an associated
R corporation of the Company

K
TEE
BR#E  Exercise Frib s
e price HEEH D2
HRRKRE RHHE Number per share HHEAH  Aggregate

EEHE Long or short Number of share (#&7T) Date of percentage

Name of Directors position of shares options’ (HK$) grant  of interest?

T EREE g 300,000 300,000° 10.35 04/10/2004 0.0250%

Mr. Wang Chuandong Long position

HXREE a5) 100,000 - - = 0.0042%

Mr. Du Wenmin Long position
BisE Notes:

1. ULIEERIBIRET 2SR AVABREAR 1. This refers to the number of underlying shares of CRE covered by its
BDEHE - share option schemes.

2. AR -_E——F+_A=+—HFF 2. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary
FREE R AR AR AR 10 0F B A AL shares and underlying shares of CRE to the total issued share capital
FL2HEETREANAE L - of CRE as at 31st December, 2011.

3. BRETNR-_ZTHF+ANBEZ 3. The exercisable period during which the share options may be
T—E+ A= HEE FLAITE - exercised is from 4th October, 2004 to 3rd October, 2014.

4. EXFIRBEOMERREASESI 4. All interests disclosed above are being held by each Director in his
EnlAARNOTEE © capacity as beneficial owner.

5. EEEERT  RENETHERE 5. In each case, HK$1.00 is payable upon acceptance of the share

KA F1.00 7T °

options granted.
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(c) REQARMEBLIEEFEIERER (c) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of
AR (TEHEN]) ERTEERRME China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited (“CRP”),
ARG RS an associated corporation of the Company

57204
TEE
B IR (#7T) Pk s
#H'  Exercise BEEDLL?
HRRKRE RHHE Number price HHEAH  Aggregate

EEHE Long or short Number of share  per share Date of percentage

Name of Directors position of shares options’ (HK$) grant  of interest?

BBz A 55) 22,000° - - = 0.0005%

Mr. Ma Guoan Long position

FEREE HE - 101,800* 2.75  06/10/2003 0.0021%

Mr. Wang Chuandong Long position

HXREE HE 480,240 - - - 0.0101%

Mr. Du Wenmin Long position
(g Notes:

1. ULIEEES HERE S ROE 1. This refers to the number of underlying shares of CRP covered by its

B EE -

AR T——F+=-_A=+—H80~
REBE NEBERIEEROTER
BHERENEHEBRTRANES
i e

BELAEERGEABRALBESEN
ZE LW A

BRETS AN HHE-ZTTW
F ZZETRFE —ZBTREFE -F
TLFERZTENFHARBREZ
T—=F+ARBIBETUITE -

BIESR A RBEES - EXRERD
EREREHEEEUNESHEAY
[ZESEEIE

EEEBRT  REMETHERE
B A 1.00/ 7T °

share option scheme.

2. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary
shares and underlying shares of CRP to the total issued share capital
of CRP as at 31st December, 2011.

3. Mr. Ma Guoan was deemed to be interested in the ordinary shares

through the interest of his spouse.

4. The share options are exercisable in 5 tranches, from 6th October,
2004, 2005, 2006, 2007 and 2008 to 5th October, 2013.

5. Save as otherwise disclosed under note 3, interests disclosed above
are being held by each Director in his capacity as beneficial owner.

6. In each case, HK$1.00 is payable upon acceptance of the share
options granted.



(d) RAQXFAEBEZIEEBEHERLT
(T£HE®]) ERTEBRREBR

(d) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares
of China Resources Land Limited (“CRL”), an associated

7R corporation of the Company
57204
THEE
B AR A (B7x) Frib s
#H'  Exercise BEAEDL?
HRRKXE ROHE Number price BRI AH  Aggregate
BEEME Long or short Number of share  per share Date of percentage
Name of Directors position of shares options’ (HK$) grant  of interest?
MXREE e 1,040,000 - - - 0.0178%
Mr. Du Wenmin Long position
BEE Notes:

1.

LR EE T B s BB AR AT B FT S R A0 AR
B E%E -

AR-F——Ft+_A=+—HmM
FEHENTARRABRD TR L
RIEEHER 2N RTRANED
tt -

EXHREENRERERAERENE
SEBAFDREE

EEEBERT  RENETHOEBRE
BB (1.00/8 7T ©

(e) RALQAMEBZEZEEBRKEZRAR
DA ([EBXE]) ERTHERRMAE

1.

This refers to the number of underlying shares of CRL covered by its
share option scheme.

This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary
shares and underlying shares of CRL to the total issued share capital
of CRL as at 31st December, 2011.

All interests disclosed above are being held by the Director in his
capacity as beneficial owner.

In each case, HK$1.00 is payable upon acceptance of the share
options granted.

(e) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of
China Resources Cement Holdings Limited (“CR Cement”), an

AR R associated corporation of the Company
=10
TEE
HB AR A (%) Frib s
#A Exercise BEADL
HRARKRE ROHE Number price RHEAH  Aggregate
EEHR Long or short Number of share  per share Date of percentage
Name of Directors position of shares options (HKS$) grant of interest’
SRR E HaE 40,0007 — - - 0.0006%
Mr. Ma Guoan Long position
ERREE HE 220,000 - - - 0.0034%
Mr. Ong Thiam Kin Long position
B &E Notes:

1.

AR -B——F+-A=+—HF
FERKRE BT R BREFE K
REWEBITRAMADLL *

BEZEEWE B R BERN
20,000/% & B A i ©

B 2R ARBE  EXRED
THRERERSEEUNESHETAY
[ZESTEIC

1.

This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary
shares of CR Cement to the total issued share capital of CR Cement
as at 31st December, 2011.

Mr. Ma Guoan was deemed to be interest in 20,000 ordinary shares
through the interest of his spouse.

Save as otherwise disclose under note 2, all interest disclosed above
are being held by each Director in his capacity as beneficial owner.
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()

REQTMBEMERES (HEF)
ERAR (EARET ) BRAH

()

Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares
of CRH (Microelectronics) Limited (“CRM”), an associated

R RAEBERG K ES corporation of the Company
=10
THEE
B IR (#&7T) Frib s
#A Exercise BETIL
HRRKRE RHHE Number price RHEAY  Aggregate
EEHE Long or short Number of share  per share Date of percentage
Name of Directors position of shares options (HKS$) grant of interest’
BEEEEE 55) 1,000,000 - - = 0.0049%
Mr. Luk Chi Cheong Long position
BsE Notes:
1. hARZZ——F+ZA=+—HFH 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary

FEBMETERRERAREEHR
MEF2MWEBITRANEILL -

2. EXFABRBENMERSRHZESU
BERlAAFNRHA °

REErE

1.

BRESE

RZZE—F+— At RBERAN
BRETEE ERE2EENTIIR
BESEEZORNAEE - ABE
SEERRE - 2RERETEEE
RTE R AR BRI B AR ERE
E(REMRBEZEIRESE) NE
B REEEFAKEARNEAES
HEFNINZEETNERNZERE
FEE R AEBEEMAKE QBN ERA
EBRER - XBEH  FEMEMBRE
M (REMREZREE) HEMTRA
BREE  AEEEMKERRNE
MEERER : RAREFHAETERR
WERBEAL  ARAQBEZER
ROEMEERZSEERRAM S
DRSS R RN ERES -

shares and underlying shares of CRM to the total issued share capital
of CRM as at 31st December, 2011.

2. All interests disclosed above are being held by a Director in his
capacity as beneficial owner.

INCENTIVE SCHEMES

1.

Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme adopted on 26th
November, 2001 is to promote dedication by its participants and
to encourage its participants to perform their best in achieving
the goals of the Group. The participants are any Director (or any
persons proposed to be appointed as such) and employee of each
member of the Group; any discretionary object of a discretionary
trust established by any employee or Director of each member of
the Group; any executive or employee of any business consultant,
business partner, professional and other advisers to each member
of the Group (or any persons proposed to be appointed as such);
any substantial shareholder of each member of the Group; any
associates of Director or substantial shareholder of the Company;
and any employee of the Company’s substantial shareholder or
any employee of such substantial shareholder’'s subsidiaries or
associated companies, as absolutely determined by the Board.



RIZEZERFOA TR ARTHR
REFREL BRRABETERER
BHREBNR D BRE BB
HELER - BRI HE % A R0 T
265,591,407/ fx 1 (BI Lt B AR
BITIRIDEN10%) HEEARHE

RAFERBH - RBP4t
TR AR 7 48 2 5188,0000% + (57
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(a) EFHEERGEF
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BEESRARBBRENES
fEfa]#ERS ©

The scheme mandate limit under the Share Option Scheme was
refreshed and renewed by ordinary resolution passed by the
shareholders at the annual general meeting held on 25th April,
2005 which enabled the grant of further share options to subscribe
up to 265,591,407 shares representing 10% of the shares in issue
as at the said date.

As at the date of the annual report, the total number of shares
available for issue pursuant to the Share Option Scheme was
188,000, representing about 0.01% of the issued share capital of
the Company. The maximum entitlement for any one participant
is that the total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each participant (including both
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the total number of shares in
issue.

The period within which the shares must be taken up under an
option shall not be later than 10 years from the date the option is
granted. There is no minimum period for which an option must be
held before it can be exercised. HK$1.00 is payable on acceptance
of the option within 28 days from its date of grant. The subscription
price is the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant,
(i) a price being the average of the closing prices of the shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the
five business days immediately preceding the date of grant and
(iii) the nominal value of a share. As the Share Option Scheme has
been terminated in 2008, no more option can be issued pursuant
to the Share Option Scheme but in all other respects the provisions
of the Share Option Scheme share remain in force.

(a) Directors’ right to acquire shares

None of the Directors has any interests in the share options
of the Company as at 31st December, 2011.
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(b) ERREMSBEEBEERZH#E
7

FN - REFERE B EHE
EERRREME QRN ZE R
AES (TBEAEEESMA
REESE) WEREZEE LM

(b) Employees and other participants’ right to acquire shares

A summary of the movements of the share options in relation to
the employees of substantial shareholder and its subsidiaries
and associated companies (other than employees of the
Group and Directors of the Company) under the New Share
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N Option Scheme during the year is as follows:
BREHE
Number of share options
RZE——F§
R-E——F +=A
BRTEE —H—H =t+-H
(B7) i RATEE i i " i i RATHE
Exercise Outstanding FREH FRITE FREEH FR%M Outstanding
price as at Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed as at 31st
BE B8 per share 1st January, during during during during  December,
Date of grant (HK$) 2011 the year the year the year the year 2011
—ZEZFWANR 8.200 186,000 - - - - 186,000
09/04/2002°
—EEME-A+=H? 9.060 2,000 = = - - 2,000
13/01/2004°
188,000 - - - - 188,000
B3 - Notes:
1. BREENRSE Tg_% 1. The share options are either vested immediately and exercisable

T_FMANBRE=ST—=
FMA\H IEER T AT
KAOMIERE TE_TT=
FMNAAE ZTT=F - =
ZENER-_TTZRF—HA—
BEE-_Z——FMANAI
HAR T LATTfE ©

2. WEEASHEE TE-F
THF - —FEAFR-FF
tF—A+=ARE=2—N
B+ = BRI T -

from 9th April, 2002 to 8th April, 2012 or vested in 4 tranches
and exercisable on 9th April, 2002, 1st January, 2003, 2004 and
2005 to 8th April, 2012.

2. The share options are vested in 3 tranches and exercisable on
13th January, 2005, 2006 and 2007 to 12th January, 2014,
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Directors’ Report

On 1st December, 2008, the Company adopted a share
repurchased cash award scheme (the “Incentive Award Scheme”)
in which selected employees of the Group or investee companies
(being any company in which the Company directly or indirectly
owns 5% or more attributable equity interests and in calculating
the percentage interest so attributed (the “Investee Company”),
the percentage interest held in the Investee Company shall be
multiplied by the percentage interest in each level of entity through
which such interest is held by the Group), are entitled to participate
in the Incentive Award Scheme pursuant to the scheme rules.

The purpose of the Incentive Award Scheme is to recognise and
motivate the contribution of certain employees and to provide
incentives and to enable the Group and the Investee Companies
in retaining its existing employees and recruiting additional
employees and to provide them with a direct economic interest in
attaining the long-term business objectives of the Company. Unless
early termination by the Board, the Incentive Award Scheme shall
be valid and effective for a term of 10 years commencing on the
adoption date. The maximum aggregate numbers of award shares
which can be awarded under the Incentive Award Scheme and
to a selected employee throughout its duration are limited to 5%
and 0.5% respectively of the issued share capital of the Company

from time to time.

Pursuant to the rules of the Incentive Award Scheme, the Company
has appointed BOCI-Prudential Trustee Limited as trustee (the
“Trustee”), pursuant to which existing shares will be purchased
by the Trustee from the market out of cash contributed by the
Group and be held in trust for the relevant selected employees
until such shares are vested with the relevant selected employees
in accordance with the provisions of the Incentive Award Scheme.
A total of 70,000,000 shares were purchased at an aggregate cost
of approximately HK$253,999,000 (including transaction costs) on
7th April, 2009, representing approximately 4.95% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at date of acquisition and held by
the Trustee. The Company does not intend to purchase any further
share under the Incentive Award Scheme.
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On 16th March, 2010, the Company amended the Incentive Award
Scheme such that cash instead of award shares will be awarded
under the Incentive Award Scheme. The Company will utilize the
proceeds generated from disposal of the award shares held by
the Trustee for the awards made under the scheme. The awards
will be subject to the approval of the Company’s Remuneration
Committee and the cash under the award will only be given upon
fulfillment of relevant vesting conditions imposed on the date of
grant of the award.

On 20th April, 2011 and 7th September, 2011, upon the approvals
of the Remuneration Committee, the Company granted 2 batches of
4,831,585 award shares and 2,909,911 award shares respectively,
totalling 7,741,496 award shares which vested immediately. During
the year, the Trustee disposed of these award shares which
generated a net proceeds of HK$91,489,000, and distributed these
to selected employees including 3 executive directors. Details of
the movement during the year of the award shares held by the
Trustee are as follows:

REBROEE
Number of
award shares

RZZEZNEFNALHEE Purchased on 7th April, 2009 70,000,000
R-E—ZTERERHE Granted and disposed of during 2010 (1,818,000)
RZZTE——F—A—HOEH Balance as at 1st January, 2011 68,182,000

——ERERHE Granted and disposed of during 2011 (7,741,496)
R-E——F+=-A=+—HN&EH% Balance as at 31st December, 2011 60,440,504
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Directors’ Report

The Company has entered into certain connected transactions with
connected persons, details of which are set out bellow:

On 22nd July, 2011, the Company entered into a share purchase
agreement with, amongst others, Powerfaith, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of CRH, the substantial and controlling shareholder of
the Company, to acquire the entire issued share capital of Wang
Gao Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of CRH with
7 city gas projects, for a consideration of HK$1.71 billion. The
consideration was satisfied by the issue of 161,174,785 shares
of the Company at HK$10.6096 per share. The acquisition was a
discloseable and connected transaction of the Company under
the Listing Rules and completed on 2nd September, 2011 upon
obtaining necessary shareholders’ approval and the fulfillment
of all necessary conditions. The closing price of the shares has
increased on completion date and the consideration became
HK$1.93 billion based on fair value for accounting purpose.

During the year, members of the Group have entered into ongoing
connected transactions with connected persons, details of which
are subject to the reporting requirements under rule 14A.46 of the
Listing Rules and are summarised herein below. The Company’s
auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits
or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference
to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The
auditor has issued an unqualified letter containing findings and
conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions
disclosed by the Group as below in accordance with Main Board
Listing Rule 14A.38. The Independent Non-executive Directors
have reviewed the ongoing connected transactions and confirmed
that the ongoing connected transactions have been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
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(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

on normal commercial terms or, if there are not sufficient
comparable transactions to judge whether they are on normal
commercial terms, on terms no less favourable to the Group
than terms available to or from (as appropriate) independent
third parties and on arm'’s length basis;

in accordance with the relevant agreement governing them;

on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interest of
the shareholders as a whole; and

without exceeding the relevant cap disclosed in previous

relevant announcements.

The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules

for the year ended 31st December, 2011.

Details of the above-mentioned ongoing connected transactions are

summarized as follows:

Sale and Purchase Agreement

Purchase of natural gas by a number of subsidiaries
of the Company from Shanxi Natural Gas Limited* (I
TRAFAMD BRAF]), a limited liability company
established in the PRC and is the substantial
shareholder of these subsidiaries of the Company
namely, Yangquan China Resources Gas Limited,
Datong China Resources Gas Co., Ltd, Hongdong
China Resources Hengfu Gas Co., Ltd., Huozhou
China Resources Gas Co., Ltd.* and Yangqu China
Resources Gas Co., Limited respectively.

Strategic Cooperation Agreement

Placing of deposits with Zhuhai City Commercial
Bank Co., Ltd., (“Zhuhai Commercial Bank”), a
municipal bank headquartered in Zhuhai, in which
China Resources Co., Limited (“CRC”) has a
controlling interest. CRH, the Company’s controlling
shareholder, is a subsidiary of CRC.

The interest on the deposits are based on the same
interest rate and on the same term and conditions
as apply to a similar deposit made by any other
customer of Zhuhai Commercial Bank, which rates
are determined by the Peoples’ Bank of China.

* Name translated for reference purpose only
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed below, the Directors and chief executive of the

Company are not aware that there was any party (other than a Director

or chief executive of the Company), who, as at 31st December, 2011

had an interest or short position in the shares and underlying shares of

the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under

the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section

HIAAE 336 of the SFO:
RAEXTNHEE Long position in the Company
PRt
BEAL
HREKR RABE  Aggregate
BRREE 54 g Long or Number of  percentage
Name of shareholder Capacity Nature of interest short position shares  of interest’
CRH (Gas) Limited ERBAA ERABA e 1,407,828,991 70.66%
([CRH Gas] )? Beneficial owner Beneficial interest Long position
ZHEE? REHR AR NGIL HE 1,411,360,991 70.84%
CRH? Controlled company's interest Corporate interest Long position
CRC Bluesky Limited REHI AR R REER e 1,411,360,991 70.84%
([CRC Bluesky] )? Controlled company'’s interest Corporate interest Long position
ERROBERLR (EBERG): REHNAFANES DAl A 1,411,360,991 70.84%
China Resources Co., Limited Controlled company’s interest Corporate interest Long position
(“CRCL"?
PEEREAR ((TEEHE])? R A DAl 35 1,411,360,991 70.84%

China Resources National Corp.
(“CRNC")?

Bl

Controlled company'’s interest

Notes:

Corporate interest

—_

WAR-T——F+ -_A=1+—HFH
B FRBEEARE 2D EITEA
WEDL -

CRH GaskCommotra Company
Limited% Bl 74 4 2 7]1,407,828,991 % i&
15 %3,532,000/% % 7 B H g -
ZMRARAEREENZENBR
Al FEL - FHEBEBRBERRARN
1,411,360,9910& B 17 R HE B 2 o ZEH
£ E ACRC Bluesky® 2 &M E A A -
EMBERRNEERS - ERRMHIA
FEEENZEMBAR - Bt - BEE
+ CRC Bluesky * ZEE g7 & 4 B H
WARVER AR A 7#91,411,360,991 4% ik 5
hEERER

Long position

1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in shares to the
total issued share capital of the Company as at 31st December, 2011.

2. CRH Gas and Commotra Company Limited directly interested in
1,407,828,991 shares and 3,532,000 shares in the Company respectively
and both companies are wholly-owned subsidiaries of CRH. CRH is therefore
deemed to be interested in 1,411,360,991 shares of the Company. CRH is a
wholly-owned subsidiary of CRC Bluesky, which is in turn wholly-owned by
CRCL. CRCL is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CRNC. So, CRH, CRC Bluesky,
CRCL and CRNC are therefore deemed to have interest in 1,411,360,991

shares of the Company.
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On 15th February, 2011, the Company, as borrower, entered into a
facility agreement with a bank in relation to a HK$800 million 5-year term
loan facility. The loan facility is unsecured and interest bearing with any
outstanding amount to be repaid in full on the date falling five years from
the date of the facility agreement.

On 11th July, 2011, the Company, as borrower, entered into a facility
agreement with a bank in relation to a HK$800 million 5-year term
loan facility. The facility is unsecured and interest bearing with any
outstanding amount to be repaid in full on the date falling five years
from the date of the facility agreement.

Pursuant to the aforesaid facility agreements, the controlling shareholder
of the Company, China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited is
required, at all times, to hold an aggregate beneficial ownership (directly
or indirectly) of not less than 50 per cent. in the issued share capital
of the Company (the “Specific Performance Obligation”). It will be an
event of default if the Specific Performance Obligation is breached;
and in such case, the relevant banks shall declare the commitments
to be cancelled and/or declare all outstanding amounts together with
interests accrued thereon and all other sums payable by the Company
to be immediately due and payable.

Other than as disclosed in this report, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
shares during the year.

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Bye-laws although there are no restrictions against such rights under
the laws of Bermuda.

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of its Directors, as at the date of this annual report,
there is sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s
issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.

The financial statements for the year have been audited by Messrs
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. A resolution will be submitted to the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to re-appoint
Messrs Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as the auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED
Chairman

MA GUOAN

Hong Kong, 13th March, 2012
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B A% B R
Independent Auditor’s Report

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Resources Gas Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 83 to 219,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31st December, 2011, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to
the entity’s preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31st December, 2011,
and of its profit and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
13th March, 2012
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HE-_T——F+-_A=+—HILFE

—ZE——F —T-TF
2011 2010
FHExT FHET
HK$°000 HK$'000
Mo 5E (&%)
NOTES (Restated)
] Turnover 8 13,506,632 9,331,482
SHERA Cost of sales (9,534,172) (6,593,739)
EF Gross profit 3,972,460 2,737,743
HAb A Other income 447,703 226,032
SHERDHAX Selling and distribution expenses (1,083,752) (640,283)
THRAX Administrative expenses (1,229,354) (890,448)
2,107,057 1,433,044
B TS AR Finance costs 9 (76,809) (81,599)
FEMREE DRI ¥EE Share of results of associates 117,454 15,524
B A Profit before taxation 2,147,702 1,366,969
1A Taxation 10 (551,294) (328,785)
F R F Profit for the year 11 1,596,408 1,038,184
FREMEERA Other comprehensive income for
the year
BREEENELZME Exchange differences arising
on translation 554,754 264,302
A EIRERN AT EEE Fair value loss on available-
for-sale investments - (2,160)
FEMREE AR EmEEmKRA Share of other comprehensive income
of associates 50,707 3,663
605,461 265,805
FREEMB AL Total comprehensive income for the year 2,201,869 1,303,989
AR AL EEFEREF Profit for the year attributable to:
KARER A Owners of the Company 1,200,473 786,676
JEFE R 2 Non-controlling interests 395,935 251,508
1,596,408 1,038,184
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—E2——F —E-ZF
2011 2010
FExT FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
k=3 (E71)
NOTES (Restated)
IATALTREEFER Total comprehensive income for the year
PHERAEEE attributable to:
RAREER A Owners of the Company 1,743,901 1,033,237
FEFERR Non-controlling interests 457,968 270,752
2,201,869 1,303,989
BT T
HK$ HK$
(&%)
(Restated)
HRAEF Earnings per share
AR Basic 14 0.66 0.54
5 1 Diluted 0.66 0.54
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Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Prepaid lease payments
Investment properties
Interests in associates
Available-for-sale investments
Goodwill
Operating rights
Deferred tax assets
Deposit for operating rights
Deposit for prepaid lease

payments

Deposit for investments

Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables

Amounts due from customers
for contract work
Prepaid lease payments
Amounts due from
fellow subsidiaries
Pledged bank deposits
Bank balances and cash

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

Amounts due to customers for
contract work

Amounts due to fellow
subsidiaries

Government grants

Bank and other borrowings

Taxation payable

Net current assets (liabilities)

f
NOTES

15
16
17
18
19
20
21
31

22

23

24
16

25

26
26

27

24

25

28
29
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At 31st December, 2011

—g——%
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31.12.2011
FBR
HK$’000

10,554,637
844,531
26,701
1,642,728
28,493
589,579
728,953
121,274
61,675

29,564

14,628,135

412,178

2,713,646

618,509
35,689

89,581
17,891
6,889,999

10,777,493

4,068,037

3,153,842

213,536
1,181
1,536,083
196,146

9,168,825
1,608,668
16,236,803

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED

e M BRI R

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

—E—FF
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31.12.2010
TFHET
HK$’000
(E%)
(Restated)

9,100,672
850,292
11,647
85,249
47,795
527,253
716,384
132,188

9,776

11,481,256

268,709

1,771,264

398,319
33,723

103,558
14,875
6,707,419

9,297,867

3,666,749

1,658,615

963,731

6,645
534,199
160,375

6,990,314
2,307,653
13,788,809

RZE——F+=-A=+—8

—E—FF
—A—H
1.1.2010
TR
HK$'000
(E31)

(Restated)

4,652,574
302,489
11,358
21,733
28,5622
226,991
668,963
58,575

44,273
1,321,423

7,336,901

200,148

826,381

264,723
13,983

282,677
19,262
3,111,831

4,719,005

2,220,869

839,042

726,061
1,022
1,356,689
70,096

5,213,779
(494,774)
6,842,127
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31.12.2011 31.12.2010 1.1.2010
FHERT T T
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5E (E5)) (&%)
NOTES (Restated) (Restated)
BN EE Capital and reserves
A& A Share capital 32 199,227 183,109 141,442
& Reserves 7,903,226 5,648,428 2,350,723
RAEEER ARG Equity attributable to owners
of the Company 8,102,453 5,831,537 2,492,165
JEIE R A 25 Non-controlling interests 2,516,094 2,152,375 966,918
10,618,547 7,983,912 3,459,083
Bl EIN= Non-current liabilities
BISfHEE Government grants 28 69,268 57,895 13,349
WITREMEE Bank and other borrowings 29 4,963,513 5,156,274 1,391,800
HEiREEE Other long-term liabilities 30 194,567 124,287 115,092
EANIEES D= NGIE S Amount due to a fellow
subsidiary 25 - - 1,600,000
EEFIEAE Deferred tax liabilities Sl 390,908 466,441 262,803
5,618,256 5,804,897 3,383,044
16,236,803 13,788,809 6,842,127




For the year ended 31st December, 2011

E-T——F+-A=+—HILtFE

KAREEAES
Attributable to owners of the Company
AREHE
KEZRH
Shares  REEfE
BRERE  held for i FERER
BE  BMAE  AABH  EABE  ENBE  Share incentive Investment HMEE AHEE RBEA Non-  BA#E
Share  Share Contributed  Capital Translation ~ option  award revaluation Other  Merger  Retained it controlling Total
capital  premium  surplus  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  profits Total interests equity
Tér TEn TEr  TEr  TEr T TAr  TEr  TEr  TEr TR A TEn TEn
HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000  HK$000
(Fiita)  (Hilb) (Fiite)  (Fita)
(Notea)  (Note b) (Notec)  (Note d)
R-B-FE—F-8 (RE2J)) At 1st January, 2010, as previously restated 141,442 3,750,691 - 36361 154256 13436 (253999) 2160 141464 (2821,102) 940204 2424913 732605 3157518
HREHEBNER Effect of business combination of entties
alvE (i) under common conirol (Note 2) - - - - 97 - - - 4% - B4 67250 234313 301565
R=2-%F—F-A (&) At 1st January, 2010, as restated 141442 3,750,691 - 36361 164050 13436 (263,999) 2160 146448 (28211020 992678 2492165 966,918 3459083
FhEF Proftfor the year - - - - - - - - - - 76T 78666 51508 103184
BEELNEZE Exchange differences arising on translation - - - - 245068 - - - - - - 5058 19244 264302
AHHERENLTEEE Fair value loss on avallable-for-sale investments - - - - - - - (2160) - - - (2160) - (2160)
[EEBEAREHREHRA Share of other comprefensive
income of associates = = = = 3,663 = = = = = = 3,663 = 3,663
FREHZERA Other comprehensive income for the year - - - - gt - - (2160 - = - 561 19244 265805
FR2ENAEE Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - U8 - - (2,160) - - 786676 1033237 270752 1,303,989
BERR Placing of shares 23000 2,449,500 - - - - - - - - - 2472500 - 2472500
RABAREHEER Issue of shares upon combination of enifies
BRI (Hi32(p)) under common control (Note 32(b)) 18,665 2202490 - - - - - - - (2201,155) - - - -
BARGEY Share issue expenses - (14275 - - - - - - = B - (14275 - (1425
TERREREAHRG Shares issued upon exercise of share options 2 194 - - - - - - - - - 19 - 1%
WERBAT (3s5) Acquisttion of subsidaries (Note 35) - - - - - - - - = B = - 6166% 616636
WERHBARNE bR Acquisiion of additionel interest in subsiciares - - - (T403) - - - - - - - (T40%)  (1640) (75672
WERERHERE (Hit36) Acquistion of jointly controlled
entities (Note 36) - - - - - - - - - - - - 62463 62463
Ui R BRI (W5E36)  Discount on acquisiion of
jointly controlled entities (Note 36) - - - 1949 - - - - - - - 19490 - 19490
L& ARET IR 2R Disposal of shares held for
incentive award scheme = = = = = = 6,600 = = = 14,690 2129 = 2129
FaRELTE Capital contributon from
non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - - - - - 64525 2545%
SEHER Transfers between categories - - - - - - - B INZY) - (91740) B = B
EHRE Dividends paid - - - - - - - - - - (91990)  (91,990) - (919%0)
BRRZNERR Dividends paid to a fellow suosidiary which
(HERFARE) RE is  former sharefolder of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - (r04)  (1044) - (2n0m)
DHMBARARESRE  Dividends paid to non-controling
interests of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - - - (17219 (17,219
R-E-FF+-A=1-R At 31t December, 2010 183,109 8,388,600 - 01819 41271 13436 (247,399) - 238188 (5042257) 1583270 5831537 2152375 7,983912
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For the year ended 31st December, 2011

BE

T+ A=+—BItFE

KAREEAES
Attributable to owners of the Company
BREHE
KEZRH
Shares ~ REEf
BRERE  held for i FERER
BA  RGEE SAR%  EAEE  EXBHE  Share incentive Investment HfthE  AKEE REEA Non-  BA#E
Share  Share Contributed  Capital Translation ~ option ~ award revaluation Other  Merger  Retained it controlling Total
capital  premium  surplus  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  profits Total interests equity
Tér TEr TEr TEr  TEr T  TAr TR TEr TR TR TEr  TEn TEn
HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$000  HKSO000  HKS000  HK$000  HK$000
(Wta)  (Hitb) (Mike)  (Hitd)
(Notea)  (Note b) (Notec) ~ (Note d)
Egh| Profit for the year - - - - - - - - - - 1200473 1200478 395935 1,596,408
BERENEZE Exchange differences arising on translation - - - - 49721 - - - - - - 4271 62033 554754
[EEBEAA Share of ather comprehensive
Efb2ERA income of associates - - - - 50707 - - - - - - a7 - a7
FREMBZERA Other comprefensive income for the year - B - - 543428 B = = = = - 543428 62033 605461
FR2ERAEE Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - 543428 - - - - - 1200473 1743901 457968 2201869
FERERTE Captal contriouton from non-controling interests - - - - - - - - - - - - BT 227
RABAREHEER Issue of shares upon combination of
BRI (Hia2() entities under common control (Note 32(c)) 16,118 1914756 - - - - - - - (1.930874) - - - -
WERBAT (H3s5) Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 35) - - - - - - - - = B = - 69613 69613
WERHBARNE bR Acauistion of additional interest in a subsidary - - - (5083 - - - - = - - (5083%) (131081) (181919
RARRIHERD Loss of jointly conirol over a jointly
RRHIE (i) controlled ety (Note 37) - - - - (32169 - - - (1669) - 3383 - (54652 (54652
ResEEL Arising from group reorganisation - - - - - - - - - 660613 - 660613 - 660613
HERREHE Disposal of shares held for incentive
Rk award scheme - - - - - - 8101 - - - 63388 91489 - 91489
SEEER Transfers between categories - (7,388,600) 7,388,600 - - - - - 196,045 - (196,045) - - -
BiRE Dividends paid - - - - - - - - - - (174249)  (174,249) - (174249
BRHEAR Dividends paid to non-controling
FERERRS interests of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - - - (43068)  (43%)
RZF—%+ZA=+-R At 31t December, 2011 199227 2914756 7388600 250981 924,034 13436 (219.298) - 432564 (6312518) 2510671 8102453 2516094 10,618,547
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For the year ended 31st December, 2011

BE-T —Ft-ASt-ALEE

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Pursuant to the approval of a special resolution at the special general
meeting of the Company on 30th May, 2011, the amount of HK$7,388,600,000
standing to the credit of share premium has been reduced and transferred
to the contributed surplus. The contributed surplus is a distributable reserve
and will be used for payment of dividends and for such other purposes as
allowed by the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.

Capital reserve arises from (a) discount on acquisition of jointly controlled
entities from an intermediate holding company and fellow subsidiaries of the
Group in prior years and (b) the difference between the amount by which
the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the consideration paid for the
acquisition of additional interest in subsidiaries.

Other reserves comprise general reserve, statutory surplus reserve,
enterprise expansion fund, statutory public welfare fund and discretionary
surplus reserve of subsidiaries established in People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”).

General reserve is appropriated each year on the basis of 5% to 10% of the
profit after taxation of certain subsidiaries as determined by their board of
directors in accordance with the Articles of Association of the subsidiaries.
This reserve should only be used for making up losses, capitalisation into
capital and expansion of production and operation.

Merger reserve represented the difference between (i) the cash consideration
paid, deemed distribution to a fellow subsidiary and shares issued by the
Company; and (ii) the amount of issued capital and premium of the combined
entities under group reorganisations.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31st December, 2011 HE-_ZT——F+-_A=+—HILFE
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OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before taxation
Adjustments for:
Interest expense
Interest income
Government grants recognised
Share of results of associates
Dividend income from available-for-sale
investments
(Gain) loss on disposal of property, plant
and equipment
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale
investments
Impairment loss recognised on
trade receivables
Impairment loss recognised on inventories
Release from prepaid lease payments
Amortisation of operating rights
Depreciation of property, plant
and equipment
Depreciation of investment properties

Operating cash flows before movements
in working capital

(Increase) decrease in inventories

Increase in trade and
other receivables

Increase in amounts due from customers
for contract work

Increase (decrease) in trade and
other payables

Increase in amounts due to customers for
contract work

Cash generated from operations
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid

NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

—E——F
2011
TExT
HK$’000

2,147,702

76,809
(94,408)
(46,673)

(117,454)

(10,037)

(665)
2,894
954
20,512

33,193

449,506
1,355

2,463,688
(126,048)

(734,971)

(200,423)

164,551

1,055,714

2,622,511
(512,600)

2,109,911

—E-ZF
2010
TET
HK$'000
(E51)
(Restated)

1,366,969
81,599
(55,376)
(39,529)
(15,524)
(440)
362
(280)
9,961

17,691
29,943

399,560
624

1,795,560
48,926

(295,826)

(100,585)

(169,311)

653,658

1,932,422
(252,735)

1,679,687
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31st December, 2011 HE—Z——F+-_A=+—HLFE

= —T-TF
2011 2010
FTHERT FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
k=3 (&31)
NOTES (Restated)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment 133,058 94,137
Repayment from (advance to)
fellow subsidiaries 97,569 (41,928)
Interest received 94,408 55,376
Government grants received 70,431 77,979
Dividend received from associates 60,834 2,902
Proceeds from disposal of
available-for-sale investments 9,901 453
Proceeds from disposal of
prepaid lease payments 2,354 =

Payments for acquisition of property,

plant and equipment (1,643,760) (1,965,701)
Net cash outflow from loss of

joint control over a jointly

controlled entity 37 (530,484) -
Acquisition of subsidiaries 35 (191,942) (54,425)
Advance to a joint venturer of

a jointly controlled entity (178,657) -
Deemed acquisition of additional

interests in a jointly controlled entity (175,864) -
Acquisition of jointly controlled entities 36 (86,578) 144,072
Prepaid lease payments made (64,715) (171,763)
Deposit paid for acquisition of

operating right (61,675) -
Payments for operating rights (30,125) (26,747)
Deposit for acquisition of

prepaid lease payments (29,564) (9,776)
Payments for acquisition of

investment properties (15,570) (521)
Investment in associates (12,261) (2,812)
Payments for acquisition of

available-for-sale investments (14,019) (2,428)
Decrease (increase) in pledged

bank deposits (2,278) 5,056

Dividends received from
available-for-sale investments - 440

NET CASH USED IN
INVESTING ACTIVITIES (2,568,937) (1,895,686)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31st December, 2011
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FINANCING ACTIVITIES
New bank and other borrowings raised
Proceeds from disposal of shares held
for incentive award scheme
Contribution from non-controlling
interest of subsidiaries
Acquisition of additional interests
in subsidiaries
Dividends paid
(Repayment to) advances from
fellow subsidiaries
Repayments of bank and other borrowings
Interest paid on bank and
other borrowings
Dividends paid to non-controlling
interests of subsidiaries
Placing of shares
Share issued upon exercise of
share options
Repayment to a fellow subsidiary

Dividends paid to a fellow subsidiary
which is a former shareholder of
subsidiaries

Share issue expenses

NET CASH FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR

EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE
RATE CHANGES

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
END OF THE YEAR,
representing bank balances and cash

BT —F+-A=+HILFE

—E——F

2011
FET
HK$°000

887,500

91,489

26,267

(181,919)
(174,249)

(173,531)
(151,687)

(74,160)

(4,396)

245,314

(213,712)

6,707,419

396,292

6,889,999

—E-ZF
2010
THETT
HK$'000
(E51)
(Restated)

3,746,468

21,290

254,525

(75,672)
(91,990)

179,828
(1,037,958)

(78,963)

(17,279)
2,472,500

196

(1,600,000)

(27,044)
(14,275)

3,731,626

3,515,627

3,111,831

79,961

6,707,419
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2011 HE-_T——F+-_A=+—HILFE

The Company is a listed public company incorporated in
Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability and its
shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”). The Company’s intermediate parent
company is China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited
(“CRH"), a company incorporated in Hong Kong and its ultimate
holding company is China Resources National Corp. (“CRNC”),
a company established in the PRC. The addresses of registered
office and principal place of business of the Company are
disclosed in the Corporate Information in the annual report.

The functional currency of the Company is Renminbi. The
Company uses Hong Kong dollars as its presentation currency
because the Company is a public company with its shares listed
on the Stock Exchange.

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of
its principal subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities
are set out in notes 45, 46 and 47, respectively.

During the year, the Company acquired 100% equity interests
in Wang Gao Limited (“Wang Gao”) on 5th September, 2011
for a consideration of HK$1,930,874,000 which was settled by
allotment and issue of 161,174,785 shares of the Company.
The consideration disclosed in the Company’s circular dated
12th August, 2011 was HK$1,710,000,000, represented by
161,174,785 shares in the Company at HK$10.6096 per share.
The difference from the final consideration of HK$1,930,874,000
which is arrived at using the share price of HK$11.98 on
completion date of the acquisition, was due to the fluctuation
in share price of the Company during the period from date of
circular and the date of completion of acquisition. In the previous
financial year, the Company acquired 100% equity interests in
Mega Fair Limited (“Mega Fair”) on 25th October, 2010, for a
consideration of HK$2,221,155,000 (details are set out in the
Company’s circular dated 25th October, 2010). The Group, Mega
Fair and its subsidiaries (“Mega Fair Group”) and Wang Gao and
its subsidiaries (“Wang Gao Group”) are engaged in sales of
liquefied gas and connection of gas pipelines in the PRC.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2011
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The Group, Mega Fair Group and Wang Gao Group are ultimately
controlled by CRNC before and after the group reorganisation,
and that control is not transitory. The Group, Mega Fair Group
and Wang Gao Group are regarded as continuing entities as at
the dates of business combinations and hence the acquisitions
have been accounted for as combinations of entities under
common control by applying the principles of merger accounting
in accordance with Accounting Guideline 5 “Merger Accounting
for Common Control Combinations” (“AG 5”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”).
Accordingly, the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows of the Group for the two
years ended 31st December, 2010 and 2011 include the results
of operations, changes in equity and cash flows of the companies
now comprising the Group as if the current group structure upon
the completion of the group reorganisation had been in existence
throughout the two years ended 31st December, 2010 and 2011,
or since their respective dates of incorporation or establishment
where this is a shorter period, except for the jointly controlled
entities acquired by Mega Fair Group and Wang Gao Group
during the two years ended 31st December, 2010 and 2011 as
disclosed in Note 36, which are included in the consolidated
financial statements since their respective dates of acquisitions.
The consolidated statements of financial position of the Group as
at 1st January, 2010, 31st December, 2010 and 31st December,
2011 have been prepared to present the assets and liabilities
of the companies now comprising the Group as if current group
structure had been in existence as at the respective dates,
except for the jointly controlled entities acquired by Mega Fair
Group and Wang Gao Group during the two years ended 31st
December, 2010 and 2011 as disclosed in Note 36, which are
consolidated since their respective dates of acquisition.

Apart from the aforesaid business combination of entities
under common control, the Group has retrospectively adjusted
the provisional fair values of the assets and liabilities of
jointly controlled entities acquired during the year ended
31st December, 2010 to reflect the fair value adjustments made
upon completion of the purchase accounting during the current
year. Adjustments have been made retrospectively to property,
plant and equipment, prepaid lease payments, goodwill and
deferred tax liabilities as set out in Note 36.



mAREE ()

For the year ended 31st December, 2011

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

HE-_T——F+-_A=+—HILFE

(a) LlZESIHHE_T—TF (a) The effects of those restatements described above on the

ToA=T—HLEFEHRAZH

consolidated statement of comprehensive income during

IWAFRERA LT WT the year ended 31st December, 2010 are as follow:
TRUBLRE REEH
EHERN BRER
SHRENTE Afhze
Effect of the Effect of
finalisation of business
accounting for combination
acquisition of of entities
jointly under
“2-%% controlled common “Z-%%
2010 entities control 2010
TEm T FiEn FiEn
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(R%25) (Ft3%36) (E51)
(Previously stated) (Note 36) (Restated)
BXE Turnover 8,326,747 = 1,004,747 9,331,482
HERA Cost of sales (5,851,881) (10,496) (731374) (6,593,739)
ES) Gross profi 2,474,866 (10,496 273373 2,737,743
EBA Other income 209,909 - 16,123 226,032
HERAHAT Selling and distribution expenses (544,574) = (95,709) (640,283)
iR Adminisrative expenses (800,613) (4,094) (85,741) (890,448)
1,339,588 (14,590) 108,046 1,433,044
BTBRA Finance costs (79,733) = (1,866) (81,599)
L YN Share of results of associates 15,524 = = 15,524
WRRATER Profit before taxation 1,275,379 (14,500) 106,180 1,366,969
i Taxation (304,980) 3,647 (27 452) (328,785)
FREF Profit for the year 970,399 (10,943) 78,728 1,038,184
EREHZANA Other comprehensive income for the year
REEARESZR Exchange differences arising on translation 229,099 (380) 35,583 264,302
MEEEREH Fair value loss on available-
INTEL for-sale investments (2,160) - - (2,160)
ElEBELT Share of other comprehensive
Ep2ERA income of associates 3,663 = = 3,663
230,602 (380) 35,583 265,805
FREEMALE Total comprehensive income for the year 1,201,001 (11,323) 114,311 1,303,989
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For the year ended 31st December, 2011

2. WAREE (&

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

HE-_ZT——F+-_A=+—HILFE

TR

REEH REEH

BEnet BREH

RENEE alnze

Effect of the Effect of

finalisation of business

accounting for combination

acquisition of of entities

jointly under
“E-3% controlled common it —E-BE
2010 entities control Elimination 2010
T ThAT Thn T Thn
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
(R 250) (BizE36) (E31)
(Previously stated) (Note 36) (Restated)

IFALERERER : Profit for the year attributable to:
KRREEA Owners of the Company 733,685 (10,043) 63,934 = 786,676
RS Non-controlling interests 236,714 = 14,794 = 251,508
970,399 (10943) 78728 - 1,038,184
IWTFALEEER Total comprehensive income
2EMNEE for the year attributable to:

KRABEA QOwners of the Company 953,547 (11,323) 91013 - 1,033,237
JERER Non-controlling interests 247,454 - 23,098 = 210,752
1,201,001 (11,323) 114,311 - 1,303,989
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BRRBHBE T ——Ft+=
H=t+—HILFENGEZHEI
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For the year ended 31st December, 2011 HE-_ZT——F+-_A=1+—RHLFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(b) The effect of the finalisation of accounting for jointly
controlled entities described above on results by line items
presented in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income during the year ended 31st December, 2011 is as

HymT follows:
—2——F
2011
FHT
HK$’000
SHE R ANIE N Increase in cost of sales 4,326
FELESE & A R AR D (BRE) Decrease in share of results of associates (Note) 8,597
HIER D Decrease in taxation (1,081)
F R F R Decrease in profit for the year 11,842

MaE BE—F——F+t-A=+—
HLLSE  AEBETHEEE
- HERE R R RS
B ERBHASATZE (R
Mi387) EEASEEAEH
FEHEE  ZRERRERE
DERBE QA o TR IEZ
ERNSTEENEMEET
NIEEBERREE] HE
RHER o

Note: During the year ended 31st December, 2011, the Group
no longer had joint control over an investee but retained
significant influence over it (see Note 37) and that the investee
has been classified as an associate, since the Group lost joint
control. The respective effect of the finalisation accounting for
acquisition of that entity is recognised in the line item “share of
results of associates”.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2011

2.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

HE-_ZT——F+-_A=+—HILFE

(c) LZEHINEHN_T—TF— (c) The effect of those restatements described above on
A—BREGEMBIRARNZE the consolidated statement of financial position as at 1st
FHHT January, 2010 is as follows:

HEEH

BRER

EHNEE

Effect of

business

combination

of entities
—E-Ef under —E-EF
—A—H common Eii —A—H
1.1.2010 control Elimination 1.1.2010
FHET THET THET FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(REZ51) (E51)
(Previously (Restated)

stated)

FRBEE Non-current assets

CE T S Property, plant and equipment 4,079,964 572,610 = 4,652,574
TaRRLZ0E Prepaid lease payments 265,301 37,188 = 302,489
REM¥ Investment properties 11,358 _ N 11358
REE R AR Interests in associates 21733 = - 21733
AIHEERE Available-for-sale investments 22,651 5,871 - 28,522
B Goodwil 192,667 34,324 - 226,991
R Operating rights 636,167 32,796 - 668,963
EERIREE Deferred tax assets 51,579 6,996 - 58,575
BRBRORERE Deposit for prepaid lease payments 44,273 = - 44,273
REEZS Deposit for investments 1,321,423 = = 1,321,423

6,647,116 689,785 - 7,336,901




2.

For the year ended 31st December, 2011

HE-_T——F+-_A=+—HILFE

EEIEXE (/Z) 2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
HEEH
BREY
EHNEE
Effect of
business
combination
of entities
—E-Ef under —E-BF
—A—H common i —A—H
1.1.2010 control Elimination 1.1.2010
FET FET FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(R%251) (&8751))
(Previously (Restated)
stated)
mBEE Current assets
FE Inventories 160,489 39,659 - 200,148
EYE ZHERR Trade and other
H R receivables 668,394 157,987 - 826,381
REFEH Amounts due from customers
Ti850B for contract work 253,897 10,826 - 264,723
TARHELZIE Prepaid lease payments 13,165 818 = 13,983
JEWEZMBARZIE  Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries 282,557 988 (868) 282,677
BRI TER Pledged bank deposits 19,262 = = 19,262
RITHEARIAS Bank balances and cash 2,671,838 439,993 = 3,111,831
4,069,602 650,271 (868) 4,719,005
REEE Current liabilities
EREHHRRK Trade and other
HAfERFR payables 2,003,545 217,324 - 2,220,869
BREPEX Amounts due to customers
TiExE for contract work 747,670 91,372 - 839,042
ENFEZKBLARZIE  Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries 22,646 704,283 (868) 726,061
BATREEE Government grants 1,022 = - 1,022
BITRHMEE Bank and other borrowings 1,339,653 17,036 - 1,356,689
FEFTHEIE Taxation payable 61,620 8,476 = 70,096
4,176,156 1,038,491 (868) 5,213,779
mEaEFE Net current liabilities (106,554) (388,220) = (494,774)
6,540,562 301,565 - 6,842,127

99




100

For the year ended 31st December, 2011

2.

mAREE ()

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

HE-_ZT——F+-_A=+—HILFE

HEHEH
BEEYR
o2
Effect of
business
combination
of entities
—E-ZF under —E-BF
—B—H common e —A-H
1.1.2010 control Elimination 1.1.2010
FHET THET THET THET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(RE251) (&51)
(Previously (Restated)
stated)
BARKHE Capital and reserves
&R Share capital 141,442 - - 141,442
5] Reserves 2,283,471 67,252 - 2,350,723
RATEE AFEEARZA  Equity attributable to owners
of the Company 2424913 67,252 - 2,492,165
FEER S Non-controling interests 732,605 234313 = 966,918
3,157,518 301,565 - 3,459,083
FERBEE Non-current liabilities
BB Government grants 13,349 - _ 13.349
RITRHEMEE Bank and other borrowings 1,391,800 - - 1,391,800
HinREIBE Other long-term liabilities 115,092 = = 115,092
ENFZMBATFE  Amount due to a fellow subsidiary 1,600,000 = = 1,600,000
EiEFiEaE Deferred tax liabilities 262,803 = = 262,803
3,383,044 - - 3,383,044
6,540,562 301,565 - 6,842,127




(d) LRZESINEHNR-F

For the year ended 31st December, 2011

—Et

“A=t+—ANEEMBIRRER

VEEHIMT ¢
FEENEE Non-current assets
WE - BEKERE Property, plant and equipment
TBRBEAIFE Prepaid lease payments
&5%% Investment properties
i N[ 2 Interests in associates
AHERE Avallable-for-sale investments
i Goodwill
g Operating rights
EERR SFK Deferred tax assets
ERBOTERS Deposit for prepaid lease payments
REBE Current assets
7& Inventories
EKE SRR Trade and other receivables
Hith el
EWEFANTIIZZIE  Amounts due from customers
for contract work
BNELHZE Prepaid lease payments
FEWF ZMBATZIE  Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries
BHEARRITER Pledged bank deposits
RITEBRIRS Bank balances and cash
mENEE Current liabiliies
EREFERR Trade and other payables
Hith (IR
EREFALIRIE  Amounts due to customers
for contract work
ENRZNBATZE  Amounts due fo fellow subsidiaries
BB 2 Government grants
BIIREMEE Bank and other borrowings
FERIiE Taxation payable
MEEEFE Net current assets

(d)

+=
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BE-Z——F+-A=1t—RILFE

The effect of those restatements described above on the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31st
December, 2010 is as follows:
TR R
HEEH SR
BRNed BEREY
RENEE Uik
Effect of the Effect of
finalisation of business
accounting for ~ combination
acquisition of of entities
—E-%F jointly under —E-BF
A=t+-AH controlled common H#E T-A=t-8
31.12.2010 entities control Elimination 31.12.2010
BT TAT BT TET TET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
(REZ3) (PirE38) (&51)
(Previously (Note 36) (Restated)
stated)
7,810,391 463,480 826,301 - 9,100,672
759,063 49,147 42,082 - 850,292
11,647 - - - 11,647
85,249 - - - 85,249
41,721 - 6,074 - 47,795
890,511 (397,582) 34,324 - 527,253
674,121 - 42263 - 716,384
122,015 - 10,173 - 132,188
7,820 - 1,956 - 9,776
10,402,538 115,045 963,673 - 11,481,256
236,968 - 31,741 - 268,709
1,545,626 - 225,638 - 1,771,264
378,633 - 19,686 - 398,319
26,094 6,499 1,130 - 33,723
32813 - 246,003 (175,258) 103,558
14,875 - - - 14,875
6,521,335 - 186,084 - 6,707,419
8,756,344 6,499 710,282 (175,258) 9,297,867
3,346,080 - 320,669 - 3,666,749
1,531,631 - 126,984 - 1,658,615
399,301 - 739,688 (175,258) 963,731
6,645 - - - 6,645
493,068 - 41,131 - 534,199
154,272 - 6,103 - 160,375
5,930,997 - 1,234,575 (175,258) 6,990,314
2,825,347 6,499 (524,293) - 2,307,553
13,227,885 121,544 439,380 - 13,788,809
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2011

EARR Capital and reserves
R Share capital
i Reserves

AAREE ANEERZA  Equity atiributable to owners

of the Company

EEiy Non-controlling interests

FRBARE Non-current liabilities
o4tk Government grants
BITREMEE Bank and other borrowings
HiREBE Other long-term liabilities
EERBEE Deferred tax liabilities

() LAZFBIHAKEHE—F
—EFER_F——F+_A=+
—RALEEEREAREERN
R EIIMT

HE-_ZT——F+-_A=+—HILFE

TR KR
SRR
ERNEd

RENE
Effect of the
finalisation of
accounting for
acquisition of
—E-BF jointly
+=A=1+-H controlled
31.12.2010 entities
TET TET
HK$000 HK$000
(RE23) (F35236)
(Previously (Note 36)

stated)

183,109 -
5,501,486 (11,323)
5,684,595 (11,323)
1,894,764 -
7,579,359 (11,323)

57,895 -
5,132,770 -

124,287 -

333,574 132,867
5,648,526 132,867

13,227,885 121,544

R
BRER
Aty e
Effect of
business
combination
of entities
under
common
control
BT
HK$000

158,265

158,265
257,611

415,876

23,504

23,504
439,380

i
Elimination
TAT
HK$000

—E-BF
+=-A=+-H
31.12.2010
FTER
HK$000

(&31)
(Restated)

183,109
5,648,428

5,831,537
2,152,375

7983912

57,895
5,156,274
124,287
466,441

5,804,897
13,788,809

(e) The effect of those restatements described above on the
Group’s basic and diluted earnings per share for the year
ended 31st December, 2010 and 2011 is as follows:

RERMET
FER B LRSI E R
BIREMELMAE

RHAREHIEREY
AFMELRHE

HBRHT

Figures before adjustments
Adjustments arising from finalisation
of accounting for acquisition of

jointly controlled entities

Adjustments arising from business
combination of entities under
common control

Figures after adjustments

—BE——F
2011

HEREX HEKREE
BRHEE BANKE
Impact on Impact on
basic diluted
earnings earnings
per share per share
HK$ HK$
0.60 0.60
0.06 0.06
0.66 0.66

i S 4.2
2010

HEREX HEREE
BINYE BN
Impact on Impact on
basic diluted
earnings earnings
per share per share
BT BT

HK$ HKS$

0.51 0.51

0.03 0.03

0.54 0.54
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA.

Amendments to HKFRSs  Improvements to HKFRSs issued
in 2010

HKAS 24 Related party disclosures
(as revised in 2009)

Amendments to HKAS 32  Classification of right issues

Amendments to HK(IFRIC) Prepayments of a minimum funding
— INT 14 requirement

HK(IFRIC) — INT 19 Extinguishing financial liabilities
with equity instruments

Except as described below, the application of the new and
revised HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact
on the Group’s financial performance and positions for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Presentation of financial
statements” (as part of Improvements to HKFRSs issued in
2010)

The amendments to HKAS 1 clarify that an entity may choose to
disclose an analysis of other comprehensive income by item in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity or in the notes
to the consolidated financial statements. In the current year, for
each component of equity, the Group has chosen to present such
an analysis in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Such amendments have been applied retrospectively, and hence
the disclosures in these consolidated financial statements have
been modified to reflect the change.
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3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009) “Related party disclosures”

HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009) has been revised on the
following two aspects: (a) HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009) has
changed the definition of a related party; and (b) HKAS 24
(as revised in 2009) introduces a partial exemption from the
disclosure requirements for government-related entities.

The Company and its subsidiaries are government-related
entities. In its annual consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31st December, 2010, the Group had applied
early the partial exemption from the disclosure requirements
for government-related entities. In the current year, the Group
has applied for the first time the revised definition of a related
party as set out in HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009), which did not
result in the identification of new related parties that were not
identified as related party under the previous standard.

HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009) requires retrospective
application. The application of HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009)
has had no impact on the Group’s financial performance and
positions for the current and prior years.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2011 HE-_ZT——F+-_A=1+—RHLFE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009) “Related party disclosures”
(Continued)

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of items of other
comprehensive income*
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred tax: Recovery of
underlying assets'
HKAS 19 Employee benefits?
(as revised in 2011)

HKAS 27 Separate financial statements?
(as revised in 2011)

HKAS 28 Investments in associates and
(as revised in 2011) joint ventures?

Amendments to Offsetting financial assets and
HKFRS 32 financial liabilities®

Amendments to Disclosures — Transfer of financial
HKFRS 7 assets?®

Disclosures — Offsetting financial
assets and financial liabilities?
Amendments to HKFRS 7 Mandatory effective date of
and HKFRS 9 HKFRS 9 and transition
disclosures®

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments®

HKFRS 10 Consolidated financial statements?

HKFRS 11 Joint arrangements?

HKFRS 12 Disclosure of interests in other
entities?

HKFRS 13 Fair value measurement?

HK(IFRIC) — INT 20 Stripping costs in the production

phase of a surface mine?
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009) “Related party disclosures”
(Continued)

i Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2012.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2013.
s Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st July, 2011.
ks Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st July, 2012.
8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2015.
6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2014.

New and revised standards on consolidation, joint
arrangements, associates and disclosures

In June 2011, a package of five standards on consolidation, joint
arrangements, associates and disclosures was issued, including
HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11, HKFRS 12, HKAS 27 (as revised in 2011)
and HKAS 28 (as revised in 2011).

Key requirements of these five standards are described below.

HKFRS 10 replaces the parts of HKAS 27 “Consolidated and
separate financial statements” that deal with consolidated
financial statements and HK(SIC) — INT 12 “Consolidation —
Special purpose entities”. HKFRS 10 includes a new definition of
control that contains three elements: (a) power over an investee,
(b) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee; and (c) the ability to use its power over the
investee to affect the amount of the investor’s returns. Extensive
guidance has been added in HKFRS 10 to deal with complex
scenarios.
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HKFRS 11 replaces HKAS 31 “Interests in joint ventures” and
HK(SIC) — INT 13 “Jointly controlled entities — non-monetary
contributions by venturers”. HKFRS 11 deals with how a joint
arrangement of which two or more parties have joint control
should be classified. Under HKFRS 11, joint arrangements are
classified as joint operations or joint ventures, depending on
the rights and obligations of the parties to the arrangements.
In contrast, under HKAS 31, there are three types of joint
arrangements: jointly controlled entities, jointly controlled assets
and jointly controlled operations.

In addition, joint ventures under HKFRS 11 are required to be
accounted for using the equity method of accounting, whereas
jointly controlled entities are currently accounted for using the
proportionate accounting according to the Group’s accounting
policy in accordance with HKAS 31.

HKFRS 12 is a disclosure standard and is applicable to entities
that have interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates
and/or unconsolidated structured entities. In general, the
disclosure requirements in HKFRS 12 are more extensive than
those in the current standards.

These five standards are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1st January, 2013. Earlier application is permitted
provided that all of these five standards are applied early at the
same time.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and revised standards on consolidation, joint
arrangements, associates and disclosures (Continued)

The directors anticipate that these five standards will be adopted
in the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the annual
period beginning 1st January, 2013. The application of these
five standards will have significant impact on amounts reported
in the consolidated financial statements. The application
of HKFRS 11 will result in changes in the accounting of the
Group’s jointly controlled entities that are currently accounted
for using proportionate consolidation. Under HKFRS 11, those
jointly controlled entities will be classified as joint ventures or
joint operations, depending on the rights and obligations of the
parties to the joint arrangement. However, the directors have not
yet performed a detailed analysis of the impact of the application
of these standards and hence have not yet quantified the extent
of the impact.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of
the other new and revised HKFRSs will have no material impact
on the Group’s financial performance and positions.



BRERATEAENETSRIAN
A ISR TIIRIBE L AR E R
g DETIEFBRELRRE -

GANBRRNERESRHAAE
ﬁ%%%%%ﬁﬁ¢£W%%°%
o - R A B AR T FE 32 P
AR B A B 5 A
HE -

FEPBHMRBREARE REMAES
ERNFBREK - RARBAREE
BOPBELEEHE  UBEE
ﬁ%Z%HXﬂAHT BT fE 42 il 4

REARBAHERBRRNEET
B AR AR HEERA B
(REMBRTE) REEAZERAR
RN o

WERE  AEESAENBARN
MHmEK - HESFHRREREER
RAE B

SERRRRNMBERS - Gtk kK
XEREARBEFHE -

Annual Report 2011 CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED

fRE MBS HRAR M

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2011 HE_T——F+-_A=+—RHILFE

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments
which are measured at fair values as explained in the accounting
policies set out below.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved where the Company has the power
to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as
to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income from the effective date of acquisition and
up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with those used by the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are
eliminated on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group’s equity therein.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Allocation of total comprehensive income to non-controlling
interests

Total comprehensive income and expense of a subsidiary
is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance (effective from 1st January,
2010 onwards).

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries
are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts
of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are
adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity
and attributed to owners of the Company.
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Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it (i) derecognises
the assets (including any goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary
at their carrying amounts at the date when control is lost, (ii)
derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests
in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost (including
any components of other comprehensive income attributable
to them), and (iii) recognises the aggregate of the fair value of
the consideration received and the fair value of any retained
interest, with any resulting difference being recognise as a gain
or loss in profit or loss attributable to the Group. When assets
of the subsidiary are carried at revalued amounts or fair values
and the related cumulative gain or loss has been recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, the
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets (i.e. reclassified to profit
or loss or transferred directly to retained earnings as specified
by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained
in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent
accounting under HKAS 39 “Financial instruments: Recognition
and measurement” (“HKAS 39”) or, when applicable, the cost
on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a jointly
controlled entity.

Acquisitions of businesses that are not combinations of business
under common control are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of
the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the
Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners
of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs
are generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
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At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value at the
acquisition date, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 “Income Taxes”
and HKAS 19 “Employee benefits” respectively;

° liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace
share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree are
measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 “Share-based
payment” at the acquisition date; and

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current assets held
for sale and discontinued operations” are measured in
accordance with that standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after re-assessment,
the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain.



BERBHEEEERANEREERE
ANBRBRILPIDIE BB FEEN I
Bt - Al TR A AN IF R
SEEREEL B EEFEND
WRLBELLOIETE - st ERERFE
AR SMEHIERE - i EEMIFE
Bt T A FES (HER) 5—
RAEAREREEE -

WEBHA O L ST REN G G 3
ERRERRERTHK - AIAREETE
REKRGETRIBHNIER 2 MR
B EHREBEHEENA2HE T
HE - AERBENEEHEEB UK
MEMNEBERHEF2EEEBER
AR BEMNE RSB
EE AR -

I IE A Bf FL R I 75 ) U R TS5 4R
R EAR - WEKAIZRIBE R
e THEE MELASAENE
B WRAREREHRKELIMD
BITRATAMADTE  BNEBE
HEREENERKAGFTE - a8
B HE R R R U 5 W0 AT LR B
E ARERIRAE DBEEAKE
ERNQFERER -

Annual Report 2011 CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED

fRE SRR M
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2011 HE-_T——F+-_A=+—HILFE

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’'s net
assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either
at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on a
transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling
interests are measured at their fair value or, when applicable, on
the basis specified in another standard.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete
by the end of the reporting period in which the combination
occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for
which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts
are adjusted during the measurement period, or additional assets
or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained
about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition
date that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognised
as of that date.

Acquisition of businesses that are not combinations of business
under common control was accounted for using the purchase
method. The cost of the acquisition was measured at the
aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange, of assets
given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree, plus
any costs directly attributable to the business combination. The
acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
that met the relevant conditions for recognition were generally
recognised at their fair values at the acquisition date.
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Goodwill arising on acquisition was recognised as an asset and
initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the
business combination over the Group’s interest in the recognised
amounts of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities recognised. If, after reassessment, the Group’s interest
in the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeded the cost of the
business combination, the excess was recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

The non-controlling interest in the acquiree was initially measured
at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of recognised
amounts of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the
acquiree.

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements items of the combining entities or businesses in
which the common control combination occurs as if they had
been combined from the date when the combining entities or
businesses first came under the control of the controlling party.

The net assets of the combining entities or businesses are
consolidated using the existing book values from the ultimate
controlling parties’ perspective. No amount is recognised in
respect of goodwill or excess of acquirer’s interest in the net fair
value of acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities over cost at the time of common control combination, to
the extent of the continuation of the controlling party’s interest.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Merger accounting for business combinations involving
entities under common control (Continued)

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income includes
the results of each of the combining entities or businesses from
the earliest date presented or since the date when the combining
entities or businesses first came under the common control,
where this is a shorter period and up to the date of disposal, as
appropriate.

The comparative amounts in the consolidated financial
statements are restated as if the entities or businesses had been
combined at the previous reporting period or when they first
came under common control, whichever is shorter and up to the
date of disposal, as appropriate.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business or a jointly
controlled entity (which is accounted for using proportionate
consolidation) is carried at cost less accumulated impairment
losses and is presented separately in the consolidated statement
of financial position.
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For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination. A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently
whenever there is indication that the unit may be impaired. For
goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-
generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment before the end of that reporting period. If the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the
carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated
to the unit, and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on
the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An
impairment loss for goodwill is recognised in profit or loss and is
not reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or a jointly
controlled entity, the attributable amount of goodwill is included
in the determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.

An associate is an entity over which the investor has significant
influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint
venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method,
investments in associates are carried in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost as adjusted thereafter
to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the associates. When the Group’s
share of losses of an associate equals or exceeds its interest
in that associate (which includes any long-term interests that,
in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share of
further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent
that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of that associate.
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Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities of the associate recognised at the date of
acquisition is recognised as goodwill, which is included within
the carrying amount of the investment.

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over
the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine whether
it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect
to the Group’s investment in an associate. When necessary, the
entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is
tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment
of assets” as a single asset by comparing its recoverable
amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell)
with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms
part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of
that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS
36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with its associate, profits and losses
resulting from the transactions with the associate are recognised in
the consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests
in the associate that are not related to the Group.

Joint venture arrangements that involve the establishment of a
separate entity in which venturers have joint control over the
economic activity of the entity are referred to as jointly controlled
entities.

The Group recognises its interests in jointly controlled entities
using proportionate consolidation. The Group’s share of each
of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses of the jointly
controlled entities are combined with the Group’s similar line
items, line by line, in the consolidated financial statements.
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Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of the Group’s interest in
a jointly controlled entity is accounted for in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition
of a business or a jointly controlled entity.

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over
the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

For deemed acquisition of additional interests of jointly controlled
entities, the excess of the share of net assets before the deemed
acquisition over the share of net assets after the deemed
acquisition is recognised as goodwill.

Upon disposal of a jointly controlled entity that results in the
Group losing joint control over that jointly controlled entity,
any retained investment is measured at fair value at that date.
The difference between the previous carrying amount of the
jointly controlled entity attributable to the retained interest and
its fair value is included in the determination of the gain or
loss on disposal of the jointly controlled entity. In addition, the
Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that jointly controlled entity
on the same basis as would be required if that jointly controlled
entity had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income by that jointly controlled entity would be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets
or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to
profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) when it loses joint
control over that jointly controlled entity.

When a group entity transacts with its jointly controlled entity,
profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the jointly
controlled entity are recognised in the consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the jointly controlled
entity that are not related to the Group.
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Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable
for goods sold and services provided in the normal course of
business, net of discounts and sales related taxes.

Revenue from a construction contract for gas connection is
recognised when the outcome of a construction contract for gas
connection can be estimated reliably and the stage of completion
at the end of reporting period can be measured reliably. Revenue
from and expenses on construction contracts for gas connection
are recognised using the percentage of completion method,
measured by reference to the costs incurred during the year
relative to the estimated total costs of the contract. When the
outcome of a construction contract for gas connection cannot
be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised only to the extent of
contract cost incurred that is probable to be recoverable.

Connection fee income is recognised upon the connection of
pipelines of customers to the Group’s existing gas pipelines.

Revenue from gas supply is recognised when gas is used by
customers.

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when goods are
delivered and title has passed.

Service income is recognised when services are provided.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and
the amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest income
from a financial asset is accrued on a time basis, by reference
to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate
applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated
future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial
asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the
shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been established
(provided that it is probable that the economic benefits will
flow to the Group and the amount of revenue can be measured
reliably).
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Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes (other than construction in progress) are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment other than construction in progress
over their estimated useful lives and after taking into account their
estimated residual values, using the straight-line method.

Construction in progress includes property, plant and equipment in
the course of construction for production or for own use purposes.
Construction in progress is carried at cost less any recognised
impairment loss. Construction in progress is classified to the
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these
assets, on the same basis as other property assets commences
when the assets are ready for their intended use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant
and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised
in profit or loss.

When the leasehold land and buildings are in the course of
development for production or for administrative purposes, the
leasehold land component classified as an operating lease is
classified as a prepaid lease payment and amortised over a
straight-line basis over the lease term. During the construction
period, the amortisation charge provided for the leasehold land
is included as part of costs of buildings under construction.
Buildings under construction are carried at cost, less any identified
impairment losses and are classified as property, plant and
equipment. Depreciation of buildings commences when they are
available for use (i.e. when they are in the location and condition
necessary for them to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management).
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Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Depreciation is recognised so as to write off
the cost of investment properties over their estimated useful lives
and after taking into account their estimated residual values,
using the straight-line method.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in
the period in which the item is derecognised.

When the outcome of a construction contract for gas connection
can be estimated reliably and the stage of contract completion
at the end of the reporting period can be measured reliably,
contract costs are recognised by reference to the stage of
completion of the contract activity at the end of the reporting
period on the same basis as contract revenue is recognised.

When the outcome of a construction contract for gas connection
cannot be estimated reliably, contract costs are recognised as
an expense in the period in which they are incurred. When it is
probable that total contracts costs will exceed contract revenue,
the expected loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits
less recognised losses exceed progress billings, the surplus
is shown as amounts due from customers for contract work.
For contracts where progress billings exceed contract costs
incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses,
the surplus is shown as amounts due to customers for contract
work. Amounts received before the related work is performed
are included in the consolidated statement of financial position,
as a liability, as advances received. Amounts billed for work
performed but not yet paid by the customer are included in the
consolidated statement of financial position under trade and
other receivables.
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Intangible assets refer to the operating rights for city pipeline network.

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets acquired separately and with finite useful
lives are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible
assets with finite useful lives is provided on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives.

An intangible asset is derecognised upon disposal or when
no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising from
derecognition of an intangible asset is measured as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss in the
period when the asset is derecognised.

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average method.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into one of the two
categories, including loans and receivables and available-for-
sale financial assets. The classification depends on the nature
and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time
of initial recognition.
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Financial assets (Continued)
Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables
(including trade and other receivables, amounts due from fellow
subsidiaries, pledged bank deposits and bank balances and
cash) are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less any identified impairment losses (see accounting
policy on impairment loss on financial assets below).

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and allocating interest income
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including
all fees paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the
asset on initial recognition. Interest income is recognised on an
effective interest basis for debt instrument.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are
either designated or not classified as financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”"), loans and receivables, or
held-to-maturity investments. The Group designated listed and
unlisted equity securities as available-for-sale financial assets.

Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value
at the end of the reporting period, except for available-for-sale
equity investments that do not have a quoted market price in an
active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured,
which are measured at cost less any identified impairment losses
at the end of the reporting period. Changes in fair value are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in investment revaluation reserve, until the financial asset is
disposed of or is determined to be impaired, at which time, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in investment
revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss (see accounting
policy on impairment loss on financial assets below).
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Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for
indicators of impairment at the end of the reporting period. Financial
assets are considered to be impaired where there is objective
evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after
the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future
cash flows of the financial assets have been affected.

For an available-for-sale equity investment, a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of that investment below its
cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment
could include:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;
or

. breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments; or

° it becomes probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy
or financial re-organisation; or

° the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a
collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio
of receivables could include the Group’s past experience of
collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed
payments in the portfolio past the average credit period, as well
as observable changes in national or local economic conditions
that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the
impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future
cash flows discounted at the financial asset's original effective
interest rate.
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Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For investments in equity securities that are carried at cost, the
amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
the estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market
rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss
will not be reversed in subsequent periods. Any increase in fair
value subsequent to impairment loss is recognised directly in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in investment
revaluation reserve.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is
reduced through the use of an allowance account. When a trade
receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against
the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the
allowance account are recognised in profit and loss. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited to profit
or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit and loss to
the extent that the carrying amount of the investment at the date
the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised
cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities, including trade and other payables, amounts
due to fellow subsidiaries, bank and other borrowings and other
long-term liabilities, are measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method subsequent to initial recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition. Interest expense is recognised on an effective
interest basis.
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Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Group continues to recognise the asset to the extent of
its continuing involvement and recognises an associated liability.
If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to
recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised
borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain
or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liability when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

As lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or
loss a straight-line basis over the relevant lease term.
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As lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the relevant lease term. Benefits received
and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating lease
are recognised as a reduction of rental expense over the lease
term on a straight-line basis.

Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the
Group assesses the classification of each element as a finance
or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as
to whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred to the Group,
unless it is clear that both elements are operating leases in
which case the entire lease is classified as an operating lease.
Specifically, the minimum lease payments (including any lump-
sum upfront payments) are allocated between the land and the
building elements in proportion to the relative fair values of the
leasehold interests in the land element and building element of
the lease at the inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an
operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in the
consolidated statement of financial position and is amortised over
the lease term on a straight-line basis. When the lease payments
cannot be allocated reliably between the land and building
elements, the entire lease is generally classified as a finance
lease and accounted for as property, plant and equipment.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are added to the costs of those
assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready
for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing
costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans/state-
managed retirement benefit schemes/the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme are recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income because it excludes items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible.
The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or
from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint controlled entities, except where the Group
is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it
is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. Current and
deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates
to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in
the accounting for the business combination.

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in its
functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates) at the rates of
exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the
end of reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the translation of monetary items, are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the rates of exchange
prevailing at the end of reporting period, and their income and
expenses are translated at the average exchange rates for the
year. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under
the heading of translation reserve.
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Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation on or
after 1st January, 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of
that foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in the translation reserve.

Share options and equity incentive scheme granted to employees
after 7th November, 2002 and vested on or after 1st January, 2005

For share option schemes, the fair value of services received,
determined by reference to the fair value of share options granted
at the grant date, is expensed on a straight-line basis over the
vesting period, with a corresponding increase in equity (share
option reserve). At the time when the share options are exercised,
the amount previously recognised in share option reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options are forfeited
after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the
amount previously recognised in share option reserve will continue
to be held in share option reserve.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of share options that are expected
to ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in the
profit or loss, such that the cumulative expenses reflects the
revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share

option reserve.

For incentive award schemes, the cost of acquisition of the
Company’s shares held for the incentive award scheme is
recorded as treasury shares (shares held for incentive award
scheme). The shares held for the incentive award scheme will be
disposed of for cash which will be distributed to the employees.

When the shares held for incentive award scheme are disposed
of and the resulting proceeds from disposal are distributed
to the employees, the proceeds distributed to employees are
recognised as expenses (staff costs), and the difference between
the consideration received and the cost of the shares will be
credited to retained profits.
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Share options and equity incentive scheme granted to employees
on or before 7th November, 2002, or granted after 7th November,
2002 and vested before 1st January, 2005

The financial impact of share options granted is not recorded
in the consolidated financial statements until such time as the
options are exercised, and no charge is recognised in the profit
or loss in respect of the value of options granted. Upon the
exercise of the share options, the resulting shares issued are
recorded as additional share capital at the nominal value of the
shares, and the excess of the exercise price per share over
the nominal value of the shares is recorded as share premium.
Options which lapse or are cancelled prior to their exercise date
are deleted from the register of outstanding options.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss, if any. If the recoverable amount
of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of
its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised as income immediately.
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Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises
as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended
to compensate. Government grants related to depreciable assets
are recognised as deferred income in the consolidated statement
of financial position and transferred to profit or loss over the
useful lives of the related assets. Other government grants are
recognised as revenue over the periods necessary to match
them with the costs for which they are intended to compensate,
on a systematic basis. Government grants that are receivable
as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group
with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future in preparing accounting estimates. The resulting
accounting estimates may not be equal to the actual results.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both the current and future periods.
The key estimates and assumptions that may have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed
below.
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Estimation of useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Management estimates the useful lives of property, plant and
equipment based on the expected lifespan of those property,
plant and equipment. The useful lives of property, plant and
equipment could change significantly as a result of technical
innovation. When the actual useful lives of property, plant and
equipment due to the change of commercial and technological
environment are different from their estimated useful lives, such
difference will impact the depreciation charges and the amounts
of assets written down for future periods.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment at 31st
December, 2011 is HK$10,554,637,000 (31st December, 2010:
HK$9,100,672,000 and 1st January, 2010: HK$4,652,574,000).

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation
of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which goodwill
has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the
Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from
the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value. Where the actual future cash flows
are less than expected, a material impairment loss may arise.
As at 31st December, 2011, the carrying amount of goodwill is
HK$589,579,000 (31st December, 2010: HK$527,253,000 and
1st January, 2010: HK$226,991,000). Details of the recoverable
amount calculation are disclosed in Note 20.
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Allowance for doubtful debts

The Group makes allowance for doubtful debts based on an
assessment of the recoverability of debtors. Allowances are
made on trade debtors whenever there is any objective evidence
that the balances may not be collectible. The Group makes
judgement in assessing the collectability based on observable
data including creditworthiness and payment history of the
customers (for details please refer to Note 23). When objective
evidence for allowance exists, the amount of allowance is the
difference between the carrying amounts of the debts and the
present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the
original effective interest rate. Where the expectation on the
recoverability of the debts is different from the original estimate,
such difference will impact the carrying amounts of debtors and
doubtful debt expenses in the periods in which such estimate
has been changed.

The carrying amount of trade debtors, net of allowance, at 31st
December, 2011 is HK$980,655,000 (31st December, 2010:
HK$584,036,000 and 1st January, 2010: HK$209,269,000).

Allowance for inventories

The Group makes allowance for inventories based on an
assessment of the net realisable value of inventories. Allowances
are applied to inventories where events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the net realisable value is lower than
the cost of inventories. The identification of obsolete inventories
requires the use of judgement and estimates on the conditions
and usefulness of the inventories. In cases where the net
realisable value of inventories assessed are less than expected,
a material recognition of allowance for inventories may arise,
which would be recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
such recognition takes place.

At 31st December, 2011, the carrying amount of inventories is
HK$412,178,000 (31st December, 2010: HK$268,709,000 and 1st
January, 2010: HK$200,148,000).
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The Group manages its capital to maintain a balance between
continuity of cash flows from operating activities and the flexibility
through the use of bank and other borrowings. The Group also
monitors the current and expected liquidity requirements and
its compliance with lending covenants regularly to ensure that
sufficient working capital and adequate committed lines of
funding are maintained to meet its liquidity requirements.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which
include bank and other borrowings, bank balances and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued capital,
retained profits and other reserves.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure on
a regular basis. As part of this review, management considers
the cost of capital and the associated risk, and take appropriate
actions to adjust the Group’s capital structure through the
payment of dividends, new share issues as well as the issue of
new debts or the redemption of existing debts.

—E——fF —T-TF
+=A +=A —Z-ZF
Sar=[ =+—H —A—H
31.12.2011 31.12.2010 1.1.2010
FHERT FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
(&%) (E3)
(Restated) (Restated)
SREE Financial assets
Bk M AR X Loans and receivables
(BRERe R (including cash and
REFE) cash equivalents) 8,677,118 7,830,992 3,836,927
A ERE Available-for-sale investments 28,493 47,795 28,522
A= Financial liabilities
HHR A At amortised cost 9,511,496 8,727,050 6,127,939
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The Group’s major financial instruments include available-for-sale
investments, trade and other receivables, amounts due from/to
fellow subsidiaries, pledged bank deposits, bank balances and
cash, trade and other payables, bank and other borrowings and
other long-term liabilities. Details of these financial instruments
are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The Group manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.

Foreign currency risk

The carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary assets and
monetary liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, i.e.
currency other than the functional currency of the respective
group entities, which are mainly amounts due from/to fellow
subsidiaries, pledged bank deposits, bank balances and cash,
trade and other payables and bank and other borrowings, at the
end of the reporting period are as follows:

=E——F —T-TF
2011 2010
FERT FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
BE Assets

e United States dollars 411,216 175,531
BT Hong Kong dollars 1,129,042 1,788,948
1,540,258 1,964,479

=Fi Liabilities
BT Hong Kong dollars 5,880,000 4,992,500
BT Euro 15,745 17,385
5,895,745 5,009,885

ER BE B I ) BT SN BB ROR B A
ZH EINE R o AR5 B IR AT
SRS R EI A A E R OME R B -
I E R B E SN R o

The Group manages its foreign currency risk by closely
monitoring the movements of foreign currency exchange rates.
The Group currently has not entered into any foreign currency
forward contracts to hedge against foreign currency risk.
Management will consider hedging foreign currency exposure
should the need arise.
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Foreign currency risk (Continued)
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
increase and decrease in Renminbi (“RMB”), the functional
currency of the group entities, against relevant foreign
currencies. 5% is the sensitivity rate which represents
management’s assessment of the possible change in foreign
currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding
foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their
translation at the year end for 5% change in foreign currency
rates. A positive (negative) number indicates an increase
(decrease) in pre-tax profit for the year when RMB strengthens
5% against the relevant foreign currencies. For a 5% weakening
of RMB against the relevant currency, there would be an equal
but opposite impact on the pre-tax profit for the year.

—E——fF —E—TF
2011 2010
FET T
HK$°’000 HK$’000
EpH United States dollars
F AR K Pre-tax profit for the year (20,561) (8,777)
BT Hong Kong dollars
F B AR F Pre-tax profit for the year 237,548 160,178
BT Euro
F R AR F Pre-tax profit for the year 787 869

EEER A BRNEFRE RN RER
W ARB2FENRERR - EEGRED
T NBERREA BVIMNER R o

FIEmE

ZS%&K%EE%E@E??&E@F
MBEEREMNERR (BRZEHEER

B FE IS 2 B fT E29) - EIEEH%E
ERMNE R BRI N FEERE EE
— PN RER -

AEB AR ABERRITREME
ENAFENXRR (FEZEEER
WHBEFE2HWME2) EREGH
BEERAN R,

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the
year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to
floating-rate bank and other borrowings (see Note 29 for details
of these borrowings). The management continuously monitors
interest rate fluctuation and will consider further hedging interest
rate risk should the need arise.

The Group is also exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed-rate bank and other borrowings (see Note 29
for details of these borrowings). The management continuously
monitors interest rate exposure.
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Interest rate risk (Continued)

The Group’s bank balances have exposure to cash flow interest
rate risk due to the fluctuation of the prevailing market interest
rate on bank balances (see Note 26 for details of these deposits).
The management considers the Group’s exposure of the short-
term bank deposits to interest rate risk is not significant as
interest bearing bank balances are within short maturity period.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for interest bearing bank balances and
bank and other borrowings. The analysis is prepared assuming
those balances outstanding at the end of each reporting period
were outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis point increase or
decrease which represents the management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in interest rates is used.

If the interest rate on bank balances and pledged bank deposits
carried at variable rates had been 10 basis points higher/
lower and all other variables were held constant, the pre-tax
profit for the year ended 31st December, 2011 would increase
by approximately HK$6,908,000 (2010: HK$6,722,000). If the
interest rate on floating-rate bank and other borrowings had been
50 basis points higher/lower and all other variables were held
constant, the pre-tax profit for the year ended 31st December,
2011 would decrease by approximately HK$30,777,000 (2010:
HK$26,594,000). This is mainly attributable to the Group’s
exposure to interest rates on its bank balances with variable
rates and floating-rate bank and other borrowings.

The Group’s exposure to cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of Hong Kong Interbank Offered
Rate (“HIBOR”) arising from the Group’s borrowings denominated
in Hong Kong dollars and People’s Bank of China Base Rate
arising from the Group’s borrowings denominated in RMB and
Euro.
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Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event of
the counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations in relation
to each class of recognised financial assets is the carrying
amount of those assets as stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position and the amount of contingent liabilities in
relation to financial guarantee issued by the Group as disclosed
in Note 41. In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group
has policies in place for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-
up action is taken to recover overdue debts.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group carries out searches
on the creditability of the new customer and assesses the potential
customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by customer.
Limits attributed to customers are reviewed once a year.

In addition, the Group reviews the recoverability of each individual
trade debt on a regular basis to ensure that adequate impairment
losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the
Group considers that the credit risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on bank deposits is limited because the
counterparties are financial institutions with high credit standing.

At 31st December, 2011, the Group has concentration of credit
risk in relation to the receivables from fellow subsidiaries and a
joint venturer of a jointly controlled entity of the Group amounting
to HK$89,581,000 (31st December, 2010: HK$103,558,000 and
1st January, 2010: HK$282,677,000) and HK$178,657,000 (31st
December, 2010: nil and 1st January, 2010: nil), respectively. In
order to minimise the credit risk, the management has reviewed
the recoverable amount of each receivable from its fellow
subsidiaries and joint venturer at the end of each reporting
period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made
for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced.
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Weighted
average
interest rate
RZB—-% At 31st December, 2011
+=A=1+-H
ERBHETR Trade and other
AN payables
FENFZNBATIE  Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries
FITREMEE Bank and other borrowings 3.69%
At REEE Other long-term liabilities 3.93%
R-E-%% At 31st December, 2010
TZR=1-H (&%) (restated)
FERBSETR Trade and other
RN payables -
FERRZMBATZE  Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries =
ROREMEE Bank and other borrowings 203%
EtREBE Other long-term liabilities 3.93%

FBERAS (M)

Financial guarantee contracts (Note) -

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The
management also monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and
ensures compliance with loan covenants, if any.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its financial liabilities. The table has been drawn
up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required
to pay. The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.

BB1E RER

BT 8855 RERE

Over ok
REXE TENE 1 year but BiB5% Total FEE
On Less than not more Over undiscounted Carrying
demand 1year than 5 years 5 years cash flows amounts
TER TER TER TER iR TET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
1,011,102 1,592,695 - - 2,603,797 2,603,797
213,536 - - - 213,536 213,536
300,000 1,265,359 4,908,239 268,906 6,742,504 6,499,596
- 20,578 131,009 131,283 282,870 194,567
1,524,638 2,878,632 5,039,248 400,189 9,842,707 9,511,496
920,063 1,028,496 - - 1,948,559 1,948,559
963,731 - - - 963,731 963,731
300,000 247,416 5,282,672 84,961 5915,049 5,690,473
= 9,598 52,338 115,621 177,957 124,287
- 67,690 - - 67,690 -
2,183,794 1,353,200 5,335,010 200,582 9,072,586 8,727,050
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Note: The amounts for financial guarantee contracts are the maximum

amounts the Group could be required to settle under the arrangement
for the full guaranteed amount as stated in Note 41 if that amount is
claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee. Based on expectations

at the end of the reporting period, the Group considers that it is more
likely than not that no amount will be payable under the arrangement.

However, this estimate is

subject to change depending on the

probability of the counterparty claiming under the guarantee which is
a function of the likelihood that the financial receivables held by the
counterparty which are guaranteed suffer credit losses.

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its investments

in listed equity securities

investments (see Note 19).

classified as available-for-sale
The management manages this

exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments with different

risks. The Group’s equity price risk is mainly concentrated on

shares listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. In addition,

the management of the Group monitors the price risk and will

consider hedging the risk exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on

the exposure to equity price risks at the reporting date.

If the prices of the listed equity instruments had been 5% (2010:

5%) higher/lower, the investment valuation reserve will increase
by HK$78,000 (2010: HK$1,324,000) or the pre-tax profit for the
year will decrease by HK$78,000 (2010: HK$1,324,000).

The Group’s sensitivity to available-for-sale investments has not

changed significantly from the prior year.
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Other price risk (Continued)
Fair value

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing
models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts
of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised
cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate to their

fair values.

Information reported to the executive directors of the Company,
being the chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance
focuses on types of goods or services delivered or provided.

The Group’s operating segments under HKFRS 8 are as follows:

Sale and distribution of gas fuel and related products — sale
of liquefied petroleum gas and natural gas for residential,
commercial and industrial use

Gas connection — connection fee income and construction
contracts for gas connection to the Group’s pipelines

Segments results represent the profit before taxation earned by
each segment, excluding sundry income, interest income, finance
costs, central administration costs, release from prepaid lease
payments and directors’ salaries. This is the measure reported to
the executive directors for the purpose of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance.
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NBREERD The information of segment revenue, segment results, segment
assets and segment liabilities are as follows:
Segment revenue and results
HERDHER
BREREEER
Sale and
distribution of RRER
gas fuel and Gas ast
related products connection Total
FET FET FTHET
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
Turnover
External sales 10,765,659 2,740,973 13,506,632
Result
Segment results 998,229 1,147,875 2,146,104
Share of results of associates 117,454
Finance costs (76,809)
Unallocated income 363,891
Unallocated expenses (402,938)
Profit before taxation 2,147,702
Segment assets and liabilities
HERDHR
BRI REEER
Sale and
distribution of MRBER
gas fuel and Gas =E
related products connection Consolidated
FHET FHET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
ASSETS
Segment assets 10,278,073 3,078,534 13,356,607
Interests in associates 1,642,728
Deferred tax assets 121,274
Unallocated corporate assets (Note a) 10,285,019
25,405,628
LIABILITIES
Segment liabilities 1,500,018 4,403,953 5,903,971
Taxation payable 196,146
Deferred tax liabilities 390,908
Unallocated corporate liabilities (Note b) 8,296,056
14,787,081
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8. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)
BE-Z——F+ZA=+—HLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2011 (Continued)
(%)
HE&Ex Other information
HERDEH
KRR
REBEER
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel MRS
and related Gas KA &5t
products connection Unallocated Total
FHET FET FExT FET
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
RNEIFRBEE Additions to non-current assets 1,548,283 - 141,172 1,689,455
e R 5 Depreciation and amortisation 416,295 - 67,759 484,054
TN E RIE Release of prepaid lease payments - - 20,512 20,512
B S EWEEFUREETE Impairment loss on trade receivables 2,894 - - 2,894
HEME - BE R Gain on disposal of property, plant and
R equipment (10,037) - - (10,037)
BE-Z—ZEF+-A=1+—HIEE For the year ended 31st December, 2010
T HEMWam RFEE (ES) Segment revenue and results (restated)
HERDH
RESIREL
RIAFAE®
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel MR
and related Gas A&t
products connection Total
FHET FAET FAT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EERE Turnover
%=1 External sales 7,174,853 2,156,629 9,331,482
ES Result
PaEE Segment results 726,564 861,836 1,588,400
FEMREE R R ¥EE Share of results of associates 15,524
BA TSR AN Finance costs (81,599)
Ko BEWA Unallocated income 192,211
AABAX Unallocated expenses (347,567)
B B Profit before taxation 1,366,969
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For the year ended 31st December, 2011
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8. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)
BE-Z-ZHF+-A=+—-BHLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2010 (Continued)
(%)
DEEEREE (BZ) Segment assets and liabilities (restated)
HERDH
SEEIRE
RAAFAER
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel R R
and related Gas )
products connection Consolidated
FHET FAT FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BE ASSETS
NEAE Segment assets 8,362,684 2,705,436 11,068,120
IREFHIEE E Deferred tax assets 132,188
BN BIRERS Interests in associates 85,249
ADEABIEE (HiFa) Unallocated corporate assets (Note a) 9,493,566
20,779,123
afE LIABILITIES
SBRE Segment liabilities 1,096,354 3,110,798 4,207,152
JEFLIE Taxation payable 160,375
FEIEFIBAE Deferred tax liabilities 466,441
KAOBATIEME (HEb)  Unallocated corporate liabilities (Note b) 7,961,243
12,795,211
BEt&EHR (EZ) Other information (restated)
HERDH
KBS
R ES
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel IR R B
and related Gas RAER A&t
products connection  Unallocated Total
FHET FHET FAT FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
NEIERBEE Additions to non-current assets 1,885,286 - 107,683 1,992,969
e N Depreciation and amortisation 374,112 - 56,015 430,127
R TENHEFUE Release of prepaid lease payments - - 17,691 17,691
E 5 EWEEFUREEE Impairment loss on trade receivables 9,961 - - 9,961
HEME - BER Loss on disposal of property, plant
REEE and equipment 362 _ _ 362
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(Continued)

HE-_ZT——F+-_A=+—HILFE

At 1st January, 2010

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

DEEEREE (EZ) Segment assets and liabilities (restated)
HERDH
RESIRAL
RIAFES
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel R
and related Gas o)
products connection Consolidated
FHET FAET FAT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BE ASSETS
DIAE Segment assets 4,877,868 1,117,809 5,995,677
AN Interest in associates 21,733
FEIERIAE B Deferred tax assets 58,575
APBARIEAE (Msfa) Unallocated corporate assets (Note a) 5,979,921
12,055,906
i=F- LIABILITIES
HiEAaE Segment liabilities 636,158 1,962,294 2,598,452
FERTREIE Taxation payable 70,096
EEFIEAE Deferred tax liabilities 262,803
AHEATEE (Mib)  Unallocated corporate liabilities (Note b) 5,665,472
8,596,823

ih =& R

MEZMER  REEWEEERIER
HEE (TEEeMTARELERE
BE) ITRPBEEEL M NHE -

Geographical information

The Group’s turnover and non-current assets (excluded financial
instruments and deferred tax assets) are arisen in and located in
the PRC during both years.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2011
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8. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Information about major customers

No single external customer contributed revenue from
transactions amounting to 10% or more of the revenue of the

Group during both years.

Notes:

(a)

(b)

Unallocated corporate assets represent goodwill arising on
acquisition of subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities which are
engaged in sale and distribution of gas fuel and related products
and gas connection, investment properties, prepaid lease payments,
deposit for acquisition of prepaid lease payments, deposit for
investments, available-for-sale investments, other receivables,
amounts due from fellow subsidiaries, pledged bank deposits and
bank balances and cash.

Unallocated corporate liabilities represent other payables, accrued
expenses, amounts due to fellow subsidiaries, bank and other
borrowings and other long-term liabilities (excluding payable
for acquisition of operating rights). The amounts due to fellow
subsidiaries and bank and other borrowings are classified as
unallocated corporate liabilities because they are managed centrally
by the treasury function of the Group.

9. FINANCE COSTS

—E——fF —E-ZF
2011 2010
FHERT FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
(E31)
(Restated)
FE Interests on:
AR AFANBBEERRTT Bank and other borrowings wholly repayable
REMEE (BEHREE within five years (including a bank loan
BB RIERIRITER) with repayment on demand clause) 72,595 52,678
HBANAFARREENIRTT Bank and other borrowings not wholly
REMEE repayable within five years 1,565 1,844
FEAS R R BT BB A RIRIA Amount due to a fellow subsidiary - 24,441
HRHaE Other long-term liabilities 2,649 2,636
76,809 81,599
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2011
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=E——F —E—EF
2011 2010
FERT FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
(&%)
(Restated)
RIESZH (Ee) B1F - The tax charge (credit) comprises:
BVEA7S 18 Current taxation
B ZERER PRC Enterprise Income Tax 556,400 327,088
BEFEREBETIR Underprovision in prior years - 3,687
556,400 330,775
RIEFIE (M13E31) Deferred taxation (Note 31)
FAEKR Credit for the year (5,106) (1,990)
551,294 328,785

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2010: 16.5%) on
the estimated assessable profits for the year. The Company and
its subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong do not have assessable
profits, accordingly, no provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has
been made in the consolidated financial statements.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate
of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1st January, 2008 onwards.

Certain subsidiaries operating in the PRC are exempted from
income tax applicable in the PRC for two years starting from the
first profit making year after utilisation of the tax losses brought
forward and were granted a 50% relief for the following three
years. These tax exemptions and reliefs will expire in the year
2014.

Certain jointly controlled entities which are operating in the
Western China have been granted tax concessions by the local
tax bureau and are entitled to PRC Enterprise Income Tax at
concessionary rate of 15%.
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According to a joint circular of the Ministry of Finance and
State Administration of Taxation, Cai Shui 2010 No. 1, only the
profits earned by foreign-investment enterprise prior to 1st
January, 2008, when distributed to foreign investors, can be
grandfathered and exempted from withholding tax. Whereas,
dividend distributed out of the profits generated thereafter,
shall be subject to the Enterprise Income Tax at 5% or 10% and
withheld by the PRC entities, pursuant to Articles 3 and 27 of the

New Law and Article 91 of its Detailed Implementation Rules.

taxation as follows:

Profit before taxation

Tax at the applicable income
tax rate of 25%
(2010: 25%) (Note)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible
for tax purposes
Tax effect of income not taxable
for tax purposes
Tax effect of share of results of associates
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised
Utilisation of tax losses previously
not recognised
Tax effect of deductible temporary
differences not recognised
Effect of tax exemptions and reliefs granted
to subsidiaries operating in the PRC
Income tax at concessionary rates
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries
Withholding tax for undistributed profits
of investments in the PRC
Underprovision in prior year
Others

Tax charge for the year

—E——F
2011
TR
HK$’000

2,147,702

536,926
17,478

(19,788)
29,364
15,151

(191)

(21,944)
(17,077)
(1,133)

18,000

(5,492)
551,294

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit before

—ZT-TF

2010
FET
HK$'000
(E51)
(Restated)

1,366,969

341,743

26,454

(6,067)
3,881
19,463

(7,052)

257

(50,633)
(33,076)
(6,667)

30,000
3,687
6,795

328,785

Note: The applicable income tax rate represents PRC Enterprise Income
Tax rate of 25% for the two years ended 31st December, 2011 and
2010, of which the Group’s operations are substantially based.
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1. FRBEF
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11. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

—E——F —E—TF
2011 2010
FHT FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
(&%)
(Restated)
FRRMEHE (GTA) : Profit for the year has been arrived
at after charging (crediting):
BT RAR Staff costs
EEZME (MEE12) Directors’ emoluments (Note 12) 31,225 12,418
HEMBET Other staff
— e RkHEMEF — Salaries and other benefits 1,001,021 692,967
— RUREFIFT BBt — Retirement benefits schemes
contributions 141,824 87,161
B IR A®E Total staff costs 1,174,070 792,546
ZER & Auditor’s remuneration 4,100 3,518
M - WERRETE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 449,506 399,560
REMENE Depreciation of investment properties 1,355 624
R G Amortisation of operating rights
(BETAITEREX) (included in administrative expenses) 33,193 29,943
TE R AR IE R Release of prepaid lease payments 20,512 17,691
U B 58RO E E 1 Impairment loss on trade receivables 2,894 9,961
FERESE Impairment loss on inventories 954 -
HEYENKEROES Operating lease rentals in respect
of rented premises 45,408 31,218
HEME - BERREDN (Gain) loss on disposal of property, plant and
(Wzs) B8 equipment (10,037) 362
A EIRER B A Dividend income from available-for-sale
investments - (440)
HER I ERE s Gain on disposal of available-for-sale investments (665) (280)
BB Government grants (46,673) (39,529)
RITIFHFIE Interest on bank deposits (94,408) (565,376)
REREMENHES A Rental income from investment properties
(BHBRATABFRL) (net of negligible outgoings) (4,388) (1,955)
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For the year ended 31st December, 2011 HE-ZT——F+-_A=+—RHLFE

12.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

= Directors
ENRENEFHME T The emoluments paid or payable to the directors are as follows:
—E——%F 2011
EEpE Name of Director WIMITE BRER
FeR e FHEMER
H{#8% Performance  Retirement —T-TF
Salaries related benefit A&t
Fiok and other incentive schemes &5t 2010
Fees benefits payments contributions Total Total
BiE THER FTEx THER TR THER FAT
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
EE% Ma Guoan 70 1,745 7,495 72 9,382 5,056
TER Wang Chuandong 70 1,495 16,584 72 18,221 4,077
TR Ong Thiam Kin, Ken 70 1,560 1,229 173 3,032 2,653
B0, Wei Bin b 70 - - - 70 70
HXR Du Wenmin 70 - - - 70 70
TIEIE Li Fuzuo - - - - - 42
=55 Wong Tak Sing a 150 - - - 150 150
= Luk Chi Cheong a 150 - - - 150 150
Tl Yu Jian 150 - - - 150 119
e Yang Chonghe, Howard - - - - - 31
800 4,800 25,308 317 31,225 12,418
B E Notes:

(b)

DBUFBTEERERZEGN

g o

/

RBILIFRTES °

WNITEMNRES IRBEAEBHLE
5 MARBRRAHEROTSE R
FTERETE o AR BEREBM 33T
TE 2= 0 SEE) &I T £ %23,880,000
B (ZZE—24 : 5,324,000787C) °

(a) Being independent non-executive directors and members of the
Audit Committee.

(b) Being independent non-executive director.

Performance related incentive payments were determined
with reference to the Group’s operating results, individual
performances and comparable market statistics. Included therein
were amounts granted to directors of HK$23,880,000 (2010:
HK$5,324,000) under the Incentive Award Scheme as defined in
Note 33.
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HE-_ZT——F+-_A=+—HILFE

12. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Continued)

Employees

The five highest paid individuals of the Group included two (2010:
three) executive directors, details of whose emoluments are set
out above. The emoluments of the remaining three (2010: two)
highest paid employees of the Group are as follows:

—E——fF —E-ZF

2011 2010

FHET FAT

HK$’000 HK$'000

e REMBER Salaries and other benefits 1,653 1,250
WIMITENES Performance related incentive payments 16,508 4,020
BRINEF 2K Retirement benefit schemes contributions 167 92
18,328 5,362

b BN FIATEE :

The emoluments of the above employees are within the following

bands:
—E——fF —E-ZF
2011 2010
EEAH EEAH
Number of Number of
employees employees
2,500,001/870%3,000,0008C HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 - 2
5,000,001/87CE5,500,0008 7 HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 1 -
6,000,001/8 026,500,000 HK$6,000,001 to HK$6,500,000 1 -
6,500,001/87C 27,000,000/ HK$6,500,001 to HK$7,000,000 1 =
13. RE 13. DIVIDENDS
—E——fF —E-ZF
2011 2010
FHET FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000
FARRBRDIEHRS : Dividends recognised as distribution
during the year:
—E——FRNAPHIRR S Interim dividend paid of 2 HK cents
FRR2BI (ZT—TF - per share for 2011 (2010: paid of
—E-ZFERMNAFEHKE 2 HK cents per share for 2010)
2B 33,199 31,491
ZE-TFRMNHRPRE Final dividend paid of 8 HK cents
RSB (ZE—FF - per share for 2010 (2010: paid of
—ETAFIRMOKRER S 4.5 HK cents per share for 2009)
Fh%4.57%5(0) 141,050 60,499
174,249 91,990

EERBRMBRRRNBE-_T——F
TZA=t-HLEEENREREE
P10l (=T —F4F : ZREHBAL)

The directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of 10
HK cents per share for the year ended 31st December, 2011
(2010: 8 HK cents per share).
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14. EARNINGS PER SHARE

BREARIER N THIRIAT SR

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share is

B based on the following data:
—E——fF —E-ZF
2011 2010
FExT FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000
(&%)
(Restated)
B Earnings:
BT E SR EAR R Earnings for the purposes of basic and
BE R 2T diluted earnings per share (profit for the
(KRABEA AERERGEF])  year attributable to owners of the Company) 1,200,473 786,676
—E——fF —E-ZF
2011 2010
(&%)
(Restated)
ROEE Number of shares:
AUt ESRERAEF G Weighted average number of shares
METEHEEHTRMHER in issue less shares held for incentive
A SR T B B AR D award scheme for the purposes of basic

BEEERHNTZE

earnings per share

Effect of dilutive potential shares

Share options

1,828,293,284

52,320

1,445,155,924

50,718

R EESREER T
IEFHE BT EE
R BB Bl A AR

Weighted average number of shares
in issue less shares held for incentive

award scheme for the purposes of diluted

earnings per share

1,828,345,604

1,445,206,642

153




154

For the year ended 31st December, 2011

15. W% - BERRE

HE-_ZT——F+-_A=+—HILEFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

BE:
BEREE
Plant,
fENE  machinery REEE  GHREE HELEE RE HRIR
Leasehold and Gas Fumiture Leasehold Motor  Construction &t
properties equipment pipelines  and fixtures  improvements vehicles  in progress Total
Th T Thr TR T Thr Thi Th
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
x| THE GROUP
HA cosT
RZ5-%%F At 1st January, 2010
—A—A (&) (restated) 476814 419,320 3292407 58,852 6379 153,19 679,769 5,086,736
B FE Bxchange adjustments 27110 38,904 70451 5,091 343 11280 48,304 217143
HE Additions 90,424 165,501 249,400 36,275 65 70,822 1,363.214 1,965,701
WEHBAR Acquisition of subsidiaries 143,294 222,321 588,778 14,467 - 32587 206,4% 1,227942
LR ER Acquisition of jointy controlled entities 307430 113813 943,036 9,559 2908 37591 156,205 1570542
= Disposéls (10197) (14429) (85,150) (1791) - (11902) - (123.469)
HERER Transfers befween categories 217472 55,775 509,989 2829 - 4749 (790814) -
RZE-%F At 31st December, 2010
+-A=1-H 1,268,007 1,001,205 5,568,911 125,282 9,69 298,322 1,673,173 9944 5%
B A% Exchange adjustments 79,866 99,699 318,637 8,1% 892 18,804 157,890 743,983
e Additions 106,457 123,866 88,982 28922 4045 92,635 1,198,853 1,643,760
WENELAR Acquisiion of subsidiares 83% 29551 174627 96 - 3017 106,760 247
W LR EE Acquisition of a jointly controlled entity 2236 1136 118597 2% 37 937 24919 148477
RAEERRES Deemed acqistion of addtonal
ERmEER interests in a ointly contralled entity 231 812 171675 157 = 554 28% 178,344
ERULRETIER Loss of oint control over a jointy
HRRRE controlled entiy (263,342) (109451) (619.042) (13775) = (41,095) (177367)  (1224072)
e Disposals (60.264) (60502) (26,483) (9978) - 9004) - (166.231)
DiEmEE Transfers between categories 198539 3075 676,171 12652 18,468 2480 (911,385) -
RZE——F At31st December, 2011
+-A=1+-H 1,342,136 1,089,391 6,532,075 152,716 33457 366,650 2074678 11,591,103
HEREE DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT
R_E-BF AT st January, 2010
—A-H (&) (restated) 21,90 56,725 277,052 16,669 3134 25,831 26,831 434,162
EAE Exchange adjustments 5847 7434 19,898 2,369 128 34% - 917
KEEERE Provided for the year 51,124 94,988 198,057 21,749 10 33632 - 399,560
HERHR Eliminated on disposals (5,53) (7.321) (5,8%8) (1,502) - (8,753) - (28970)
R=F-%% At 31st December, 2010
+-A=t-H 79,35 151,826 489,149 39,285 3212 54,205 26,831 843,923
ERAE Exchange adjustments 8,260 15,842 38,988 3359 223 5310 - 72582
BRYURFLGEE Loss of joint control over a jointly
bR controled entty (50618) (37632) (173600) (8923) - (15559) - (286,335)
EERE Provided for the year 50,292 113,1% 219,614 22782 87 4353% - 449,506
it R Elminated on disposals (5,544) (21555) (2,466) (8.230) = (5,415) - (43.210)
RZE—F At 315t December, 2011
+-A=1-H 81,745 201,677 571,682 48273 3582 82,676 26,831 1,036,466
AE CARRYING VALUES
R_E—F At 315t December, 2011
+-A=t-H 1,260,391 867,714 5960,393 104,443 29875 283,974 2047841 10,554,637
RZF-%% At 31st December, 2010
+-A=t-H 1,188,652 849,379 5,079,762 85,997 6,423 214117 1,646,342 9,100,672
R=F-%% At 1st January, 2010
-A-A 448,894 362,59 3,015,355 42183 3245 127,364 652,938 4652574
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment, other than

construction in progress, are depreciated over their estimated

useful lives and after taking into account their estimated residual

values, using the straight-line method, as follows:

Leasehold properties 25 to 40 years or over the relevant
lease terms, if shorter

Plant, machinery and 5 to 20 years
equipment

Gas pipelines

Furniture and fixtures

Leasehold improvements 3 to 5 years or over the relevant
lease terms, if shorter

315 to 10 years

20 to 30 years
31to 12 years

Motor vehicles

The Group’s leasehold properties comprise buildings situated on
land:

—E——fF == —E-ZF
+=A=+—-H +=ZA=+—H —H—H
31.12.2011 31.12.2010 1.1.2010
FHET FHET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(&31) (E31)
(Restated) (Restated)
FEARRINAPEELD Outside Hong Kong
on medium-term lease 1,260,391 1,188,652 448,894

R_E——F+_A=+—H " E@A
#{6/5203,976,00087C (=T —T4F
+ = A=+—H :1,470,000/% 7T &
—T—ZTF—A—H :95978,000/%
o) MME  BEREHE LSRR
LEREETFTAEENRITEE (M
29) °

At 31st December, 2011, property, plant and equipment with an
aggregate carrying value of HK$203,976,000 (31st December,
2010: HK$1,470,000 and 1st January, 2010: HK$95,978,000) are
pledged to secure the bank borrowings granted to the Group
(Note 29).
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16. AN HEAFKIE

HE-_ZT——F+-_A=+—HILFE

16. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

AEENEABEORERERE M The Group’s prepaid lease payments comprise of leasehold land
I : situated:
—E——F —ZE-TF —T—TF
+=A=+-8B +ZA=+—H —H—H
31.12.2011 31.12.2010 1.1.2010
FHET FAET FAT
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(&31) (&%)
(Restated) (Restated)
BERINAPEEL Outside Hong Kong
on medium-term lease 880,220 884,015 316,472
BE2WAEIHNE Analysed for reporting purposes as
FERBEE Non-current assets 844,531 850,292 302,489
ENEE Current assets 35,689 33,723 13,983
880,220 884,015 316,472
17. BEY 17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
FHET
HK$'000
2% COST
WZZ—ZF—HA—H At 1st January, 2010 12,618
T A Exchange adjustments 468
NE Additions 521
R-E—ZTF+_-_A=+—H At 31st December, 2010 13,607
[ 5, A% Exchange adjustments 1,031
NE Additions 15,570
R-E——F+=-_A=+—8H At 31st December, 2011 30,208
e DEPRECIATION
RZZE—ZTF—A—H At 1st January, 2010 1,260
=S Exchange adjustments 76
REEBE Provided for the year 624
R-E—ZFFE+_-_A=+—H At 31st December, 2010 1,960
IS Exchange adjustments 192
REZEME Provided for the year 1,355
WZZE——F+-A=+—H At 31st December, 2011 3,507
REE CARRYING VALUES
WZZ——F+-_A=+—H At 31st December, 2011 26,701
WZZE-ZF+-_HA=+—H At 31st December, 2010 11,647
RZZE—ZF—HF—H At 1st January, 2010 11,358




17. REWE (&)

REE P A LAE ST DT 58 DARR
B WASIEEREERENYE
BEEUAKAEAGFE  UHBRAKR
BEWMENR - TEDRFBEEFH
B SEME R B M HE KA -

18. REFE N TR

For the year ended 31st December, 2011

HE-_T——F+-_A=+—HILFE

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating leases
to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are measured

using cost model and are classified and accounted for as

investment properties. Depreciation is provided to write off the

cost of investment properties using straight-line method over the

remaining terms of the leases.

At 31st December, 2011 and 2010, all of the Group’s investment
properties are situated in the PRC with medium terms of leases.

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

—B--F —T-TF
+=A +=A —T-EF
=/ =+—H —H—H
31.12.2011 31.12.2010 1.1.2010
FHET FHET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FEEMRRG - A Unlisted shares, at cost 1,507,257 57,105 13,356
mE Goodwill 3,482 3,482 =
X eat Sinkil| Share of post-acquisition profits
REMZEEA - and other comprehensive income,
MR B YRS net of dividend received 131,989 24,662 8,377
1,642,728 85,249 21,733

RIBEHKR - NEEHEQRFS
BHFIFE46 ©

Details of the Group’s associates at the end of the reporting

period are set out in Note 46.
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18. REt&E ARl =R (&) 18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
7N & B B A B B 5 & R a0 The summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s
Ik associates is set out below:
—E——F —T—TF
+=A +=A —T-TF
=S H =+—A —H—H
31.12.2011 31.12.2010 1.1.2010
FHET FAET FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEE Total assets 7,843,944 966,319 337,652
maE Total liabilities (3,882,534) (654,571) (190,758)
BEFE Net assets 3,961,410 311,748 146,894
REBE (R Z N A The Group’s share of net assets
BEFE of associates 1,639,246 81,767 21,733
WA Income 6,090,484 309,977
5 Expenses 5,693,685 275,674
N EE [E % A Profit for the year 396,799 34,303
HEmammBA Other comprehensive income 131,843 9,524
AREBRE(EBEQABDEM KR  The Group’s share of profit and
HthE b2 mEmA other comprehensive
income of associates 168,161 19,187
19. AJEHERE 19.AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS
—E——fF —E-ZF
+=A +=A —E-FF
Sr=E E—E —H—H
31.12.2011 31.12.2010 1.1.2010
FHET FHET FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(&%) (&%)
(Restated) (Restated)
R ER ETRD - Listed shares in the PRC,
BATE at fair value 1,560 26,484 11,745
R E R IE ETARAIRE - Unlisted equity investments
1RR AR in the PRC, at cost 26,933 21,311 16,777
28,493 47,795 28,522
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EHRAOATFET R (B RAT
EEHR) T35k &R BB T SR -

FEETRARE LN HERHRORA
RERERBETE  BREQFEM
FAHBEBAN  MERERR/EATF
ETRER SEHATE -

For the year ended 31st December, 2011 HE-ZT——F+-_A=+—RHLFE

19. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS
(Continued)

The fair value measurements of the listed shares (Level 1 fair value
measurements) are derived from quoted prices in an active market.

The unlisted equity investments are measured at cost less
impairment losses at the end of the reporting period because
the range of reasonable fair value estimates is so significant that
the management is of the opinion that their fair values cannot be
measured reliably.

e 20. GOODWILL
FAExT
HK$'000
BRTEE CARRYING VALUE
RZZE—TF—F—AH (%) At 1st January, 2010 (restated) 226,991
R Exchange adjustments 1,251
IR BRI B A A Acquisition of subsidiaries 39,125
U B AL [ 20 | = Acquisition of jointly controlled entities 259,886
N-Z—ZTF+_-_A=+—H At 31st December, 2010 527,253
bE Exchange adjustments 11,793
IR B A A Acquisition of subsidiaries 294,515
RENEE — R R E S Deemed acquisition of additional interests
FESMER in a jointly controlled entity 9,892
512 55 3 L [R] 128 i) 5 A 0 22 I 4 Loss of control over a jointly controlled entity (253,874)
R-E——F+-A=+—H At 31st December, 2011 589,579
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For the year ended 31st December, 2011

HE-_ZT——F+-_A=+—HILFE

HEBAHIRENEES RS
BB ERZERAHZREEL
B EEREANRANS - EBE
BEMBARKARZEHER RSB L
MRS EEBMN - BB LR AR
EHREBRREEHERDHAE
M RBEER] RIRRER] D
B OBAERRE-—TOREERDH -
NEREHE  HENEEETIEE
H U B DA T B B A ) R SRR I B B
FTEERNEE

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to cash
generating units (“CGUs”) that are expected to benefit from that
business combination. The management considers each subsidiary
and jointly controlled entity represents a separate CGU for the
purpose of goodwill impairment testing. As the subsidiaries and
jointly controlled entities are engaged in both “sale and distribution
of gas fuel and related products” and “gas connection” segments,
the goodwill is not further allocated to each segment. At the end
of the reporting period, the carrying amount of goodwill mainly
represents goodwill arising from the acquisition of subsidiaries and
jointly controlled entities as follows:

—E——fF —E-TF
2011 2010
FHET FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000
(E2%))
(Restated)
H A HE e Jointly controlled entities
EEMR (RE) BRAA EEMRR (RE) BR AR
(TEEMRE ) (M) (“Chongaging Gas”) (Note) - 253,794
=G Subsidiaries
REEBRRERAA REEHRRERAA 131,348 131,348
25 EERRBRAR 25 EHRRBRA R 34,324 34,324
BN EERMERDER QA DN R R R D B IR A A
([EBMIRE ) (“Zhengzhou Gas”) 30,202 30,202
ARZEBRRER A A ARZEBRRERAF 23,089 23,089
REEMRRBRETAR EREERRRBRETAR 11,624 11,624
BRABAIEERAT ([Bk]) BXABIEERAT (“Flemming”) 256,249 -
REEBRRRERAR RHEBERRBERAR
([#HEE L) (“Chuxiong Gas”) 38,266 -
EAth Others 64,477 42872
589,579 527,253

iz REER=-ZT——F+=-A=+—8
IHFE  AEETEHEERRES
HEEZEGE  BREEATE (BN
5£37) °

Note: During the year ended 31st December, 2011, the Group no longer
had joint control but retained significant influence over Chongaging
Gas (see Note 37).
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ERJZA/IFRE ERELEEREE
ERAWIRAES - R EDHRAR
RMBEBRTELEEMBENEER
{E M AR ARTT TS AR BRI
ES R iR oi'ﬁzhz%mi'ﬁﬁ
AFE - EEREEKANEFH AR
iﬂﬁtf IR FRRATTIS R R B LT EEE

AEERESAEEELEBBARRE
NENSIAMBESE (HERIER
RMREREBN —REREH) FRE
ReneEAl - REa N\FHHhEE
El@ﬁs%&?ﬁﬁ%Ttiﬁ’MﬁéﬂE%
7#0% —ZF: EN\FR%BR
%ﬁ%tiz‘%o%) PR HE i 7R & HA 12 BA A
MIReRE - BRABRSELSEMR

ERMEMANEEEXRE10% (ZF —
TF:78%)c EERAE NERE
R MREEBHEHEBTELREME
AREEE BEERR  ZERBRK
WERAEAEEH T SEHIREE
GEUNRAEEBRZRESESE
R PT UL [El & BE AR EE o

KEWBARAEENE B
294,515,000/ TR E & A LT -
LEFRRAUSFAEEAREERARE
HETX -

REE=—Z——F+=ZA=1+—AH1L
FE DERR-_Z—TFDKEHL
EEHIEEO A FAEEFENATF
ERRARET  REERAREAL
FEPARK/ERAA ([ERIIEEH
MR % - BERBEBHEAKRER
AHOREZAFERRREE BN E
Nt e ZE—"EFENLERBTEL
B MY ETTEESSKER
HRBELSERK ©
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For the year ended 31st December, 2011 HE_T——F+-_A=+—RHILFE

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined based on
value in use calculations. The key assumptions for the value in
use calculations are those regarding the discount rates, growth
rates and expected changes to selling prices and direct costs.
Management estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that
reflect current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the CGUs. The growth rates are based
on industry growth forecasts. Changes in selling prices and
direct costs are based on past practices and expectations of
future changes in the market.

The Group prepares cash flows forecasts derived from the most
recent financial budgets approved by senior management for the
next 4 years, which is the general development period for sales
of liquefied gas and gas connection business and extrapolates
cash flows for the period beyond the budget period based on
the estimated growth rate of 5% for the first 8 years and 0%
for the remaining 7 years (2010: 5% for the first 8 years and
0% for the remaining 7 years). The rate used to discount the
forecast cash flows for the CGUs is 10% (2010: 7.8%). In the
opinion of the directors, no material impairment loss of goodwill
on gas operation is identified at the end of the reporting period.
Management believes that any reasonably possible change
in any of these assumptions would not cause the aggregate
carrying amount of the CGU to exceed the aggregate carrying
amount of the CGU.

The determination of goodwill arising from the acquisition of
subsidiaries amounting to HK$294,515,000 is based on a
provisional basis, awaiting the completion of the identification of
separable assets and valuation of the assets and liabilities.

During the year ended 31st December, 2011, the identification
and determination of fair values of the net identifiable assets of
jointly controlled entities acquired in 2010 has been completed
and the fair value of the property, plant and equipment and
prepaid lease payments of Chongging Gas and @ & )1 % ¥
B R B PR A A (“Nanjing Jiangning CR Gas”) were greater
than the original estimate made at the date of acquisition. The
comparative figures of 2010 have been restated as if the initial
accounting had been completed from the respective dates of
acquisitions.
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HE-_ZT——F+-_A=+—HILEFE

REWEBE ME- - BEREE
LA KRB BLHORENQFESD R E
$n474,539,000%% JT 55,571,000
Bor RIEZ R E B & BN
132,528,000/ T ° 7 & 8 & R 2
397,582,000/ 7T © R FEINT & &
BAY ARRBEARIEEEZES
T—TE+ - A=+—HIFEHNH
F 7R 4210,943,000%8 7T (30 Bk i IE
183,647,000 7T) °

R
R_ZT—ZF—A—H8 (F%)
& 5
NE
UG BEBT B A A
U g H R ) = 22
R_ZE—ZF+-_A=+—8H
& XA
NE
BEWREE — AR s T
REIMER
RZE——F+=ZA=+—H
#ey
R=—Z=—ZF—HF—8 (&)
& 5
FNEE
W_ZT—ZF+-_A=+—8
& 5 A=
FANEE
RZF——F+=-A=+—H
REE
RZE——F+=ZA=+—H
RZZE—ZTF+=-A=+—8H
R=ZZE—FTF—H—H

W EBBENEERTIABRER
fEFT R A FH10=50F A SH -

ERERR - M 20T REMNLE
BRERRTE - SHE QR RERF
ZHIEE A (EABLNRESEEEM -

The fair value of property, plant and equipment and prepaid
lease payments was increased by HK$474,539,000 and
HK$55,571,000, respectively, and deferred tax liability was
increased by HK$132,528,000 at the respective dates of
acquisitions. There was a corresponding reduction in goodwill of
HK$397,582,000. The profit for the year ended 31st December,
2010 attributable to owners of the Company was also decreased
by HK$10,943,000 as a result of additional depreciation
and amortisation expenses (net of deferred taxation of
HK$3,647,000).

THETT
HK$'000
COST
At 1st January, 2010 (restated) 770,430
Exchange adjustments 11,888
Additions 26,747
Acquisition of a subsidiary 17,325
Acquisition of a jointly controlled entity 22,387
At 31st December, 2010 848,777
Exchange adjustments 21,104
Additions 30,125
Deemed acquisition of additional interest
in a jointly controlled entity 132
At 31st December, 2011 900,138
AMORTISATION
At 1st January, 2010 (restated) 101,467
Exchange adjustments 983
Provided for the year 29,943
At 31st December, 2010 132,393
Exchange adjustments 5,599
Provided for the year 33,193
At 31st December, 2011 171,185
CARRYING VALUES
At 31st December, 2011 728,953
At 31st December, 2010 716,384
At 1st January, 2010 668,963

The operating rights for city pipeline network are amortised
over the estimated useful life ranging from 10 to 50 years on a
straight-line basis.

The management considers each subsidiary and jointly controlled
entity represents a separate CGU for the purpose of operating
right impairment testing as disclosed in Note 20.



For the year ended 31st December, 2011

HE-_T——F+-_A=+—HILFE

22. F& 22. INVENTORIES

—B——F —E-ZF —E-TF
t=A=+-8 +-A=t-8 —A—H
31.12.2011 31.12.2010 1.1.2010
FHExT FHET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
(&%) (&71)
(Restated) (Restated)
EEME Construction materials 295,225 249,102 163,619
I o Finished goods 116,953 19,607 36,529
412,178 268,709 200,148

23. ERE Z R KR HMWEKK 23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
—B——F —E-ZF —T-TF
+=A=+—-8B +ZA=+—H —A—H
31.12.2011 31.12.2010 1.1.2010
FHET FHET FE&T
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(E31) (&%)
(Restated) (Restated)
FEURE 5 BR 3K Trade receivables 993,278 593,115 209,269
B RARRE Less: Allowance for doubtful debts (12,623) (9,079) -
980,655 584,036 209,269
Be RIERK Deposits and prepayments 1,339,937 1,000,643 324,231
H At R R Other receivables 393,054 186,585 292 881
2,713,646 1,771,264 826,381

MN-E——F+-_A=+—HWHEM
R LT R B0 MR A [ (R4 6 A8
B A & %8 5K I8 2 50178,657,000
BT (ZE—ZTF+=-A=+—8:
TR-ZE-TF—A—A:T) %E
B REEA - RE T F K429
AERER—FRNMEE-

Included in other receivables as at 31st December, 2011 is an

amount due from a joint venturer of a jointly controlled entity
of the Group amounting to HK$178,657,000 (31st December,
2010: nil and 1st January, 2010: nil), which is unsecured,
interest bearing at a fixed interest rate of 4.29% per annum and

repayable within one year.
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AEBGETEESEPHNBREREN K
RBOREIOK - EFIFFREE P MRY
HAERE180K  RIRENKH
ENBEHRRTE - SHBEREREE
MEWE SEARREARERER

HEMBRER DT T -

0— 90K 0 - 90 days

91 — 180k 91 — 180 days
180 A I Over 180 days

R-TB——F+-_F=+—HHEWK
B SERABEIENRRE B @R H
JE U Bk 30136,786,000/8 T (= & —
THE+=-H=+—H : 115,493,000
BTk _ZT—ZFTF—H—A8:
42,446,000/ 7T) - BAREB ABE
AR EERES - E I &%
ERBEELRE ASETEHZE
R R IF B EREIFR -

91 — 180K
180K A £

91 — 180 days
Over 180 days

The Group generally allows credit periods ranging from 30 to 90
days to its trade customers, which may be extended to 180 days
for selected customers depending on their trade volume and
settlement terms. The aged analysis of trade receivables, net of
allowance for doubtful debts, is presented based on the invoice
date at the end of the reporting period as follows:

= —E-FF —T-TF
+=ZA=+—-H +ZHA=+—H —H—H
31.12.2011 31.12.2010 1.1.2010
FTHERT FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
(E31) (E31)

(Restated) (Restated)

843,869 468,543 166,823
67,926 63,198 15,979
68,860 52,295 26,467
980,655 584,036 209,269

Included in trade receivables as at 31st December, 2011
are receivables of HK$136,786,000 (31st December, 2010:
HK$115,493,000 and 1st January, 2010: HK$42,446,000) which
are past due at the reporting date but are regarded as not
impaired as there has not been a significant change in the credit
standing of the debtors. The Group does not hold any collateral
over these receivables.

—E——fF —E-ZF —Z-ZF
+=HA=+—H +=—A=+—8” —H—H
31.12.2011 31.12.2010 1.1.2010
FHERT FET FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(E31) (&%)

(Restated) (Restated)

67,926 63,198 15,979

68,860 52,295 26,467
136,786 115,493 42,446
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(&)
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BEZREBANERRAREERY

RAEEFEERERF  WEERAR
SERAER - At - ARFEEZBRE
BEARAMIBHERFELARERE
Sh - MASITIEREERE -

REREREE TEKAEBSHE
Bl B B FE M BR 3 A 3£12,623,000
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For the year ended 31st December, 2011 HE-_ZT——F+-_A=1+—RHLFE

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

In determining the recoverability of a receivable, the Group
considers whether there has been adverse change in the credit
standing of the debtor from the date credit was initially granted.
The concentration of credit risk is limited as the Group’s customer
base comprises of a large number of customers. Accordingly, the
directors of the Company believe that there is no further credit
provision required in excess of the allowance for doubtful debts
already provided for in the consolidated financial statements.

Included in the allowance for doubtful debts are individually
impaired receivables due from certain debtors with an aggregate
amount of HK$12,623,000 (31st December, 2010: HK$9,079,000
and 1st January, 2010: nil) which have either been placed under
liquidation or are in financial difficulties. The Group does not hold
any collateral over these receivables.

RIRBHERE Movements in the allowance for doubtful debts

—E——fF —E-ZF

2011 2010

FHERT FHT

HK$’000 HK$'000

m—A—H At 1st January 9,079 -
(IS Exchange adjustments 650 =
BRI EE 1B Impairment loss recognised 2,894 9,961
5571 BT W [e] A 2R 8 Amounts written off as uncollectible - (882)
R+-—A=+—8 At 31st December 12,623 9,079

165




166

For the year ended 31st December, 2011

24.

25.

Y, EBREFEHNIRE

FE

HE-_ZT——F+-_A=+—HILFE

24. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO CUSTOMERS FOR
CONTRACT WORK

—E——fF —T-TF T -TF
+=ZA=+—-H +=ZA=+—H —A—H
31.12.2011 31.12.2010 1.1.2010
FHERT FHT T
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(&%) (&B5)
(Restated) (Restated)
ELXNE LKA Contract costs incurred
INE R = plus profits recognised 822,618 529,766 352,082
B TIRERE AR Less: Progress billings (3,357,951) (1,790,062) (926,401)
(2,535,333) (1,260,296) (574,319)
MERMEITHN Analysis for reporting purposes as:
W EE&HITRRHE Amounts due from customers
for contract work 618,509 398,319 264,723
BNEPAHIERE Amounts due to customers for
contract work (3,153,842) (1,658,615) (839,042)
(2,535,333) (1,260,296) (574,319)

FEW, EAERKERR

IR

BR-ZT—TF— - BEMRRKH
B A &) 5 J81,600,000,000/8 7T (3%
RBEBEER  BREBSRITRAERS
RINFFER1.2%T ERER—FEE
B —F—F+t-A=t-B: %
R—F-FE+-_A=+—-H:%F)
Gh FTEEMRELNERR  RER
AREREEE -

25. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO FELLOW
SUBSIDIARIES

Except for an amount due to a fellow subsidiary of
HK$1,600,000,000 at 1st January, 2010 (31st December, 2011:
nil and 31st December, 2010: nil) which was unsecured, interest
bearing at HIBOR plus 1.2% per annum and repayable after
one year, all other amounts are unsecured, interest free and
repayable on demand.
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) BERIFEARN — B RXAREE
R EMNE SRR ER - DEIFER
1177 SRR T 35 F F £0.4%%E2.25%
(ZZT—ZF : 0.4%%E2.25%) it B o

17 & % K B £5,349,742,00078
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The bank balances carry interest at market rates ranging from nil
to 3.5% (2010: nil to 2.5%) per annum.

At 31st December, 2011, bank deposits of HK$17,891,000
(81st December, 2010: HK$14,875,000 and 1st January, 2010:
HK$19,262,000) are pledged as security for trade payable to a
supplier of natural gas. The pledged bank deposits carry interest
at market rates ranging from 0.4% to 2.25% (2010: 0.4% to
2.25%) per annum.

At 31st December, 2011, bank balances and cash of
HK$5,349,742,000 (31st December, 2010: HK$5,233,935,000
and 1st January, 2010: HK$2,941,846,000) were denominated
in RMB which is not a freely convertible currency in the
international market. The exchange rate of RMB is regulated
by the government and the remittance of these funds out of the
PRC is subject to exchange restrictions imposed by the PRC

[FHRERMPERINELZEE ST government.
| Fh B SR e i A 471N BRR o 1) 49 o
—B——fF —TFF —E-EF
+=—A=+—-H +=ZA=+—H —H—H
31.12.2011 31.12.2010 1.1.2010
FHET FHET FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
(&%) (E%)
(Restated) (Restated)
B SRR Trade payables 1,439,772 1,029,916 569,982
L EY Receipts in advance 1,179,662 1,447,163 1,108,881
Blkize Deposits received 583,803 501,282 187,578
W B A R EARE Consideration payable for
(R MI5E35) acquisition of subsidiaries
(see Note 35) 186,343 = =
FEstE R N HA Accruals and others 678,457 688,388 354.428
4,068,037 3,666,749 2,220,869
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27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

The aged analysis of trade payables is presented based on

invoice date at the end of the reporting period as follows:

—E——F —E-EF ZT-TF

+=A=t+-A +=ZA=t-A —A—~

31.12.2011 31.12.2010 1.1.2010

FHExT FET FET

HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(E31) (&31)

(Restated) (Restated)

0—90X& 0 - 90 days 1,191,832 619,771 416,111
91 — 180k 91 - 180 days 37,042 111,835 39,667
180 KA E Over 180 days 210,898 298,310 114,204
1,439,772 1,029,916 569,982

BENTHEEHRRTREIBOKR - &
SECHENBRREIRHEK - AR
RRBAEERANS I AABMER -

BB €

R-T——F+_-A=1+—0" BF
#B)4£70,449,0008 T (ZE—Z 4
+=-HA=+—H : 64,540,000/ T &
—E—ZTF—A—H : 14,371,000/
) TERETERNEBAE BIREN
BB RIERWEBYE  BERZE
AREZRREBRHES -

28.

The average credit period on purchases of goods ranges from 7

to 180 days. The Group has financial risk management policies in

place to ensure that all payables are within the credit timeframe.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

At 31st December, 2011, government grants of HK$70,449,000
(81st December, 2010: HK$64,540,000 and 1st January, 2010:
HK$14,371,000) mainly represent subsidies granted by PRC
governmental authorities for the purpose of financing the

acquisition of property, plant and equipment and construction of

gas pipelines.
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29. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

HE-_T——F+-_A=+—HILFE

—E——fF =% —T-TF
+=A=+—-8B +=ZA=+—H —A—H
31.12.2011 31.12.2010 1.1.2010
FHET FHET FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(&%) (&%)
(Restated) (Restated)
WITER Bank loans 6,414,278 5,507,633 2,708,070
HinE® Other loans 85,318 182,840 40,419
6,499,596 5,690,473 2,748,489
AR Secured 118,416 = 57,923
A Unsecured 6,381,180 5,690,473 2,690,566
6,499,596 5,690,473 2,748,489
REEMFRITREMEE The Group’s bank and other
AR THREES - borrowings are repayable as
follows:
BRERYL—FA On demand or within one year 1,536,083 234,199
ZR—FBTBBEME More than one year, but not
exceeding two years 48,255 46,370
ZHMEBTRBRF More than two years, but not
exceeding five years 4,710,310 5,045,725
ZRAF More than five years 204,948 64.179
6,499,596 5,390,473
BEREHRELZN—F Carrying amount of bank loans
BTBAMFER that are repayable more than
AREBEHEREL one year but not exceeding
EEER ORBAE two years from the end of
FiR) RISRTTE R reporting period but contain
RIRRTEE a repayment on demand
clause (shown under current
liabilities) - 300,000
6,499,596 5,690,473
B RSB EBERRR Less: Amount due within one
—F N E R I8 year shown under
current liabilities (1,536,083) (534,199)
ERBaEMRR—4%F  Amount due after one year
1B BB RIE shown as non-current liabilities 4,963,513 5,156,274
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HE-_ZT——F+-_A=+—HILFE

29. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

(Continued)
REBEIRITREMEE B IERHEFE Details of the terms of the Group’s bank and other borrowings
U are set out below:
BRFN =X
Effective
interest rate —E——F —E—FF
per annum 2011 2010
FHERT FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
(E31)
(Restated)
TEoEE: Fixed rate borrowings:
WA RKIITEZ  Unsecured RMB bank loans 0.65% — 6.1% 225,903 206,196
EIEHARBEMER Unsecured RMB other loans 2.25% — 6.56% 69,573 165,456
BHEBARKERITER  Secured RMB bank loans 4.95% — 9.18% 48,723 -
ELBERTE Total fixed rate borrowings 344,199 371,652
EEEE Floating rate borrowings:
EIAREIRITER © Unsecured RMB bank loans
BB A RBITER at the People’s Bank of
B\ China Base Rate 5.06% — 6.89% 189,959 308,936
B TIRITER Unsecured HKD bank loans
REBEMEBRIT at margin plus HIBOR
EETI-E S0} 1.35% — 1.85% 5,880,000 4,992,500
AR BOT M ER Unsecured Euro other loans at
ZhE A RIRITER 0.3% over the People’s
FIE H00.3% M F KT E Bank of China Base Rate 1.8% 15,745 17,385
BEMAREIRITER ©  Secured RMB bank loans at
BPBARIBITER the People’s Bank of
MEETR China Base Rate 4.95% —7.11% 69,693 -
FREEREE Total floating rate borrowings 6,155,397 5,318,821
fEEREE Total borrowings 6,499,596 5,690,473
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For the year ended 31st December, 2011 HE-_T——F+-_A=+—HILFE

Included in other long-term liabilities at 31st December,
2011 is an amount of HK$60,246,000 (31st December, 2010:
HK$57,691,000 and 1st January, 2010: HK$61,621,000),
representing non-current portion of payables for acquisition of
operating rights for city pipeline network.

The payables for acquisition of operating rights for city pipeline
network are repayable as follows:

—E——F —T-TF —E—TF
+=ZA=+—-H +=—A=+—H —A—H
31.12.2011 31.12.2010 1.1.2010
FHET FHET FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
—FA Within one year 13,257 8,747 4,555
ZN—FENEBBRE More than one year, but not
exceeding two years 8,388 4,913 4,555
ZRMEETBARF More than two years, but not
exceeding five years 40,414 37,876 33,163
ZHRAF More than five years 11,444 14,902 23,903
73,503 66,438 66,176
B MBIBERRETA Less: Amount due within one
EHAEBZERRK year included in trade
EAth FE AT A and other payables
—F I E8 shown under current
#E liabilities (13,257) (8,747) (4,555)
ERBEEMRN —4% Amount due after one year shown
E|HARyFRIE as non-current liabilities 60,246 57,691 61,621

ZERBEDNETRESREFE - 7
FEAMITERTIENERHAI0FH
ERFFER59E (ZET—ZFF:59
[E) o

RZBE-——F+-A=+—HWHM
Y B EBHE -4 % /562,532,000
BTORBE(CE-—ZF+ A=+
—R ER-_ZE-ZTF-—A—H:
) ARKREBEMBARRAR -Z
—E S EEERE (RFIES5)

The present values were based on cash flows discounted using
effective interest rate of 5.9% (2010: 5.9%) per annum for a term
of 30 years.

Included in other long-term liabilities at 31st December, 2011
is an amount of HK$62,532,000 (31st December, 2010: nil and
1st January, 2010: nil), representing deferred consideration for
the acquisition of a subsidiary and being repayable in 2014 (see
Note 35).
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HE-_ZT——F+-_A=+—HILFE

31. DEFERRED TAXATION

The followings are the major deferred tax assets (liabilities)
recognised and movements thereon during the current and prior

years:
RABEF
HENB
MEHETE Withholding HttERZR
Accelerated TR tax on Other
tax Operating undistributed temporary ait
depreciation rights profits differences Total
FET FHET FET FHET AT
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R-ZE—TF At 1st January, 2010
—A—R8 (&%) (restated) (116,514) (137,076) - 49,362 (204,228)
AR Exchange adjustments (6,543) (121) = 2,021 (4,643)
FRER (L) Credit (charge) for the year 23,638 6,192 (30,000) 2,160 1,990
UL EEF B A A) Acquisition of a subsidiary - - - 2,257 2,257
Wi RIEHI T Acquisition of jointly
controlled entities (128,539) - - (1,090) (129,629)
R-T—ZF At 31st December, 2010
+-A=+—H (227,958) (131,005) (30,000) 54,710 (334,253)
EREC Exchange adjustments (16,094) (7,375) - 2,392 (21,077)
FRER (L) Credit (charge) for the year 5,646 11,558 (18,000) 5,902 5,106
B EURE R Deemed acquisition of
BBEIMER additional interests in
a jointly controlled entity - - - 1,585 1,585
UrBEEZHEE  Acquisition of a jointly
controlled entity - - - 10 10
LY FIEEE  Loss of control of a jointly
F 22 | controlled entity 82,198 - - (3,203) 78,995
RZZ——F At 31st December, 2011
+=-A=+—8 (156,208) (126,822) (48,000) 61,396 (269,634)
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Note: Other temporary differences are mainly arisen from receipts in
advance from customers on gas connection projects which are
taxable on a cash basis.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2011 HE-_ZT——F+-_A=1+—RHLFE

31. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

PEMEMDITOT - Analysed for reporting purpose as:
—E——-F —E—TF —E—ZF
+=A=+-8B +=ZA=+—H —A—H
31.12.2011 31.12.2010 1.1.2010
FExT FAT Fi&T
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(&%) (&E%)
(Restated) (Restated)
BEFHEEE Deferred tax assets 121,274 132,188 58,575
EERIBEEE Deferred tax liabilities (390,908) (466,441) (262,803)
(269,634) (334,253) (204,228)

RZT——F+A=+—H K
& E A K B A B 1E E518192,773,000
BT (ZE—ZEF+_A=+—8:
132,933,000/ 7T) AJ AR A E A ©
B A AR 2R ) SRR B DARE TR ¢ A
HEHBERRECHBEAE - W=
T —FR-F-TFT_A=T—
AMBEEEEEREFERRFA
FH -

R=—ZZE——&+=ZA=+—8"
iw R ERIEER H A E 8B
AR RBANEANEREZRER
971,044,000% T (= T — T F:
612,806,000 7T) ° A A& B gE iz
SR EENRRREMAZSERET
A B AR ATBE N B B - AR S BL K
EEEERAE -

\

<

D

At 31st December, 2011, the Group had unused tax losses
of HK$192,773,000 (31st December, 2010: HK$132,933,000)
available to offset against future profits. No deferred tax
asset has been recognised in respect of such losses due to
the unpredictability of future profit streams. The tax losses at
31st December, 2011 and 2010 will expire within 5 years from the
year of origination.

At 31st December, 2011, the aggregate amount of temporary
differences associated with undistributed earnings of subsidiaries
for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised was
HK$971,044,000 (2010: HK$612,806,000). No liability has been
recognised in respect of these differences because the Group is
in a position to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that such differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2011 HE-_ZT——F+-_A=+—RHLFE

32. SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY

RGOEAR HE
Number of shares Nominal value
—E——F —T-TF —E——F —T-ZF

+=ZA=+t-B +=ZA=+—-A8B +=ZA=+-8B +=ZA=+—H
31.12.2011 31.12.2010 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

174

THET FTHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
FZ0.10B T HRR Shares of HK$0.10 each
Authorised:
At 1st January and
+=-B=+—8H 31st December 10,000,000,000 10,000,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid:
At 1st January 1,831,094,933 1,414,416,710 183,109 141,442
BT REARE TR G Shares issued upon exercise
of share options - 24,000 - 2
RERD (Fitta) Placing of shares (Note a) - 230,000,000 - 23,000
REFHRIEHIEEE Issue of shares upon
B4R (FisEbKe) combination of entities
under common control
(Note b and ¢) 161,174,785 186,654,223 16,118 18,665
R+-—A=+—H At 31st December 1,992,269,718 1,831,094,933 199,227 183,109
BE-_Z——ER-_T—FTF+_f4 The new shares issued during the year ended 31st December,
=T —BLEFEERETIRORES 2011 and 2010 rank pari passu in all respects with the existing
EMmEHRBEEEFTROZERSE shares in issue.



(b)

(c)

RZZT—ZTFALA+ImB AR
A H) H # 1 18 A 7]Splendid Time
Investments Inc. ([ Splendid
Timel]) RAR A B ERIEET LR
ERRBEGH - BUREREBRES
& & §%10.757 st B 5230,000,000
BIRB R TETEILARA © BIF
B & R RE = - Splendid TimeiR
f£230,000,000/% £ fid & A% 15 2% B 4
B ) # AR 17 o BE & AR 1D B FT 1S 518
(MBREXBRRRAREINRAR) &
FERARKEE L P BT TR
R HER o

[EE 9 —ZTFAAR+=83F
imﬂaﬁa’$%.MﬁE
2,221,155,0007% 7t B e B R
AR ([H1E]) WEEE/100%MR A
i o ZNEEBRERETARA
186,654,223 K ER 7D IEE - R E
BROR=_ZT—ZF+A=-+HAUE
f&11.9% 70 T AT -

BER-_ZT——&LtA-+=H
FVHMEEHE AEBEURE
1,930,874,0008 7t B e X B R
2Aa ([HE]D) WEESERA AN
100%M AN - 2B BB
REITARRAE61,174,785 KB
DEE - RERGHR=-Z——FNA
FH LASI11.988 7T T IAZETT ©

RZZTT—F+—A=+8"
RABRER—ANAEFE+A+
i B B 4 B AR A 5T 1 I BR AR T
R ERTE ([ZatEl)) - R
%T F_A=+—H8 ' ARQ
B EA ERET R E
ﬁt?&?ﬁﬁﬁéﬁﬁﬁi%ﬁﬁ%
EHE[E —ETNEF=
=IEVIN/N Teﬂta atE .
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Notes:

On 14th September, 2010, Splendid Time Investments Inc.
(“Splendid Time”), the Company’s immediate holding company, and
the Company entered into a placing and subscription agreement
with the placing agent pursuant to which the placing agent placed
230,000,000 existing shares at a price of HK$10.75 per share owned
by Splendid Time to certain independent placees. Pursuant to the
placing and subscription agreement, Splendid Time subscribed for
230,000,000 new shares equivalent to the number of the placing
shares. The proceeds from the placing of shares, net of professional
fees and out-of-pocket expenses, will be used principally for
acquisition of more downstream city gas distribution businesses in
the PRC.

Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement entered into on
13th September, 2010, the Group acquired 100% equity interest in
Mega Fair from Powerfaith Enterprise Limited (“Powerfaith”) for a
consideration of HK$2,221,155,000. The consideration was satisfied
in full by the allotment and issue of 186,654,223 consideration
shares in the Company. The consideration shares were issued on
25th October, 2010, at which time the share price was HK$11.9 per
share.

Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement entered into on 22nd
July, 2011, the Group acquired 100% equity interest in Wang Gao
Limited from Powerfaith Enterprise Limited (“Powerfaith”) for a
consideration of HK$1,930,874,000. The consideration was satisfied
in full by the allotment and issue of 161,174,785 consideration
shares in the Company. The consideration shares were issued on 5th
September, 2011, at which time the share price was HK$11.98 per
share.

On 26th November, 2001,
share option scheme adopted on 15th October, 1994 and

the Company terminated the

adopted a new share option scheme (the “Scheme”). On
21st February, 2002, upon approval of the Company’s
shareholders, the Company amended the Scheme to widen
the scope of participants that are eligible to participate in
the Scheme. On 5th March, 2008, the Company terminated
the Scheme.
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ZArEl g EHB 2 HEEYQRME The purpose of the Scheme was to promote dedication
EEB B B2 EE R DR by its participants and to encourage its participants to
DA APAEEERERE - 2 perform their best in achieving the goals of the Group. The
HELSHEEER2EATHN ARG participants are any directors (or any persons proposed
EE KB ARIMERES (5 to be appointed as such) and employees of each member
FAEBRZERESE) MMHE of the Group; any discretionary object of a discretionary
EE: AAEEEMRKER trust established by any employees or directors of each
ANEBNEEK LN ST member of the Group; any executives or employees of
HER 2 EERER  AEEE any business consultants, business partners, professionals
I B AR EBER - 2% and other advisers to each member of the Group (or
- FEME MR ERITI any persons proposed to be appointed as such): any
ABREE (AWEBHRER substantial shareholders of the member of the Group; any
BITHABSHEES)  A&EH associates of the director or substantial shareholders of the
RERARMEMEEZRE : AQ Company; and any employees of the Company’s substantial
AIEEYETERFANTMBEA shareholders or any employees of such substantial
T URARAREEREAEM shareholders’ subsidiaries or associated companies, as
EERZEETERRNHMEB AR absolutely determined by the Board.

2 AR EMES -

BIEZET 8 T 8RR AE R A The period within which the shares must be taken up under
AR B0 BRPR TS IE R I L B an option of the Scheme shall not be later than 10 years
It 2 BREET T 4F o WA E R from the date the option is granted. There is no minimum
ARERITE AT B R B A& S H period for which an option must be held before it can be
R ERERETELE=-_TNR exercised. An amount of HK$1 is payable on acceptance
NENILB1ET - REBEAR of the option within 28 days from its date of grant. The
T =FFRNE=E  ()BEER subscription price is the highest of (i) the closing price of
g BROHIERZEARER the share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
FraR ey W i (8 ¢ (i) R E B sheet on the date of grant, (i) a price being the average
B 2 BRI A &% 5 B R D e of the closing prices of the share as stated in the Stock
ZETE A MERA@O TS Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the five business
B R(ii)RMDEE - 3R E days immediately preceding the date of grant and (iii) the
e —F+—A=+~ nominal value of a share. The Scheme is valid for 10 years
HEEXN  REA+TF —T—— from 26th November, 2001. No further options may be
F+—A-+HBETESBERE granted pursuant to the Scheme after 25th November, 2011.

ZET IR KA E -

BRE-—MAITRRLBARTF Share options generally either become fully vested and
NEEHEERITE - RERE exercisable within a period of 10 years immediately after the
HREZ=FRNEE - date of grant or become vested over a period of time up to

a maximum of three years after the acceptance of a grant.
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33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(Continued)

become vested.

Date of grant

TEE
Exercise
price
BT
HK$

The Company’s equity-settled share option schemes

Options granted to a grantee become lapsed if the grantee
ceased to be an eligible participant before the options

Details of the movements of share options granted under
the Scheme are as follows:

R=®——%
—RA—BR
g%

+=—BA=+—H
e RATBE

R EHE

Number of
share options
outstanding
at 1.1.2011
and
31.12.2011

—ZEZ-FPANAR
—ZEENFE—A+=H

9.4.2002
13.1.2004

8.20
9.06

186,000
2,000

188,000

AR EEITE

Exercisable at the end of the year

188,000

EFHITEE (BT)

Weighted average exercise price (HK$)

8.21
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33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(i) The Company’s equity-settled share option schemes

(#&) (Continued)
BREHE
Number of share options
i
)i —E-2F
—2-FF RER +=A
—HA—H BT SE1=g
THEE MAR{TEE  Exercised i RATE
Exercise Outstanding during Outstanding
REBH Date of grant price  at 1.1.2010 the year at 31.12.2010
BT
HK$
—ZTT-FNAIA 9.4.2002 8.20 210,000 (24,000) 186,000
—ZTZMFE—-A+=H 13.1.2004 9.06 2,000 - 2,000
212,000 (24,000) 188,000
A A FALITIE Exercisable at the end of
the year 188,000
IR HITEE Weighted average
(BT) exercise price (HK$) 8.21 8.20 8.21

HE-TZ-THFF+-_A=1+—H
IEFE - THEBRERTERE
IniEFHRE /11188 T ° F
M ARITHEBERIENR T ANE
Hi N T BOR0.3F (ZF —
T 1.35F) -

E_T—FR-F-BET
ZA=+-BLMEEE - A%
B30 5K B AN A AR AN A AP
AR ABRAD S 15 #0325 0B
RERASE -

In respect of the share options exercised during the year
ended 31st December, 2010, the weighted average share
price at the date of exercise was HK$11.18. The options
outstanding at the end of the year have a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 0.3 years (2010: 1.3 years).

During the two years ended 31st December, 2011 and
2010, the Group has not recognised any expense relating to
equity-settled share-based payment transactions in respect
of the share options granted by the Company.



R-ZFENFT=A—B 42
AR AR 1D B B © 1 W 5t B
([EREtEI]) - (ERRBILHE
BINER LERAEERE
BERER -

RIBERZEEE ARTRARND
1 B 15 5 AN A AN S B PE AR
RENTHEBE  WAETETR
RETRERE HEERNBEE
REERBE AL - HEHS1H R
PR P H BR 1 1 e 0 48 BB B AR
RERF R A A AR BHITRA
Z5% » RIS B & R B
fn - RIBREE AR THERE
ERERGIERONEAEE T
BRBARRETRERHITRAZ
0.5% °

RZZT—ZF=A+,-H " KR
A REE EELER] - IEAR
SEARRBIBRDERLER - A
DR AR IR RE R BI4F H 22 ED
B BEBAEEREEAREN
PR I B £ B TS 3R0R -

RBE-Z——F+=ZA=+
—BIEFE  EEANFEHE
e R18e2BE T (ZFT —F
F:NM71Bx) Mmmis L&
7,741,496 R D (Z T — T
F 1,818,000/ %17 ) - HEZ
FR 5 B FT1S 518 /91,489,000
BT (ZZF—Z4 : 21,290,000
BIT) c FTBRBEE2BHERTAE
SEMNETEE (BEWNTE
F) HEFEREEEZERA
HRERAMAZ EAFANE
B1aF) o B KA B TS 5K IE
2 B R % %863,388,000/8 7T (—
T —F 4 1 14,690,000/ 7T) &t
MNRB & F

BEREEBAIRNSERESR
BRI -
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On 1st December, 2008, the Company adopted the share
repurchased cash award scheme (“Incentive Award
Scheme”) as an incentive to retain and encourage the
employees for the continual operation and development of
the Group.

Pursuant to the Incentive Award Scheme, existing shares
of the Company will be purchased by the trustee from the
market out of cash contributed by the Group and be held
in trust for the selected employees until such shares are
vested with the selected employees. No restricted shares
will be granted if the aggregate number of restricted
shares awarded throughout the duration of the scheme to
be in excess of the 5% of the issued share capital of the
Company at the adoption date of the scheme. The maximum
number of restricted shares which may be awarded to a
selected employee under the Incentive Award Scheme shall
not exceed 0.5% of the issued share capital of the Company
from time to time.

On 16th March, 2010, the Company amended the Incentive
Award Scheme such that cash instead of restricted shares
will be awarded. The Company will utilise the proceeds
generated from disposal of the restricted shares held by
the trustee for the awards made under the Incentive Award
Scheme.

During the year ended 31st December, 2011, 7,741,496
shares (2010: 1,818,000 shares) were disposed of by the
trustee to the market at an average price of approximately
HK$11.82 (2010: HK$11.71) per share. The proceeds from
disposal of those shares amounted to HK$91,489,000
(2010: HK$21,290,000). The whole amount of the proceeds
was distributed to certain employees (including executive
directors) of the Group, with an equivalent expense
recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income as employee benefits during the year. The difference
of HK$63,388,000 (2010: HK$14,690,000) between the cost
of the shares and the proceeds was credited to retained
profits.

No restricted shares were granted to eligible employees
pursuant to the Incentive Award Scheme.
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The Group participates in both a defined contribution scheme
which is registered under the Occupational Retirement Scheme
Ordinance (the “ORSO Scheme”) and a Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) established under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Ordinance. The assets of the schemes
are held separately from those of the Group, in funds under the
control of trustees. Employees who were members of the ORSO
Scheme prior to the establishment of the MPF Scheme were
offered a choice of staying within the ORSO Scheme or switching
to the MPF Scheme, whereas all new employees joining the
Group on or after 1st December, 2000 are required to join the
MPF Scheme.

The ORSO Scheme is funded by monthly contributions from both
employees and the Group based on a specified percentage of
the employee’s basic salary, depending on the length of service
with the Group. Where there are employees who leave the ORSO
Scheme prior to vesting, the contributions payable by the Group
are reduced by the amount of forfeited contributions. No forfeited
contributions were utilised in this manner in respect of the year
(2010: nil).

For members of the MPF Scheme, the Group contributes 5%
of relevant payroll costs to the scheme, which contribution is
matched by the employees.

At 31st December, 2011 and 2010, the amount of forfeited
contributions available to reduce contributions payable in the
future years is insignificant.

The employees of the Group in the PRC are members of state-
managed retirement benefit schemes operated by the local
government in the PRC. The Group is required to contribute a
specified percentage of the payroll costs to the retirement benefit
schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group
with respect to the retirement benefit schemes is to make the
specified contributions.
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On 31st March, 2011, the Group acquired 100% equity
interest in Flemming, which is an investment holding with
subsidiaries engaged in the construction, infrastructure
design and operating of city gas pipelines, gas facilities
repair and maintenance, technical support, gas selling and
distribution, construction of natural gas station production of
liquefied natural gas, the provision of related requirements,
apparatus and other ancillary services, from independent
third parties for a cash consideration of approximately
RMB352,950,000 (equivalent to HK$420,394,000), subject
to finalisation of completion accounts. Details of the
acquisition are set out in the Company’s announcement on
16th March, 2011. The transaction has been accounted for
using the acquisition method.

R B
ERREHE
(BERE)
Amounts
recognised
at the date
of acquisition
(provisional
basis)
FET
HK$’000
Net identifiable assets of the subsidiaries acquired:
Non-current assets 278,291
Current assets 102,009
Current liabilities (160,731)
Non-current liabilities (11,873)
207,696
Consideration transferred, satisfied by cash 210,197
Deferred consideration:
—included in other payables in current liabilities 147,665
—included in other long-term liabilities
(payable in 2014) 62,5632
Plus: Non-controlling interests 43,551
Less: Net assets acquired (207,696)
Goodwill arising on acquisition (provisional basis) 256,249
Analysis of net outflow of cash and cash equivalents
in respect of acquisition of subsidiaries:
Cash consideration paid (210,197)
Bank balances and cash acquired 56,352
(153,845)
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35. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

For the year ended 31st December, 2011 (Continued)

(a)

(Continued)

The non-controlling interests recognised at the date of
acquisition was measured by reference to the proportionate
share of the recognised value of the net identifiable assets
of the respective subsidiaries of the acquiree at the date of
acquisition and amounted to HK$43,551,000.

The fair values of the assets and liabilities acquired, and
goodwill have been determined on a provisional basis,
awaiting the completion of the identification of separable
intangible assets and valuation of the identifiable assets
and liabilities.

The acquiree contributed HK$433,379,000 and
HK$43,953,000 to the Group’s turnover and profit for the
period between the date of acquisition and 31st December,
2011.
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35. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
For the year ended 31st December, 2011 (Continued)

(b) On 8th November, 2011, the Group acquired 60% equity
interest in Chuxiong Gas, which is engaged in sales
of liquefied gas and connection of gas pipelines, from

an independent third parties for a cash consideration
of approximately RMB63,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$77,356,000), subject to finalisation of completion
accounts. The transaction has been accounted for using the

acquisition method.

Ui B H
ERALE
(BEE%E)
Amounts
recognised
at the date
of acquisition
(provisional
basis)
FHET
HK$'000
BUREEN B A R A R EEFE Net identifiable assets of the subsidiaries acquired:
SEmBIEE Non-current assets 70,744
mENEE Current assets 23,911
mEBAE Current liabilities (34)
ERBEE Non-current liabilities (29,469)
65,152
DR e e EERE Consideration transferred, satisfied by cash 38,678
BERE GTARBAEA Deferred consideration (included in other payables
A E b R ER) in current liabilities) 38,678
o FEERRRER Plus: Non-controlling interests 26,062
W BEREFEE Less: Net assets acquired (65,152)
WHEEANE (GEREE) Goodwill arising on acquisition (provisional basis) 38,266
WENBATNRSRIRSEE Analysis of net outflow of cash and cash equivalents
THSF DA in respect of acquisition of a subsidiary:
BEfNRERE Cash consideration paid (38,678)
EMEERITARRIE S Bank balances and cash acquired 581
(38,097)
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(b)

(c)
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(b)

HE-_ZT——F+-_A=+—HILFE

(Continued)

The non-controlling interests recognised at the date of
acquisition was measured by reference to the proportionate
share of the recognised value of the net identifiable assets
of the acquiree at the date of acquisition and amounted to
HK$26,062,000.

The fair values of the assets and liabilities acquired, and
goodwill have been determined on a provisional basis,
awaiting the completion of the identification of separable
intangible assets and valuation of the identifiable assets
and liabilities.

The acquiree contributed nil turnover and a loss of
HK$195,000 to the Group for the period between the date
of acquisition and 31st December, 2011.

On 27th August, 2010, the Group acquired 43.18% equity
interest in Zhengzhou Gas, which is engaged in sales
of natural gas, pressure control equipment and gas
appliances and construction of gas pipelines, and 100%
equity interest in EGEMRLRAER AT (“Nanyang Gas”)
from Zhengzhou Gas Group Co., Ltd., a government-related
entity, for total consideration of RMB452,875,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$524,482,000). Upon the completion
of acquisition of 43.18% equity interest in Zhengzhou Gas,
China Resources Gas (China) Investment Limited (“CR Gas
Investment”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, and
the parties acting in concert with it are required to make a
mandatory conditional cash offer for all the domestic shares
and H shares in Zhengzhou Gas (the “Offer”) in compliance
with the Hong Kong Code on Takeovers and Mergers.
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(Continued)

In September 2010, the Group received acceptances
in respect of 3.94% equity interest in H shares and
9.75% equity interest in domestic shares of Zhengzhou
Gas and the offer and acceptances of the Offer by the
shareholders became unconditional and irrevocable. The
transfer of 3.94% equity interest in H shares to CR Gas
Investment has been completed by 31st December, 2010
for a cash consideration of RMB64,879,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$75,138,000) while the transfer of 9.75%
equity interest in domestic shares would be made to a fellow
subsidiary of the Company, which was outstanding and
pending for approvals from the relevant PRC authorities.

Necessary actions have been taken by the Group and the
fellow subsidiary to effect the transfer of the legal title of the
9.75% equity interest in domestic shares of Zhengzhou Gas.
In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the fellow
subsidiary had the beneficial interests in and rights over
the voting power of the 9.75% equity interest in domestic
shares of Zhengzhou Gas at 31st December, 2010 as the
Offer and acceptances were already unconditional and
binding on all relevant parties. In addition, pursuant to an
agreement entered into between a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Group and the fellow subsidiary, the Group was able
to exercise the voting power related to the 9.75% equity
interest in domestic shares of Zhengzhou Gas. Hence,
Zhengzhou Gas was controlled by the Group and was
treated as a subsidiary of the Group for the purposes of the
preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31st December, 2010.

During the year ended 31st December, 2011, the Group
acquired the 9.75% equity interest in domestic shares of
Zhengzhou Gas. Thereafter, the Group holds a total of
56.87% equity interest in Zhengzhou Gas.
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35. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

For the year ended 31st December, 2010 (Continued)

(c) (Continued)

The transactions have been accounted for using the

acquisition method. The information for acquisition of

Nanyang Gas is disclosed together with Zhengzhou Gas as

it is individually immaterial to the Group.

PAUEE B &

[ERitrdet ]

Amounts

recognised

at the date of

acquisition

FHT

HK$'000

EUREEM B A TN A] 3 BB E R E Net identifiable assets of the subsidiaries acquired:

W - BEREE Property, plant and equipment 1,227,942
TE A FRIE Prepaid lease payments 226,242
BN RIS Interests in associates 28,395
K Operating rights 17,325
BERIEEE Deferred tax assets 30,562
FE Inventories 45,124
FE U B 5 B 3k B B A PR MR R Trade and other receivables 263,665
EUWEFEA#ITIRFIE Amounts due from customers for contract work 22,768
AlRTIA Tax recoverable 81
WITHEMRRR S Bank balances and cash 545,195
B E SRR R H A B 5K Trade and other payables (1,037,961)
FERIRE Dividend payable (71,402)
FERTFRIE Taxation payable (29,134)
RITREMEE Bank and other borrowings (63,366)
RIERIEEE Deferred tax liabilities (28,305)
1,177,131




For the year ended 31st December, 2011
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35. WEEM B | (A& 35. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
BE-_Z-ZHF+-A=+—HLEE For the year ended 31st December, 2010 (Continued)
(4&)
(c) (#&) (c) (Continued)
RUEE RS
CRALE
Amounts
recognised
at the date of
acquisition
FHET
HK$'000
UREFIHNEEERE Consideration transferred, satisfied by cash 599,620
hn o SERERRRERE (RSN AR A52.88% Plus: Non-controlling interests (52.88% in
Tt R BB MR R A BT &8 Zhengzhou Gas and 49% in a subsidiary
NAHIA9% 1 ) held by Zhengzhou Gas) 616,636
o B REE Less: Net assets acquired (1,177,131)
WEEEAREE Goodwill arising on acquisition 39,125
WEMBARNRE RESEERA Analysis of net inflow of cash and cash equivalents
SFEDMT in respect of acquisition of subsidiaries:
ERReRE Cash consideration paid (599,620)
FrBRITRBERS Bank balances and cash acquired 545,195
(54,425)
PR B BR R 8 SEIE IR R 2R D The non-controlling interests recognised at the acquisition
RS 7T R T R & B date was measured by reference to the proportion share
NERUEE BN AR B EF of the recognised value of the net identifiable assets of the
BEMRE EREMGLLOIEE - acquiree and the respective subsidiary of the acquiree at
/#616,636,000/8 7T ° the date of acquisition and amounted to HK$616,636,000.
AEEERERBLERBES Management of the Group believes this acquisition will
AEBBAHMBEEWEEH enable the Group to expand its geographic coverage and
Efm fMEASEEREMAR products, which will place both the Group and Zhengzhou
EBREBEFPFERREREHR Gas in a better position to exploit new opportunities and
Bl R THMEBIEERE - growth potential in the gas industry in the PRC.
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(c)

BE-Z——F+-A=1t—RLFE

(Continued)

The acquirees contributed HK$611,628,000 and
HK$97,349,000 to the Group’s turnover and profit for the
period between the date of acquisition and 31st December,
2010.

Had the acquisition of Zhengzhou Gas and Nanyang Gas
been completed on 1st January, 2010, total revenue of the
Group for the year would have been HK$9,633,998,000, and
profit for the year would have been HK$1,101,992,000. The
pro forma information is for illustrative purposes only and is not
necessarily an indication of revenue and results of operations
of the Group that actually would have been achieved had
the acquisition been completed on 1st January, 2010, nor is
it intended to be a projection of future results. In determining
the pro-forma profit of the Group had Zhengzhou Gas and
Nanyang Gas been acquired at the beginning of the current
year, the directors have calculated depreciation of plant and
equipment acquired on the basis of the fair values arising
in the initial accounting for the business combination rather
than the carrying amounts recognised in the pre-acquisition
financial statements.

Goodwill arose in the acquisition of subsidiaries because
the costs of the combinations included control premium.
In addition, the consideration paid for the combinations
effectively included amounts in relation to the benefit
of expected synergies, revenue growth, future market
development and the assembled workforce of the acquirees.
These benefits are not recognised separately from goodwill
because they do not meet the recognition criteria for
identifiable intangible assets.

None of the goodwill arising on these acquisitions is
expected to be deductible for tax purposes.
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(a)
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HE-_T——F+-_A=+—HILFE

On 6th July, 2011, Zhongshan China Resources Gas (Hong
Kong) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group,
acquired 40% equity interest in the registered capital of
FILEBEME AR AT, a jointly controlled entity which is
engaged in sales of liquefied gas and connection of gas
pipelines, from China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited
(*CR Gas Holdings”), a fellow subsidiary of the Company,
for a consideration of RMB83,572,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$100,493,000). The remaining equity
interests are not held by any entities under common control
of CRNC. The transaction has been accounted for using the
acquisition method.

AEBEEMG
o8- 4=R-Gl=)
EEReHE
Amounts
recognised
at the date of
acquisition
attributable
to the Group

FHET
HK$'000
Net identifiable assets of jointly controlled entity
acquired attributable to the Group’s interest:
Property, plant and equipment 148,477
Prepaid lease payment 2,584
Deferred tax assets 10
Inventories 6,533
Trade and other receivables 16,791
Bank balances and cash 13,915
Trade and other payables (36,206)
Government grants (61)
Taxation payable (1,047)
Bank and other borrowings (50,503)
100,493
Consideration transferred 100,493
Less: Net assets acquired (100,493)
Goodwill arising on acquisition -
Analysis of net outflow of cash and cash equivalents
in respect of acquisition of a jointly controlled
entity:
Cash consideration paid (100,493)
Bank balances and cash acquired 13,915
(86,578)
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36. ACQUISITION OF JOINTLY CONTROLLED
ENTITIES (Continued)

For the year ended 31st December, 2011 (Continued)

(a)

(Continued)

The acquiree contributed HK$141,529,000 and
HK$11,350,000 to the Group’s turnover and profit for the
period between the date of acquisition and 31st December,
2011,

For the year ended 31st December, 2010

(b)

During the year ended 31st December, 2010, the Group
obtained 25% equity interest in the registered capital
of Chongging Gas by capital injection amounting
to USD170,300,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,321,423,000). Chongging Gas is engaged in sales of
liquefied gas and connection of gas pipelines. The Group
was able to exercise joint control over Chongging Gas
as all of the strategic financial and operating decisions
require unanimous consent of the Group and the other
joint venture. Accordingly, Chongging Gas was regarded
as a jointly controlled entity of the Group. At the date
of acquisition, goodwill of HK$491,618,000 has been
determined provisionally based on the carrying amounts of
the net identifiable assets of Chongging Gas. During the
year ended 31st December, 2011, the identification and
determination of fair values of the net identifiable assets
acquired have been completed. The following adjustments
have been made to retrospectively adjust the provisional
amounts recognised at the date of acquisition.
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36. ACQUISITION OF JOINTLY CONTROLLED

For the year ended 31st December, 2010 (Continued)

(b) (Continued)

AEBEEMN
W BB
ERREHE
(BEEE)
Amounts
recognised
at the date of
acquisition
attributable
to the Group

52 FR Wi

AEREH

AFE

Fair values

ATE upon
#E  completion

(provisional Fair value of acquisition
basis) adjustments accounting
FHET FHT FHT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
(E3)) (&%)
(Restated) (Restated)
ANEBEREREEDUWE  Net identifiable assets of jointly
HEESEEBH controlled entity acquired
AR EEFE ¢ attributable to the Group’s interest:
ME - BWENEKRE Property, plant and equipment 540,425 272,779 813,204
Ja TR A A Prepaid lease payments 38,721 55,571 94,292
HEERE Available-for-sale investments 19,212 - 19,212
BERTEE E Deferred tax assets 4,061 = 4,061
FE Inventories 35,756 - 35,756
FEWE 5 BRF K% Trade and other receivables
H b e Yk 150,259 - 150,259
EWEFPA4ITIEZHIE  Amounts due from customers for
contract work 2,557 — 2,557
RITHEBR KRS Bank balances and cash 633,740 = 633,740
ERE S RF K Trade and other payables
H i FEATRR (275,895) = (275,895)
RBNEEZ2E4IE Amounts due to customers for
IR contract work (143,642) - (143,642)
FEFR IR Taxation payable (19,106) - (19,106)
RITREMIEE Bank and other borrowings (89,185) = (89,185)
BF#Bh& Government grants (11,220) = (11,220)
BEEBAAR Deferred tax liabilities (2,331) (82,088) (84,419)
883,352 246,262 1,129,614
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(%)
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36. ACQUISITION OF JOINTLY CONTROLLED

ENTITIES (Continued)

For the year ended 31st December, 2010 (Continued)
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(b) (#&) (b) (Continued)
FAET
HK$'000
R=ZZThFEMREINEERE Consideration transferred, satisfied by
[E] deposits paid in 2009 1,321,423
m: REERTZEHEBARN Plus: Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries
FEFERR held by Chongging Gas 53,547
B EWEREEE Less: Net assets acquired (1,129,614)
WEEARDE Goodwill arising on acquisition 245,356
I R HIE R E S & Analysis of net inflow of cash and cash
HeEERAFESN equivalents in respect of acquisition of
a jointly controlled entity:
SRS EIES Bank balances and cash acquired 633,740

KBBME=E-—FE+=A
=R W
5 B 0 38 BB T B X
5 5l 71,038,702,000/% T &
56,944,000/ 7T ©

REBEE_T—F+=A=+—
ALLEE  EEREKEEASE
RIEE DA o FHIFEMHIFEST ©

The acquiree contributed HK$1,038,702,000 to the Group’s
turnover and HK$56,944,000 to the Group’s profit for the
period between the date of acquisition and 31st December,
2010.

During the year ended 31st December, 2011, Chongqging
Gas has become an associate of the Group. Details are set
out in Note 37.
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(c) REBEZZT—ZTF+=-A=+—
BLEFE AEBEUBRESRE
A R #100,000,0007T (18 & 1
113,780,000/ 7T) [ % 3 5 =
FWE-ERERAEREREEE
HRBRAERAR ([BEEEBER
Rl HEHERELARERS
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For the year ended 31st December, 2011 HE-ZT——F+-_A=+—RHLFE

36. ACQUISITION OF JOINTLY CONTROLLED

ENTITIES (Continued)

For the year ended 31st December, 2010 (Continued)

(c) During the year ended 31st December, 2010, the Group

acquired 50% equity interest in the registered capital of &
Z=HMAAMR AR (“Yibin CR Gas”), a jointly controlled entity
which is engaged in sales of liquefied gas and connection

of gas pipelines, from an independent third party for a
cash consideration of RMB100,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$113,780,000). The transaction has been accounted for

using the acquisition method.

REBAELN
Wi BB
[BEiEr2 ]
Amounts
recognised
at the date of
acquisition
attributable
to the Group

FAT
HK$'000
AREBEFEEDWFEERIZFIEREA  Net identifiable assets of jointly controlled entity

AR EEFE - acquired attributable to the Group’s interest:
Wz BERZE Property, plant and equipment 124,722
N RlNGI = of e Interest in an associate 1,677
AIIEERE Available-for-sale investments 33
FE Inventories 11,702
FE U B 5 B 3k B B A R MR R Trade and other receivables 77,596
RITHEHRRIR Bank balances and cash 16,510
BN E SRR E AR R Trade and other payables (52,714)
FITREMEE Bank and other borrowings (56,868)
RIETRIEEE Deferred tax liabilities (2,821)
119,837
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36. WIsHEEFIER (&

BE-_Z-2F+-A=+t-HLFE
(%)

36. ACQUISITION OF JOINTLY CONTROLLED

ENTITIES (Continued)

For the year ended 31st December, 2010 (Continued)

(c) (#&) (c) (Continued)
EEPE(L
Wi B HI R
SRt o]
Amounts
recognised
at the date of
acquisition
attributable
to the Group
FAT
HK$'000
RSB EERE Consideration transferred, satisfied by cash 113,780
m:REREREERSEHBARN Plus: Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries held
JEPE R M by Yibin CR Gas 6,057
B BEEFEE Less: Net assets acquired (119,837)
WHEE £ 2 Goodwill arising on acquisition =
W L EEHIE MRS & Analysis of net outflow of cash and cash equivalents
BeEERLFEIN in respect of acquisition of a jointly controlled entity:
ENEERE Cash consideration paid (113,780)
FIBRITHEBRERE Bank balances and cash acquired 16,510
(97,270)

WHEARE—_T-TF+ /A=
THHEE RREHEAEE
MEZEBRENNER D R R
156,211,0007% 7T }212,135,000
BIT o

The acquiree contributed HK$156,211,000 to the Group’s
turnover and HK$12,135,000 to the Group’s profit for the
period between the date of acquisition and 31st December,

2010.
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REBEE-_Z—ZF+-_A=+
—ALEFE AEELR&R
£686,543,0007 7T [A1 %8 37 55 =
FWE -—HEEREHEERER
TEEBHMRE (REHERLER
FEBEBREBER) SMEXR
49%M IR AR - BER HIE
RUEE AN - RIEBE - 1R
BRI EEERRNAHLE
EFERETEEETNEER
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HE-_T——F+-_A=+—HILFE

During the year ended 31st December, 2010, the Group
acquired 49% equity interest in the registered capital of
Nanjing Jiangning CR Gas, a jointly controlled entity which
is engaged in sales of liquefied gas and connection of
gas pipelines, from an independent third party for a cash
consideration of HK$686,543,000. The transaction has
been accounted for using the acquisition method. At the
date of the acquisition, goodwill of HK$151,401,000 was
determined provisionally based on the net identifiable
assets of Nanjing Jiangning CR Gas. During the year ended
31st December, 2011, the identification and determination of
fair values of the net identifiable assets acquired have been
completed. The following adjustments have been made to
retrospectively adjust the provisional amounts recognised at
the date of acquisition.

AEBERREEE RS
SRR E A
AEAIEERE
W% - BB RRE
R AR
JE W B 5 Bk K%

HoAth FEUR
RITHEBRRES
N B ZEBRA K

H At FE 5K
EEHREE

AEEERL
W iE B B
ERREE
(HEEE)

Amounts R R U R
recognised ABRER
at the date ARE

of acquisition Fair values
attributable upon
to the Group ATEFE completion
(provisional Fair value of acquisition
basis) adjustments accounting
FET FHET FAET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(E51) (&%)
(Restated) (Restated)
Net identifiable assets of jointly
controlled entity acquired
attributable to the Group’s interest:
Property, plant and equipment 253,321 201,760 455,081
Taxation recoverable 37,140 - 37,140
Trade and other receivables
110,899 - 110,899
Bank balances and cash 154,187 - 154,187
Trade and other payables
(20,324) - (20,324)
Deferred tax liabilities - (50,440) (50,440)
535,223 151,320 686,543
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BE-Z-2F+-A=+t-HLFE
(%)

36. ACQUISITION OF JOINTLY CONTROLLED
ENTITIES (Continued)

For the year ended 31st December, 2010 (Continued)

(dy (#&) (d) (Continued)
FHT
HK$'000
PEERE Consideration transferred 686,543
W BEREEFAE Less: Net assets acquired (686,543)
WHEE £ R Goodwill arising on acquisition =
W LRI E AR & Analysis of net outflow of cash and cash equivalents
ReFERLFEIN in respect of acquisition of a jointly controlled entity:
B ReRE Cash consideration paid (686,543)
FISiRITRESBR KIS Bank balances and cash acquired 154,187
(532,356)

WEABME—_T—TF+=-_A=
+—BHM HRETEARE
EmEEE s FOER S5
/55,735,0007% 7T 527,000/
=c

The acquiree contributed HK$55,735,000 to the Group’s
turnover and HK$527,000 to the Group’s profit for the period
between the date of acquisition and 31st December, 2010.
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BE-_Z-—BE+-_A=1+—HLEE

(#)

(e) RBE-_Z—ZTHF+-_A=+
—HIEFE AEBEUBESK
8 AR#75,892,4407T (FHER
86,716,000/ 7T) MBI E =7
K- EREH EEBANILE
HHRRBRA R ([AITEBK
Rl REHERERARERE
REBEER) M ER50%H R
Aigam - BEAR S HRABEEAN

For the year ended 31st December, 2011 HE-_ZT——F+-_A=1+—RHLFE

36. ACQUISITION OF JOINTLY CONTROLLED

ENTITIES (Continued)

For the year ended 31st December, 2010 (Continued)

(e) During the year ended 31st December, 2010, the Group

acquired 50% equity interest in the registered capital of A
STERHMR AR A A (“Neijiang CR Gas”), a jointly controlled
entity which is engaged in sales of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines, from an independent third party
for a cash consideration of RMB75,892,440 (equivalent to
HK$86,716,000). The transaction has been accounted for

using the acquisition method.

BE o
AEBES
Wi B EI R
ERIALE
Amounts
recognised
at the date
of acquisition
attributable
to the Group
FHET
HK$'000
AEBRREECWELREHELEH  Net identifiable assets of jointly controlled entity

AR EEFE - acquired attributable to the Group’s interest:
ME - BERRE Property, plant and equipment 39,328
Ja TR A A Prepaid lease payments 12,774
B &R RS Interest in an associate 5,325
35 Inventories 2,976
FE U B 5 B 3k I B A PR MR R Trade and other receivables 9,134
RITHEBR MRS Bank balances and cash 47,487
N E SRR E AR Trade and other payables (12,774)
RITREMEE Bank and other borrowings (22,738)
81,512
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36. WIsREEFIER (& 36. ACQUISITION OF JOINTLY CONTROLLED
ENTITIES (Continued)
BE-Z-ZHF+-HA=+—HLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2010 (Continued)
(#)
(e) (#) (e) (Continued)
EEPE(L
Wi B HI R
ERALE
Amounts
recognised
at the date
of acquisition
attributable
to the Group
FAET
HK$'000
UREFNBERERE Consideration transferred, satisfied by cash 86,716
W BREFAE Less: Net assets acquired (81,512)
WHEE £ R E Goodwill arising on acquisition 5,204
W L EEHIE MRS & Analysis of net outflow of cash and cash equivalents
BeEERLFEON in respect of acquisition of a jointly controlled entity:
[EANE A Cash consideration paid (86,716)
FBRITHEBRERS Bank balances and cash acquired 47,487
(39,229)
WEHHRE—Z—TF+_-_A= The acquiree contributed HK$28,891,000 to the Group’s
+—BHIME  WRESHAEE turnover and HK$1,520,000 to the Group’s profit for the
WEEBELEMNOERD B A period between the date of acquisition and 31st December,
28,891,000/% st &1,520,000/% 2010.
=c
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BE-_E-EHE+-_FA=+—HILLFE

(%)

(H REBEEZZTE-—ZTF+=ZA=+
—HIEFE  BLUEBRR (B
7) AR A LA {E81,420,000
P8 T IR ZE R SR AR M B — R
RZEHIEERELERRTRES
BAR (RFHERERREK
BREBER) TMEAR49.9%
R AR o R T ARA MR I IE
B B A R S T '
BEE AR SERAREEA

For the year ended 31st December, 2011

ENTITIES (Continued)

HE-_T——F+-_A=+—HILFE

36. ACQUISITION OF JOINTLY CONTROLLED

For the year ended 31st December, 2010 (Continued)

(f) During the year ended 31st December, 2010, Kunshan

China Resources Gas (Hong Kong) Limited, a wholly-owned

subsidiary of the Group, acquired 49.9% equity interest in
the registered capital of EILFE B TARERAF], a jointly
controlled entity which is engaged in sales of liquefied gas
and connection of gas pipelines, from CR Gas Holdings for
a consideration of HK$81,420,000. The remaining equity

interests are not held by any entities under common control

of CRNC. The transaction has been accounted for using the

acquisition method.

BE o
REEEG
Wi B Em
ERALE
Amounts
recognised
at the date
of acquisition
attributable
to the Group
FAET
HK$'000
AEBEREED KRB LEEHELEL  Net identifiable assets of jointly controlled entity

AR E ERE ¢ acquired attributable to the Group’s interest:
LEN Property, plant and equipment 75,672
TERT AR IE Prepaid lease payments 3,006
RERIBAE Deferred tax assets 685
"wE Inventories 153
FEUL R 5 BR 3 % E Ath B UK Trade and other receivables 6,439
EREF A& HIERIE Amounts due from customers for contract work 6,145
BITHER LIRS Bank balances and cash 53,912
FETE 5 BR K 2 E A FE TR Trade and other payables (16,733)
ERNEPZEHIIRRIE Amounts due to customers for contract work (27,809)
FETFRIE Taxation payable (441)
ERRERWE A EE Amount due to a fellow subsidiary (119)
100,910
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36. Wi EEFIER (&

BE-Z-2F+-A=+t-HLFE
(%)

36. ACQUISITION OF JOINTLY CONTROLLED

ENTITIES (Continued)

For the year ended 31st December, 2010 (Continued)

" &) (f)  (Continued)
EEPEL
Wi B H R
ERAeE
Amounts
recognised
at the date
of acquisition
attributable
to the Group
FAT
HK$’000
BEERE (FFE40(a)) Consideration transferred (Note 40(a)) 81,420
W BEREFAE Less: Net assets acquired (100,910)
W E T iR Discount arising on acquisition (19,490)
W LRI E MRS & Analysis of net inflow of cash and cash equivalents
BEEERAFEON in respect of acquisition of a jointly controlled entity:
FriSRITREM RIS Bank balances and cash acquired 53,912

WK e R — R R E L
AEHM—IAEEEE - Bt
ZITEIIIRAEEH A RE R
IRAPHER o

WHEAME—_T-—TF+_A=
T—HLEHRE - mKETEARE
BEXB LS NOEBD R R
81,405,000/ 7T %10,146,000
BT °

The discount on acquisition arose from a bargain purchase

from a fellow subsidiary, accordingly, the discount was

accounted for as a deemed capital contribution and

recognised in equity.

The acquiree contributed HK$81,405,000 to the Group’s
turnover and HK$10,146,000 to the Group’s profit for the
period between the date of acquisition and 31st December,

2010.
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HE-_ZT——F+-_A=Z+—HILFE

(g) During the year ended 31st December, 2010, Suining China

Resources Gas (Hong Kong) Limited, a wholly-owned

subsidiary of the Group, acquired 49.9% equity interest
in the registered capital of M)l ZEEEBRRBLHBER L
Al (“Suining CR Gas”), a jointly controlled entity which is

engaged in sales of liquefied gas and connection of gas

pipelines, from CR Gas Holdings for a consideration of

HK$197,399,000. The remaining equity interests are not

held by any entities under common control of CRNC. The

transaction has been accounted for using the acquisition

method.

Net identifiable assets of jointly controlled entity

acquired attributable to the Group’s interest:
Property, plant and equipment

Prepaid lease payments

Operating rights

Interest in an associate

Deferred tax assets

Inventories

Trade and other receivables

Amounts due from a fellow subsidiary

Bank balances and cash

Trade and other payables

Amounts due to customers for contract work
Taxation payable

Bank and other borrowings

AEEERL
Wi B
CRRSHE
Amounts
recognised
at the date
of acquisition
attributable
to the Group
FET
HK$’000

62,535
9,294
22,387
4,301
3,305
10,966
16,618
89
125,275
(39,313)
(22,030)
(1,179)
(1,316)

190,932
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(&)

EEENE (MfzX40(a))
m: REEEHREFEN

BB A Rl FEIE Bl e
o BB EE

Y 2 A ey g 2

WEARZEHERNRS R
AL EERANFEIN
S IRTTEHR RS

WEAME—ZE-2F+-A=
T—HHRH . REETHASE
B R RS e BB B A
154,777,000/ 7T 220,583,000
BT °

BN HERA BIEEHEE -
WEARZEHRESELRE -
AN XA HKEERBE
B AR R E A et - AR
K RRTIHER RAFERIE AP
BRENLEBNNEHE - ZEHE
TERNHEEBER  ARED
56 7 38 5l T & B ) TR R AR

B EZSWEELNEES
FE B U B B MR -

HE-_ZT——F+-_A=+—HILFE

(Continued)

AEE L
Wi B H
CoRZALHE
Amounts
recognised

at the date

of acquisition
attributable
to the Group

FHET

HK$'000

Consideration transferred (Note 40(a)) 197,399

Plus: Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries held

by Suining CR Gas 2,859

Less: Net assets acquired (190,932)

Goodwill arising on acquisition 9,326
Analysis of net inflow of cash and cash equivalents
in respect of acquisition of a jointly controlled entity:

Bank balances and cash acquired 125,275

The acquiree contributed HK$154,777,000 to the Group’s
turnover and HK$20,583,000 to the Group’s profit for the
period between the date of acquisition and 31st December,
2010.

Goodwill arose in the acquisition of jointly controlled
entities because the costs of the combinations included a
control premium. In addition, the consideration paid for the
combinations effectively included amounts in relation to
the benefit of expected synergies, revenue growth, future
market development and the assembled workforce of the
acquirees. These benefits are not recognised separately
from goodwill because they do not meet the recognition
criteria for identifiable intangible assets.

None of the goodwill arising on these acquisitions is
expected to be deductible for tax purposes.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2011

HE-_T——F+-_A=+—HILFE

For the purpose of the preparation for future initial public offering
in the PRC, the shareholders of Chongqging Gas passed a
resolution to amend its memorandum of association in February
2011 in which, among others, the terms requiring unanimous
consent of the Group and the other joint venturer on all of
strategic financial and operating decisions of Chongqging Gas
has been removed. Accordingly, the Group no longer has joint
control but retains significant influence over Chongging Gas. The
net assets of Chongging Gas attributable to the Group’s interest
of 25% at the date of loss of joint control were as follows:

An analysis of assets and liabilities of

Chongging Gas that were previously
proportionately consolidated in the Group’s
financial statements are as follows:
Property, plant and equipment
Prepaid lease payments
Available-for-sale investments
Deferred tax assets

Goodwill

Inventories

Trade and other receivables

Bank balances and cash

Trade and other payables

Taxation payable

Bank and other borrowings
Government grants

Deferred tax liabilities

Result on loss of joint control over a jointly

controlled entity:

Fair value of retained interest in an associate
(included in interests in associates)

Net assets previously proportionately
consolidated

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries held by
Chongging Gas

Net cash outflow arising from loss of joint control:

Bank balances and cash previously
proportionately consolidated

TET
HK$’000

937,737
98,453
21,288

5,583
253,874
19,929
149,620
530,484

(324,710)

(9,199)
(94,847)
(21,113)
(84,578)

1,482,521

1,427,869
(1,482,521)

54,652

(530,484)
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38. WEMEY 38.
AEEERRRA

RIEHR  AEEE ALY
AL ZSFRENRRKEHAS
T

OPERATING LEASES

The Group as lessee

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments
for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases which fall due as follows:

—E——F —E—TF

+=A=+—-8B +ZA=+—H

31.12.2011 31.12.2010

FHT FAET

HK$’000 HK$’000

(&71)

(Restated)

—FR Within one year 10,137 22,475
FEERF In the second to

(BREEEMFEAN) fifth year inclusive 13,750 35,314

hE% After five years 17,208 6,457

41,095 64,246

SEBONRDEEEEERAER
BENENENES - BOHEER
EEReFHA—E+EM (-2
TE:—EHEH) -

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the
Group for office and factory premises. Leases are negotiated and
rentals are fixed for term ranging from one to ten years (2010:
one to ten years).
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38. KEMN (& 38.
AEEERHAA

RI|ERR - REBEARART L
AR ETEY - BRAASSH
SEESOIMBLMT

OPERATING LEASES (Continued)

The Group as lessor

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted with
lessees for the following future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows:

—E——F —E—TF

+=A=+—-8B +ZA=+—H

31.12.2011 31.12.2010

FHT FAET

HK$’000 HK$’000

—ER Within one year 5,163 3,987
F_FFERF In the second to

(BEEEMFEA) fifth year inclusive 6,276 2,767

Fal:=t After five years 1,886 446

13,325 7,200

FRERHARANERAPTT —
EtoGH(CB-BF: —Et=
) ML - G DLEERL
REMRARS Y -

The investment properties rented during the year have committed
tenants for term ranging from one to twelve years (2010: one to
twelve years). No contingent rent was arranged for the above
operating lease arrangements.
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39. EAAEYE 39. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
—E——F —E—TF
+=ZH=+—-8B +=ZA=+—8H
31.12.2011 31.12.2010
FExT FAET
HK$°000 HK$'000
(&%)
(Restated)
BEDITAERBENYE - Capital expenditure in respect of acquisition of
BB R, TENEERE property, plant and equipment/prepaid lease
ME RS payments contracted but not provided for 166,256 202,561
BT ERBENREN Capital expenditure in respect of investments
BEMT (M) contracted but not provided for (Note) 5,602,436 -
BEECERENERFAE Capital expenditure in respect of acquisition of
operating right 24,670 =
5,793,362 202,561
BEOREERITANYE - Capital expenditure in respect of acquisition of
R NEE FENEERIE property, plant and equipment/prepaid lease
HE AR payments authorised but not contracted for 303,863 18,518

BifeE AR SR E = R A TR A
EFRERZETRPIGERRK - A
% #8 88 135,583,563,0007% 7T ©
BT #5£418,873,000 TLIHH A%
BT HIEAREITHRBINE RN

Hep o AEE S ERRZESERE

the Group.

Note: The Group entered into several agreements with independent
third parties to establish certain sino-foreign joint venture
enterprises in the PRC with the aggregate capital commitment
of HK$5,583,563,000. The remaining balance of HK$18,873,000
represents additional capital contributions to certain subsidiaries of

H & Included in the above, the Group’s share of the capital

AEENT - commitments of the jointly controlled entities are as follows:

—ZE——F —T-TF

+=ZA=+—-H +=—A=+—8H

31.12.2011 31.12.2010

FHET FHET

HK$’000 HK$’000
BEDINEARBRENYE - Capital expenditure in respect of acquisition of
WERHRE  FANBEERE property, plant and equipment/prepaid lease

ME R payments contracted but not provided for 67,385 98,925
BECHMAEERITANYE - Capital expenditure in respect of acquisition of
BB R&E AN EERE property, plant and equipment/prepaid lease

BB R payments authorised but not contracted for 70,173 =
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2011 HE-_T——F+-_A=+—HILFE

(a) During the year ended 31st December, 2010, the Mega Fair
Group acquired two jointly controlled entities from a fellow
subsidiary for total consideration of HK$278,819,000. As
a result of these transactions, the amount due to a fellow
subsidiary was increased by HK$278,819,000.

(b) During the year ended 31st December, 2010, the Group
acquired 100% equity interest in Mega Fair from Powerfaith
for a consideration of HK$2,221,155,000 which was settled
by allotment and issue of 186,654,223 shares.

(c) During the year ended 31st December, 2011, the Group
acquired 100% equity interest in Wang Gao from Powerfaith
for a consideration of HK$1,930,874,000 which was settled
by allotment and issue of 161,174,785 shares.

As at 31st December, 2010, the Group’s jointly controlled entity
had given guarantees amounting to HK$188,029,000 (2011: nil).
The Group effectively shared 36% equity interests in that jointly
controlled entity using proportionate consolidation, accordingly,
the Group effectively shared 36% of contingent liabilities of
HK$67,690,000 (2011: nil). The fair value of the guarantees as
at 31st December, 2010 was not significant as it was remote for
the default payment by state controlled entity and therefore no
amount had been recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position as liabilities.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2011

42.

43.

EERH

R-ZT——F+-A=+—H A&
EEEB T EEERRITEERE
NP —RAREEENENE FER
KRR -

HE-_ZT——F+-_A=+—HILFE

42. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At 31st December, 2011, the Group pledged the following assets
as securities for bank borrowings and trade payables to suppliers
of natural gas as follows:

—E——F —TEF

2011 2010

FHET FHT

HK$°000 HK$'000

(&%)

(Restated)

M - BE REE Property, plant and equipment 203,976 1,470
EUE 5 R Trade receivables 9,346 412
BEFRITIER Pledged bank deposits 17,891 14,875
231,213 16,757

REALRS
EREALHRS

B B B 7% SR AR R BT RE P L B
ALR G REBRFREEEA
THEITTIRS

43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions with related parties

In addition to the related party transactions set out in the
respective notes to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group entered into the following transactions with related parties
during the year:

—E2——F —E-TF
2011 2010
T F&T
HK$°000 HK$'000
(EZ%))
(Restated)
SNy NCIE S Purchase from fellow subsidiaries 9,656 -
SHE TRRWB AR Sales to fellow subsidiaries 365 2,039
B —REREME A AN Interest expenses paid to
FERE a fellow subsidiary — 24 441
Eff—MRZH B AR Rental expenses paid to
FizkEali fellow subsidiaries 568 392
EBEITHRAX T —RHRER Reimbursement of administration expenses
{opEEING from a fellow subsidiary 33,222 33,033
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For the year ended 31st December, 2011

43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Transactions/balances with other state-controlled entities

The Group itself is part of a larger group of companies under
CRNC which is controlled by the government of the PRC and
the Group operates in an economic environment currently
predominated by entities controlled, jointly controlled or
significantly influenced by the PRC government.

Apart from the transactions with the parent company and its
subsidiaries which have been disclosed in other notes to the
consolidated financial statements, the Group also conducts
businesses with entities directly or indirectly controlled, jointly
controlled or significantly influenced by the PRC government in
the ordinary course of business, including majority of its bank
deposits and the corresponding interest income, certain bank
and other borrowings and the corresponding finance costs, large
portion of purchases and part of sales of gas.

AEEFTEEEAEME Compensation of key management personnel of the Group
e =
2011 2010
FExT FExT
HK$’000 HK$'000
%2 BRI Short-term benefits 55,203 12,125
BIREREF Post-employment benefits 577 317
55,780 12,442

44. FEHRRSBE
R-ZTE——F—AFhB REAFMRK
REANAE LBRB—BFIIRZE -
b 38 B0 N R S FL B 1l 30 88 EHAR
WAz B o BBEHAR £ T fz
RZTB——F-A+BEER -

44. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 9th January, 2012, a special resolution has been passed at
the extraordinary general meeting of the Company to approve the
proposed privatisation and withdrawal of the listing of H shares
of Zhengzhou Gas. The withdrawal of the listing of H shares was
effective from 14th February, 2012.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2011

45. TEMBEATER

NEEB
Name of company

EMARL,

R L1t 2

Place of
incorporation/
establishment

HE-_ZT——F+-_A=+—HILFE

45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

BRI

Br/

AR A

Issued and fully
paid share/
registered capital

rRERERE
Attributable equity
interest of the Group
—E-—f —T-IZF

TEXEH
Principal activities

2011 2010
% %
EHRRARAA REELEE T@RAET 100 100 REER
China Resources Gas British Virgin Ordinary US$4 Investment holding
Limited Islands
MRERARERRA)N H AR#50,000,0007T 80.4 80.4 HEBRLR
PRC RMB50,000,000 Sales of liquefied
gas
FENERRRERAR) H 15,000,000 7T 70 70 HERILRE
PRC UsD15,000,000 ERBREE
Sales of liquefied
gas and connection
of gas pipelines
EGEERRERAR? H 16,000,000% 7T 50 50 HERILRANM
PRC USD16,000,000 BEBREE
Sales of liquefied
gas and connection
of gas pipelines
EEBRRERA RS HE 4,000,000% 7T 100 100 HERILAR
PRC USD4,000,000 ER@REE

Sales of liquefied
gas and connection
of gas pipelines



45. TEMBRREHR (&)

45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

For the year ended 31st December, 2011 Hz-_%——

F+oASt+—HLEE

(Continued)
BETR
KL, B/
Rt 2 EfRA
Place of Issued and fully REEEMLRE
DNEER incorporation/ paid share/  Attributable equity TEER
Name of company establishment registered capital interest of the Group Principal activities
—E-——F —ZT-ZF
2011 2010
% %
EILEHRRBRAR & 11,000,000% T 54 54 HERILRR
PRC USD11,000,000 EXBREE
Sales of liquefied
gas and connection
of gas pipelines
REAEBARERRA)N H A #44,000,0007T 75 75 HERILRK
PRC RMB44,000,000 EXBREE
Sales of liquefied
gas and connection
of gas pipelines
BREFRABRAR f AR #50,000,0007C 75 75 HERILAR
PRC RMB50,000,000 ERBRES
Sales of liquefied
gas and connection
of gas pipelines
EREBRRBRAR e AR 70,000,0007T 71.43 71.43 HERILRR
PRC RMB70,000,000 EEBRES

Sales of liquefied
gas and connection
of gas pipelines
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45. TEMBLAREHR (&)

GRS
Name of company

AR,

FR L1t 2

Place of
incorporation/
establishment

HE-_ZT——F+-_A=+—HILFE

(Continued)
BETR

Br/

MR

Issued and fully
paid share/
registered capital

FEERERE
Attributable equity
interest of the Group

45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

TEER

Principal activities

8- -T-TF
2011 2010
% %
HREBRRER AR i AK#10,000,0007T 100 100 HERILRR
PRC RMB10,000,000 ERBRES
Sales of liquefied
gas and connection
of gas pipelines
EIEERRERATS i AK10,000,0007T 100 100 HERILRR
PRC RMB10,000,000 EXBREE
Sales of liquefied
gas and connection
of gas pipelines
REZEBRRERAA i AK51,300,0007T 51 51 HERILRR
PRC RMB51,300,000 EXBREE
Sales of liquefied
gas and connection
of gas pipelines
REREERRARAA H 7,788,900% T 100 100 HERIERR
PRC US$7,788,900 ERBREE
Sales of liquefied
gas and connection
of gas pipelines
fTBEERRERAA H AE#29,890,6007T 51 51 HERILRR
PRC RMB29,890,600 EEBRES

212

Sales of liquefied
gas and connection
of gas pipelines
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AEER
Name of company

AR,
FRAL i B

Place of
incorporation/
establishment

For the year ended 31st December, 2011

HE-_T——F+-_A=+—HILFE

45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)
EBRTR

#e/

L AR A

Issued and fully
paid share/
registered capital

FEBELRE
Attributable equity
interest of the Group

TEEH
Principal activities

—®--F —T-TF
2011 2010
% %
e M ZE IR R AR A A H AR #:80,000,0007T 70 70 HERILRK
PRC RMB80,000,000 ERBREE
Sales of liquefied
gas and connection
of gas pipelines
AREBRRERAA i AE#5,000,0007T 100 100 SHERILRR
PRC RMB5,000,000 BEEBREE
Sales of liquefied
gas and connection
of gas pipelines
BRMNEEBRR # AR #50,000,0007T 100 100 HERILRK
BRAR PRC RMB50,000,000 ERaREE
Sales of liquefied
gas and connection
of gas pipelines
BN ZE IR A0 A AR¥125,150,0007C 56.87 47.12 HWERAREN
BRAFS PRC RMB125,150,000 IR ER
rERREE

Sales of natural
gas pressure control
equipment and gas
appliances and
construction of gas
pipelines
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2011

BE-Z——F+-A=1t—RLFE

1 REAREFEUAFINGEDLE
M AEFE -

2 HRAEEAIRA50%HESA
I &N DI NG
Fii A SR BS M B 7 B AR R AT
PRI - At - ZARWRAR
EENHBAR -

3 EZERRETBEUINEBEERE
%%Tﬁ&°

4 AKEBEEBEEKHBARS4%E
I AR P& AR B8 175 2% 0 1657.11%4
F o

5 ZARBRTBKIMNERGER
AR HHRRZ=ZZ—=—F—H
T HEAEERA BT (R
44) -

REBMRRERABDHARBFERE
BN PRAEM R ENRBARY
BHARBRERSA - L EBHEEMAK
3 PRSI Bh S R o

RZE——F+-A=+—H=FRA
EAIESRE - %08 QBB EE R R E
BIEF -

RAEERR  EXRMIINALHE
MEBARSAEENEEREESRR
BEEEATE - $”ﬂ§$ﬂ%'ﬁ
FIEMME A RN FER S AREE
RIT -

1 These companies were established in the PRC in the form
of sino-foreign equity joint venture enterprise.

2 The Group is also to exercise control over all of the
strategic financial and operating decisions of the subsidiary
as the Group is able to nominate over 50% of the board
of directors. Accordingly, the company is regarded as a
subsidiary of the Group.

8 These companies were established in the PRC in the form
of wholly foreign-owned enterprise.

4 These Group holds 54% equity interest in the subsidiary
and shares profit at 57.11% according to the shareholders’
agreement.

5 The company was established in the PRC as a joint stock
limited company and its H shares were listed on the Stock
Exchange until 14th February, 2012 (Note 44).

Except for China Resources Gas Limited which is directly held by
the Company, all other above principal subsidiaries are indirectly
held by the Company and are operating principally in their place
of incorporation/establishment.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at
31st December, 2011 or at any time during the year.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the
results or assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of
other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of the
Company, result in particulars of excessive length.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2011

HE-_T——F+-_A=+—HILFE

46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL ASSOCIATES

HERHER HWELT
FENRSER
Equity interest AEEEERE
B AN held by the Attributable
ARER Place of Registered jointly controlled interest equity TEEH
Name of company establishment capital entities/subsidiary of the Group Principal activities
“B-—-f “Z-TF ZB--F _“T-TF
2011 2010 2011 2010
% %
IR AR F AE%10,000,0007C 49 49 17.64 17.64 HERILR
BREEAR PRC RMB 10,000,000 Sales of liquefied gas
KBRMAAR el AR 3,000,0007C 49 49 1764 1764  HERILE
BREFEAR PRC RMB3,000,000 Sales of liquefied gas
R ERBRR Ll AR #10,000,0007C 45 45 16.2 162  HERARR
BREERRA PRC RMB10,000,000 EREREE
Sales of natural gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
HIRRBEXRAR i AR16,500,0007C 25 25 11.25 1125 HERISR
ARAF PRC RMB 16,500,000 Sale of liquefied gas
FIRILIMR HE AR #95,590,0007T 27 27 15.16 1516 HERAR &l
BREEAR PRC RMB95,590,000 AHARRRER
REMRRES
Sale of natural
gas, LPG and gas
appliances and
construction gas
pipelines
EERASERNER HE AR#1,216,116,0827C 25 - 25 - HERLER
AR (AEEEME  PRC RMB1,216,116,082 (RMzE37) EBBRER
(£8) BBREERARA) (see Sale of liquefied gas
(formerly known as Note 37) and connection of
EEMR (5B) gas pipelines
BREMERA)

ARREERR  ERMIINAEH
BENREAEENEELEERR
BEEATE - ARBEERA 8
FIEMEE R RN FERSABRER

RITK e

The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected
the results or assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details
of other associates would, in the opinion of the directors of the

Company, result in particulars of excessive length.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2011

47. FEHGEEHERER 47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINTLY

CONTROLLED ENTITIES

216

AEER
Name of company

R 3L it 26
Place of
establishment

AR AR AR
Registered capital

rEBEEGRE
Attributable equity
interest of the Group
8- -T-TF

TEXEH
Principal activities

2011 2010
% %
REATRREREERR  FE AR #800,000,0007C 36 36 HERIERK
PRC RMB800,000,000 EREREE
Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
EHERRRERDR R 29,980,000% 7T 50 50 HERIERK
PRC USD29,980,000 ERHRESR
Sales of liquefied
gas and connection
of gas pipelines
BMNERRBREERLR  HE ARM117,939,5007T 40 40 HERILERR
PRC RMB117,939,500 ERBREE
Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
FITEERRERAR H AK#150,000,0007T 51 51 HERIERK
PRC RMB150,000,000 EXaREE
Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
HEERRRERAR H AR #186,000,0007T 46 46 HERIERAK
PRC RMB186,000,000 BEBRREE
Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
EFEBRRARAR HE AR#1,000,000,0007C 49 49 EERILR R
PRC RMB1,000,000,000 EXBREE

Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
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NE AR
Name of company

47. T EHEFEFERER

BRIt B
Place of
establishment

For the year ended 31st December, 2011 Hz-_%——

FroA=T—HILFE

47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINTLY
CONTROLLED ENTITIES (Continued)

EEaltlEN
Registered capital

FEBELRE
Attributable equity
interest of the Group

TEER

Principal activities

—E-—% —T-ZF
2011 2010
% %
EEEERRERAA HE AR #286,582,8587T 51 51 HERILER
PRC RMB286,582,858 EBRREE
Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
EEMAEERNBRAR  FH AR#1,216,116,0827C - 25 HERILRK
(FIBEEMRR (£8) PRC RMB1,216,116,082 (R HKi*37) EREREE
BEREFERF]) (see Sale of liquefied gas
(formerly known as Note 37) and connection of
EEMRR (58 AR gas pipelines
BEDT)
BEEEERRERAA HE AR #200,000,0007T 50 50 HERERR
PRC RMB200,000,000 EXBREE
Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
MRIZEEEMREERAR  HE AR#951,000,0007T 70 49 HERIERER
PRC RMB951,000,000 BEEBRES
Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
NIEBRRBRAF i AR #126,487,4007T 50 50 HERILAR
PRC RMB126,487,400 BEEBRES

Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines

217




218

For the year ended 31st December, 2011

47. TEHEZEFEREHR

HE-_ZT——F+-_A=+—HILFE

47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINTLY

(#&) CONTROLLED ENTITIES (Continued)
RS B FEBELRE
DRAB Place of ETES Attributable equity TEEH
Name of company establishment Registered capital interest of the Group Principal activities
—E-—% —T-ZF
2011 2010
% %
BILEBS AR HE AR %148,000,0007T 49.9 49.9 HERILER
BRAT PRC RMB148,000,000 EBuREE
Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
)| EBEBRRRN H AR#122,423,3727T 50 50 HERIERR
BRAF PRC RMB122,423,372 REBREE
Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
FILRRARRERAR i AR #123,333,3007T 40 - HERERR
PRC RMB123,333,300 EEBREE

BRI A RIS R EREIDH
EREERALEBRHEN-BREAE &
AR R H % E QR AT R AR
o WU REDRRE R LB

KRG EEE

ARBEZERR  ERATINASE
EHRENERHARBEFANER
FEAFEIBERAEEEEFEE
Ry - RRAREER R #IIEAM
ARZEHEBOFBHSARET BN

T e

Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines

The Group is able to exercise joint control over these companies

as all of the strategic financial and operating decisions require
unanimous consent of the Group and the joint venturers.
Accordingly, these companies are regarded as jointly controlled
entities of the Group.

The above table lists the jointly controlled entities of the Group

which, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally
affected the results of the year or form a substantial portion of the
net assets of the Group. To give details of other jointly controlled
entities would, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,

result in particulars of excessive length.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2011 HE-_ZT——F+-_A=1+—RHLFE

47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINTLY

(#&) CONTROLLED ENTITIES (Continued)
AEBEEHEBRZESEREERNTE The summarised financial information in respect of the interests
BREERWOT in jointly controlled entities attributable to the Group is set out

below:

=2——F —T%F
2011 2010
FExT FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
MENEE Current assets 3,187,449 3,309,437
EMBEE Non-current assets 4,019,848 4,924,931
mENAaE Current liabilities 3,072,968 3,824,893
FRBEE Non-current liabilities 186,288 564 576
RIBEERHUA Income recognised in profit or loss 4,947,589 4,696,329
RIBEERNH X Expenses recognised in profit or loss 4,282,173 4,142,580
HEmzmiA Other comprehensive income 275,471 57,000
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Financial Summary

EES TURNOVER

ERER PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

L ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
ARAFBA OWNERS OF THE COMPANY
FERER NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

BEHE TOTAL ASSETS

SR4EE TOTAL LIABILITIES

RA#E TOTAL EQUITY

NG 7= EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO
PG R A OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

ITHHEAE SHARE OPTION RESERVE OF
BRERE A LISTED SUBSIDIARY

FERER NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

RAHE TOTAL EQUITY

BE_ZZNFR_T-FTF+_HA=+—
HIE™ Iifﬂ’ﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁﬂaéﬁ‘wﬁﬂ%%%m
aEquEﬂi"AﬁE%E’U@'EﬂE%I%S%fﬁ
BEHaptzattEEl FE - BEC
fftﬁ&f77)\¢+ A=t+—H1Lm™
BEFENPBHERLRIERBE

HE+-A=+—HLEE
Year ended 31st December

“TEEF ZTT)N\F —STNF —T-TF —E—-F
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
TR FET FET TET THERT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
(E7) (&31)
(Restated) (Restated)

6,251,087 3,505,535 4,824,772 9,331,482 13,506,632
480,655 354,024 609,406 1,038,184 1,596,408
402,079 383,659 496,998 786,676 1,200,473

78,576 (29,635) 112,408 251,508 395,935
480,655 354,024 609,406 1,038,184 1,596,408
+-A=t+-AH
31st December
—ZTLE —TT)N\F —STNEF —T-TF —E-—-F
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
THL FET FET TEL THET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
(E5) (&31)
(Restated) (Restated)
10,556,557 4,827,613 12,055,906 20,779,123 25,405,628

(6,196,899) (2,078,354) (8596,823)  (12,795211)  (14,787,081)

4,359,658 2,749,259 3,459,083 7,983,912 10,618,547
3,613,734 2,373,329 2,492,165 5,831,537 8,102,453
10,840 - - - -
735,084 375,930 966,918 2,152,375 2,516,004
4,359,658 2,749,259 3,459,083 7,983,912 10,618,547

The financial information for the two years ended 31st December,
2009 and 2010 has been restated to reflect the effect of application of
Accounting Guideline 5 “Merger Accounting under Common Control
Combination” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The financial information for the two years ended 31st
December, 2007 and 2008 has not been adjusted.
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China Resources Gas Group Limited

EBEITEEE265  Room 1901-05, China Resources Building,
#FFAE1901-05F 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

%4 Telephone : 2593 7388

fEE Facsimile . 2598 8228

434F Website : www.crgas.com.hk

B Email . investor-relations@crgas.com.hk
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